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STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEAL TH SER VICES

29 HAZEN DRIVE, CONCORD, NH 03301
603-271-4501 1-800-852-3345 Ext. 4501

Fax:603-271-4827 TDD Access: 1-800-735-2964 www.dhhs.nh.gov

June 10, 2024

33
JON 2 6 2021

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Public Health
Services, to enter into a Sole Source amendment to an existing contract with Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (collectively doing
business as "Dartmouth-Hitchcock") (VC#177160), Lebanon, NH to expand the scope of services
to support the Department's Maternal Mortality Review Committee and continue participation in
the Alliance on Innovation in Maternal Health, by increasing the price limitation by $269,007 from
$759,782 to $1,028,789 with no change to the contract completion date of June 30, 2025, effective
upon Governor and Council approval. 100% Federal Funds.

The original contract was approved by Governor and Council on June 10, 2020, item #12.
amended on June 16, 2021, item #34, amendment on March 9, 2022, item #17, and most
recently amended on May 31, 2023, item #28.

Funds are available in the following accounts for State Fiscal Years 2024 and 2025, with
the authority to adjust budget line items within the price limitation and encumbrances between
state fiscal years through the Budget Office, if needed and justified.

See attached fiscal details.

EXPLANATION

This request Is Sole Source because MOP 150 requires all amendments to agreements
previously approved as sole source to be identified as sole source. The Contractor's New England
Perinatal Quality Improvement Network is identified in RSA 132:29-31 as the Department's
designated partner in the Maternal Mortality Review Committee and Alliance on innovation in
Maternal Health and Child Health grants.

The purpose of this request is to modify the scope of services to support the Maternal
Mortality Review Committee and Alliance on Innovation in Maternal Health. The Contractor will
facilitate family interviews to inform case reviews, increase the participation of subject matter
experts (including maternal health psychologists), and distribute Committee recommendations to
organizations supporting those with lived experience, including substance use disorders and
perinatal mental health conditions. The Contractor will also expand its collaboration with the
Alliance on Innovation in Maternal Health by implementing evidence-based patient safety
bundles, which is a structured way to improve the quality of healthcare provided to pregnant
woman impacted by opioid use and other substances.
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The Department will monitor services by;

•  Reviewing_Maternal._Mortality~Review_-Committee-recommendations,_and_.their_
distribution to organizations serving populations of women who are overly represented
in the mortality cases. .

•  Ensuring the integration of family interviews into case material as appropriate and
through presentation of cases by abstractors.

•  Ensuring the appropriate number of subject matter experts are added onto the
Maternal Mortality Review Committee.

Should the Governor and Council not authorize this request, the Department will be unable
to implement additional activities intended to reduce maternal mortality and morbidity in the state.

Area served: Statewide.

Source of Federal Funds: Assistance Listing Number (ALN) 93.478, FAIN NU58DP00693,
and ALN 93.110, FAIN A3049997.

In the event that the Federal Funds become no longer available, General Funds will not
be requested to support this program.

Respectfully submitted,

Lori A. Weaver

Commissioner

The Department of Health and Human Seruices' Mission is to join communities and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence.



FISCAL DETAIL SHEET

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hosptlal • Maternal Mortality

AMENDMENT 04 SFY 24 and 25

05-95-90-902010-34870000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, OEPT OF HEALTH

AND HUMAN SVS, HKS: PUBLIC HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF FAMILY HEALTH AND NUTRITION.

MATERNAL MORTALITY

FUNDER: DHHS, CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION

CFDA0: 93.478 FAIN 0: NU58DP006693

100% FEDERAL FUNDS

Fiscal

Year

Class /

Account Class Title Job Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increase

(Decrease)

Amount

Revised Modified

Budget

2020 102-500731

Contracts for

Prog Serv 90080478 $68,278 $0 $68,278

2021 102-500731

Contracts for

Prog Serv 90060478 $68,278 $0 $68,278

2022 102-500731

Contracts for

Prog Serv 90080478 $68,278 SO $68,278

2023 102-500731

Contracts for

Prog Serv 90080476 $68,278 so $68,278

2024 102-500731

Contracts for

Prog Serv 90080478 $66,278 $25,014 S91.292

2025 102-500731

Contracts for

Prog Sen/ 90060478 $68,278 $110,473 $178,751

SUBTOTAL S407.668 S135.487 $543,155

05-95-902010-45260000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, OEPT OF HEALTH

AND HUMAN SVS, HHS; PUBLIC HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF FAMILY HEALTH AND NUTRITION,

MCH DATA LINKAGE

FUNDER: DHHS, HEALTH RESOURCES AND SERVICES ADMINISTRATION

CFOA0: 93.11OFAIN0: H18MC00033

100% FEDERAL FUNDS

' Fiscal

Year

Class /

Account Class Title Job Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increase

(Decrease)

Amount

Revised Modified

Budget

2022 074-500589

Grants for Pub

Assl and Re! 90080125 $52,114 $0 $52,114

2023 074-500589

Grants for Pub

Asst and Rel 90080125 SO SO so

2024 074-500589

Grants for Pub

Asst and Rel 90060125 SO $0 $0

2025 074-500589

Grants for Pub

Asst and Rel 90080125 $0 so so

SUBTOTAL $52,114 $0 $52,114

05-9S-90-902010-51900000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND

HUMAN SVS, HHS; PUBLIC HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF FAMILY HEALTH AND NUTRITION,

MATERNAL • CHILD HEALTH

FUNDER DHHS, HEALTH RESOURCES AND SERVICES ADMINISTRATION

CFDA0 93.991 FAIN0: B04MC45230 and B04MC47432

100% Federal Funds

Fiscal

Year

Class/ .

Account Class Title Job Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increase

(Decrease)

Amount

Revised Modified

Budget

2023 074-500589

Grants for Pub

Assl and Rel 90004009 $100,000 SO $100,000

2024 074-500589

Grants for Pub

Asst and Rel 90004009 $100,000 $0 $100,000

2025 074-500589 Asst and Rel 90004009 $100,000 SO $100,000

SUBTOTAL $300,000 $0 $300,000

OS-95-90-902010-40630000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEATLH

AND HUMAN SVS, HHS; PUBLIC HEATLH DIV, BUREAU OF FAMILY HEALTH AND NUTRITION

ALLNCEINNOV MAT HLTH-AJM

FUNDER: DHHS, HEALTH RESOURCES AND SERVICES ADMINISTRATION

CFDA0: 93.11OFAIN0: A3049997

100% FEDERAL FUNDS

' Current Increase

Fiscal Class / Modified (Decrease) Revised Modified

Year Account Class Title Job Number Budget Amount Budget
Contracts for

Program
2024 102-500731 Services 90080121 $0 $22,252 $22,252

2025 102-500731 Program 90080121 $0 $111,268 $111,268

SUBTOTAL: $0 $133,520 $133,520

TOTAL: $759,782 $269,007 $1,028,789
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State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Amendment #4

This Amendment to the Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Elimiriate Maternal Mortality contract is
.-by--and-between-the-State-of New Hampshire,-Department-of-Health-and-Human.Services-("State" or>-
"Department") and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock
Clinic (collectively doing business as "Dartmouth-Hitchcock") ("the Contractor").

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council
on June 10, 2020 (Item #12), as amended on June 16, 2021 (Item #34), March 9, 2022 (Item #17), and
most recently amended on May 31. 2023 (Item #28) the Contractor agreed to perform certain services
based upon the terms and conditions specified in the Contract as amended and in consideration of certain
sums specified; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37, General Provisions, the Contract may be amended upon written
agreement of the parties and approval from the Governor and Executive Council; and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained
In the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows:

1. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.8, Price Limitation, to read:

$1,028,789

2. Modify Exhibit A - Arriendment #1, Scope of Services by replacing it in Its entirety with Exhibit A -
Amendment #4, Scope of Services, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

3. Modify Exhibit 8, Methods and Conditions Precedent to Payment, Section 2, to read:

.  2. This agreement is funded by 100% Federal Funds:

2.1. 53% Federal Funds from the Preventing Maternal Deaths: Supporting Maternal
Mortality Review Committees Grant, as awarded on July 20, 2023, by the U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control &
Prevention, Assistance Listing Number (ALN) 93.478, Federal Award Identification
Number (FAIN) NU58DP006693.

2.2. 5% Federal Funds from the New Hampshire MCH Data Linkage Project, as awarded
on November 16, 2023, by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services,
Health Resources and Services Administration, Maternal and Child Health Federal
Consolidated Programs, ALN 93.110, FAIN H1800033.

2.3. 29% Federal Funds from the Maternal and Child Health Federal Consolidated

Programs, as awarded on October 19, 2021, by the U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration, ALN 93.991, FAIN

B04MC45230 and as awarded on October 27,2022 by the U.S. Department of Health
and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration, ALN 93.991,
FAIN B04MC44732.

2.4 13% Federal Funds from the Alliance for Innovation on Maternal Health State

Capacity Program, as awarded on September 5, 2023, by the U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration, ALN
93.110, FAIN A3049997.

4. Modify Exhibit B, Methods and Conditions Precedent to Payment, Section 4, Subsection 4.1, to
read;

4.1 Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures incurred in the
fulfillment of this Agreement, and shall be in accordance with the approved line items as
specified in Exhibit B-1, Budget through Exhibit B-7 Budget - Amendment #4. „

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital A-S-1.3 Contractor Initials
6/10/2024

SS-2020-DPHS-11 -MATERN-01-A04 Page 1 of 4 Date
v7.12.23
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5. Modify.Exhibit B-6, Budget - Amendment #3 by replacing it in its entirety with Exhjbit B-6 Budget
Amendment #4, which is attached hereto and incorporated" by reference herein.

6. Modify Exhibit B-7, Budget - Amendment #3 by replacing it in its entirety with Exhibit B-7 Budget
Amendment #4. which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital A-S-1.3 ^ Contractor lnllials_
6/10/2024

SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERN-01-A04 Page 2 of 4^ Date
v7.12.23
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All terms and conditions of the Contract and prior amendments not modified by this Amendment remain
-in full-force and-effect—This-Amendment-shall-be effective-upon-Governor and-6ouncil-approvalr

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below,

6/10/2024

Date

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

■^DocuSlpntd by:

Title; Director - dphs

6/10/2024 '

Date

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (collectively doing business as
"Dartmouth-Hitchcock") ~

■DoeuSign«d by;

Name:^^®'"^^ Merrens
Title: chief clinical officer

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

SS-2020-DPHS-11 -MATERN-01-A04
V. 7.12.23

A-S-1.3

Page 3 of 4
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality

Exhibit A - Amendment #4

'  Scope of Services

-1-~Provisions'Applicable to All-Services (Maternal-Mortality ReviewCommittee—
and Alliance on Innovation on Maternal Health)

1.1. The Contractor agrees that, to the'extent future legislative action by the New
Hampshire General Court or federal or state court orders may have an impact
on the Services described herein, the State Agency has the right to modify
Service priorities and expenditure requirements under this Agreement so as to
achieve compliance therewith.

1.2. For the purposes of this Agreement, the Department has identified the
Contractor as a Subrecipieht, in accordance with 2 CFR 200.300.

2. Scope of Work (Maternal Mortality Review Committee)

2.1. The Contractor shall ensure one (1) FTE, Maternal Mortality Abstractor/Co-
Maternal Mortality Review Committee (MMRC) Facilitator whose
responsibilities, in conjunction with the Department and in accordance with RSA
132:29-31 and He-P 3013^ , include, but are not limited to:

2.1.-^. Collecting maternal death information as identified in RSA 132:29-31;

2.1.2. Abstracting maternal death cases within two (2) years of death; and

.2.1.3. Reviewing maternal death cases within two (2) years of death.

2.2. The Contractor shall assist the Department in the maintenance as identified in
the RSA 132:29-31, of a multidisciplinary NH Maternal Mortality Review
Committee (MMRC) in accordance with and members essential to the category
of cases being reviewed. ^

2.3. The Contractor shall attend and co-facilitate a minimum of four (4) MMRC
meetings each State Fiscal Year of the contract period. This includes, but is not
limited to':

2.3.1.1. Obtain and keep current signed NH MMRC Confidentiality
• Agreements and provide the Department with copies.

2.3.1.2. Keep a current list of all NH MMRC Committee Members after
each NH MMRC quarterly Meeting and update this list on the
Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Network
(NNEPQIN) website.

2.3.1.3. Provide the Department with the updated list of NH MMRC
members after each NH MMRC quarterly meeting.-

2.4. The Contractor shall provide completed Decision Forms with recommendations
according to the "Who, What, When" format to the Department's Maternal
Mortality Review Coordinator within twenty-one (21) days of each meeting.

' https://www.nh.gov/glancc/laws-rulcs.htm
Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Exhibit A - Amendment #4 Contractor Initials

6/10/2024
SS-2020-DPHS-11 -MATERN-01-A04 Page 1 of 12 Date ' ■'
Rev.09/06/18
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality

Exhibit A - Amendment #4

2.5. In conjunction with the Department, the Contractor shall:

2:5:l7-Conduct a record review in accordance-with-RSA-1-32:-29=31:31-in-order

to abstract data and information related to NH maternal death cases.

2.5.2. The Contractor shall enter abstracted maternal mortality case data and
information into the Maternal Mortality Review Information Application
(MMRIA) hosted by the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) within one
(1) month of receiving the information from the Department's Maternal
Mortality Review Coordinator the Contractor must:

2.5.2.1. Follow the guidelines within the Department's Data Sharing
Agreement (DSA) 2019-008 with the CDC for MMRIA.

2.5.2.2. Collaborate with the Department on reviewing and renewing
the DSA with the CDC as appropriate.

2.5.3. The Contractor shall attend abstractor trainings conducted by the CDC.

2.5.4. The Contractor shall, as part of the abstraction process, perform Key
Informant Interviews as such:

2.5.4.1. Acquire Informed Consent from Key Informant within 2 years
of the decedent's date of death.

2.5.4.2. Provide Department decided Incentives to participants of Key
Informant Interviews.

2.5.4.3. Present Key Informant Interview information to the NH
MMRC during case review meetings.

2.5.4.4. Enter Key Informant Interview information into MMRIA.

2.6. The Contractor shall maintain a Recommendations Work Group, consisting of a
multidisciplinary group of individuals. The Contractor shall:

2.6.1. Facilitate in-person or virtual meetings of the Recommendations Work
Group at least twice a year to review and discuss plans for implementing
the recommendations of the NH MMRC.

2.6.2. Utilize information provided by the Recommendations Work Group to
inform action on no less than two (2) projects each year of the contract
period.

2.6.3. Develop the necessary educational content and materials required to
implement the two referenced in Section 2.6.2..

2.7. The Contractor shall attend monthly project meetings with the Department as
scheduled by the Department.

2.8. The Contractor shall conduct monthly Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to
Eliminate Maternal Mortality.(ERASE) Maternal Mortality/Alliance for Innovation
on Maternal Health (AIM) educational webinars representative. of the

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Exhibit A - Amendment #4 Contractor Initials rS)ru
6/10/2024

SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERN-01-A04 Page 2 of 12 Date ' '
Rev.09/06/18
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality

Exhibit A - Amendment #4

educational content and materials developed which may include, but is not
Jim.iJejlto,.Ppw^erPpJnt.pxesentation

2.9. The Contractor shall attend quarterly meetings with the CDC as scheduled by
the Department.

3. Scope of Work (Alliance for Innovation (AIM) on Maternal Health)

3.1. The Contractor shall provide the following:

3.1.1. One (1) FTE, one full time data specialist whose responsibilities, in
conjunction with the Department, include, but are not limited to:

3.1.1.1. Collecting AIM process, structure and outcome measures from
participating birthing hospitals as defined on the data collection
plans for each patient safety bundle being implemented.

3.1.1.2. This data will include, but not be limited to:-

3.1.1.2.1. Providing technical assistance to each participating
birthing hospitals on data collection, visualization of
collected data and navigating the AIM dashboards.

3.1.1.2.2. Developing data collection tools utilizing a HIPAA
compliaht platform approved by the Department to
verify the baseline mid-term' and completion
surveys.

3.1.1.2.3. Submitting to AlM on a quarterly basis collected
data on AIM measures associated with the

implemented bundles.

3.1.1.2.4. Develop and disseminate actionable, bundle-
specific data visualizations based on data collected
from participating birthing hospitals and other
relevant stakeholders.

3.1.1.2.5. Follow all terms and conditions related to use of the

AIM "Licensed Materials" as listed in the Data Use

Agreement between the American College of
Obstetricians and Gynecologists (AGOG) and the
Department, in Paragraph 2 and 3(a) on page G-3,
and Paragraph 3(f) and 3(g) on page G-4, and
shall otherwise abide by all terms and conditions of
the Data-Use Agreement relating to use'of the
AGOG data base and Licensed Materials as

described therein. The Parties acknowledge that as
of this date, the.Data Use Agreement has not been
finalized and reference is made to the provisions
contained in the draft dated May 24, 2024 as

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospilai Exhibit A - Amendment #4 Contractor Initials [gjyU

SS-2020-DPI-

Rev.09/06/18

SS-2020-DPHS-11 -MATERN-01-A04 Page 3 of 12 Date ̂ /W2024
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality

Exhibit A - Amendment #4

provided to the Contractor. To. the extent the
executed Data Use; Agreement, contains.
substantive differences to the referenced

provisions, this section shall not apply until the
Contractor agrees in writing to comply with the
referenced provisions. The Department will provide
a copy of the executed Data Use Agreement to the
Contractor.

3.1.2. 0.1 FTE AIM clinical lead, whose responsibilities, include, but are not
limited to:

I

3.1.2.1. Implementing, facilitating and/or setting up trainings on clinical
screenings.

3.1.2.2. Participation in technical assistance with birthing hospitals and
other perinatal health providers.

3.2. The Contractor shall Implement AIM patient safety bundles In NH birthing
hospitals by:

3.2.1. Inviting and engaging all NH birthing hospitals to participate in selected
AIM patient safety bundles.

3.2.2. Conducting an initial baseline survey, prior to any patient safety bundle
.  implementation, with all obstetric providers across perinatal care

pathways to understand their capacity to implements new patient safety
bundle and to determine perceived needs for education to facilitate
implementation practices of the selected AIM patient safety bundles.

3.2.3. Developing and maintaining a HIPAA compliant database approved by
the Department for participating birthing hospitals to use in reporting de-
identified data associated with each AIM patient safety bundle's
structure, process and outcome measures.

3.2.4. The Contractor must have Individual data sharing agreements with each
participating birthing hospital.

3.2.5. Registering participating birthing hospitals on a HIPAA compliant
platform approved by the Department for the contractor's AIM data
center and providing technical assistance on collecting data using a
HIPAA compliant platform and navigating the AIM dashboards.

3.2.6. -The contractor must develop and maintain a database in the vendor
hosted HIPAA compliant platform approved by the Department as
referenced in 3.2.5.

3.2.7. Conducting monthly trainings to all birthing hospitals participating in the
implementation of the AIM patient safety measures. Trainings should
include the 5R Framework of each patient bundle (Readiness,

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Exhibit A - Amendment #4 Contractor Initials

SS-2020-DP1-

Rev.09/06/18

SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERN-01-A04 Page 4 of 12 . Date
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality

Exhibit A - Amendment #4

Recognition and Prevention, Response, Reporting and Systems
...Learning and_Resp_e_c.tful,_EilujtabJe_a.,nd„Supp.orti.veJi;are)._^

3.2.8. Performing surveys, mid-term and end of project, to evaluate the birthing
hospital's progress in implementing the patient safety bundle in their
perinatal care networks.

3.3. The Contractor shall engage Federally Qualified Health Care Centers (FQHCs)
and other Community Health Centers to improve their capacity for providing
evidence-informed best practices for pregnant and postpartum people. The
Contractor shall:

3.3.1. Identify and invite FQHCs and Community Health Centers (CHCs) to
participate in monthly and quarterly AIM webinar meetings/conferences
and trainings related to AIM patient safety bundles.

3.3.2. Conduct trainings with FQHCs and CHCs on screening and initial
interventions for prenatal and postpartum mental health needs,
including assessing and intervening for suicide risk.

3.3.3. Link participating hospitals with participating FQHCs to increase referral
resources for conditions such as mental health.

3.4. The Contractor shall increase capacity for AIM data collection and reporting
amongst participating birthing hospitals by:

3.4.1. Completion of data sharing agreements between the Contractor, and all
participating birthing hospitals.

3.4.2. Training of hospital teams regarding accurate collection of AIM bundle
measures, as well as best practice in collection of demographic data.,

3.4.3. Giving participating birthing hospitals their own aggregated hospital level
data on number of birthing people with conditions related to the selected
patient safety bundles.

3.4.4. Providing resources and training for data entry personnel in each
birthing hospital to improve completeness and quality of Race Ethnicity
and Language (REaL) data collected and reassess data quality.

3.5. The Contractor shall conduct monthly Maternal Mortality/AIM educational
webinars representative of the educational content and materials developed
which may include, but is not limited to, PowerPoint presentations.

.  3.5.1. The Contractor shall provide all training materials developed through the
AIM initiative to the Department including recordings of oral
presentations or upload to the public-facing website for future access.
The Department will review all training materials in collaboration with
the contractor before public facing and submission to AIM.

3.6.- The Contractor shall submit to the Department quarterly reports upon requested
by the Department AIM program process, structure, and outcome measures that

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital * Exhibit A - Amendment #4 Contractor Initials

SS-2020-DPHS-11 -MATERN-01-A04 Page 5 of 12 Date 6/10/2024
Rev.09/06/18
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality

Exhibit A - Amendment #4

are associated with the implemented AIM bundles utilized in the
.s.ta te/j u risd i c.tipn. ^

3.7. With the Department, the Contractor should participate in the writing and
submission of AIM bi-annual reports to Health Resources and Services
Administration (HRSA)/AIM. These shall include, but not be limited to;

3.7.1. A summary of all achieved objectives, activities and measures of
evaluation for each activity as identified in NH's AIM Capacity grant
workplan.

3.7.2. A description of challenges and barriers.

3.7.3. Identification of objectives not met, and activities not implemented fully.

3.7.4. A summary of the dissemination of AIM work such as measures
collected for each AIM patient safety bundle to all relevant stakeholders.

3.7.5. The AIM impact statements.

3.8. The Contractor shall attend all HRSA/AIM training and meetings, such as, but
not limited to:

3.8.1. Attendance at the HRSA/AIM Data Community of Learning, the AIM
monthly calls and the HRSA quarterly calls.

4. Confidentiality

4.1. The Contractor shall ensure any disclosure of identifiable confidential health,
SUD or mental health inform^ation or data adheres to state and federal laws and
regulations relating to safeguarding the confidential information, which includes,
but may not be limited to:

4.1.1. The Health Information Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), as
amended in 2024.

4.1.2. 45-CFR 160-164.

4.1.3. 42 CFR Part 2 for Protection ofSubstance misuse data, as amended in.

2024:

4.1.4. NH Administrative Rule He-M 2019 for Mental Health Data.

4.2. The Contractor shall not collect, receive, store, or manage confidential data
related to the scope of work and deliverables identified in this Exhibit A unless
or until the parties have agreed in writing to a Data Sharing Plan that includes,
but is not limited to the following:

4.2.1. The purpose of the data exchange:

4.2.2. Description of the Department's data elements to be disclosed;

4.2.3. Source or Systems of Records;

4.2.4. Number of Records Involved and Operational Time Factors;

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Exhibit A - Amendment #4 Contractor Initials
6/10/2024

SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERN-01-A04 Page 6 of 12 Date
Rev.09/06/18
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality

Exhibit A - Amendment #4

4.2.5. Data Elements involved;

^4T2:6~Reporting-and-Secure -Transmissionof Confidential-Data;

4^2.7. Description of the Contractor's data elements to be disclosed; and

4.2.8. Responsibilities of both parties regarding the exchange of data.

4.3. The Contractor shall meet all information security and privacy requirements as
set by the Department and in accordance with the Department's Information
Security Requirements Exhibit as referenced below.

4.4. The Contractor shall ensure any individuals involved in delivering services
through this Agreement contract sign an attestation agreeing to access, view,
store, and discuss Confidential Data in accordance with federal and state laws
and regulations and the Department's Information Security Requirements
Exhibit. The,Contractor shall ensure said individuals have a justifiable business
need to access confidential data. The Contractor shall provide attestations uppn
Department request.

4.5. Background Checks

4.5.1. Prior to permitting any individual to provide services under this
Agreement, the Contractor must ensure that said individual has
undergone:

4.5.1.1. A criminal background check, at the Contractor's expense, and
has no convictions for crimes that represent evidence of
behavior that could endanger individuals served under this
Agreement;

4.5.1.2. A name search of the Department's Bureau of Elderly and
Adult Services (SEAS) State Registry, pursuant to RSA 161-
F:49, with results indicating no evidence of behavior that could
endanger individuals served under this Agreement; and

4.5.1.3. A name search of the Department's Division for Children,
Youth and Families (DCYF) Central Registry pursuant to RSA
169-C:35, with results indicating no evidence of behavior that
could endanger individuals served under this Agreement.

4.6. Privacy Impact Assessment

4.6.1. Upon request, the Contractor must allow and assist the Department in
conducting a Privacy Impact Assessment (PIA) of its
system(s)/application(s)/web portaI(s)/website(s) or Department
system{s)/application(s)/web portal{s)/website(s) hosted by the
Contractor, if Personally Identifiable Information (Pll) is collected, used,
accessed, shared, or stored. To conduct the PIA the Contractor must
provide the Department access to applicable systems and
documentation sufficient to allow the Department to ■ assess, at

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Exhibit A - Amendment #4 Contractor Initials

6/10/2024
SS-2020-DPHS-11 -MATERN-01-A04 Page 7 of 12 Date ' '
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality

Exhibit A - Amendment #4

minimum, the following:

—4v6:lTl7"How"PII-is"gathered-and-^stored:

'4.6.1.2. Who will have access to Pll;

4.6.1.3. How Pll will be used in the system;

4.6.1.4. How individual consent will be achieved and revoked; and

4.6.1.5. Privacy practices.

4.6.2. The Department may conduct follow-up PIAs in the event there are
either significant process changes or new technologies impacting the
collection, processing or storage of Pll.

4.7. Department Owned Devices, Systems and Network Usage

4.7.1. If Contractor End Users, defined in the Department's Information
Security Requirements Exhibit that is incorporated into this Agreement,
are authorized by the Department's Information Security Office to use a
Department issued device (e.g. computer, tablet, mobile telephone) or
access the Department network in the fulfilment of this Agreement, each
End User must:

4.7.1.1. Sign and abide by applicable Department and New Hampshire
Department of Information Technology (NH DolT) use
agreements, policies, standards, procedures and guidelines,
and complete applicable trainings as required;

4.7.1.2. Use the information that they have permission to access solely
for conducting official Department business and agree that all
other use or access is strictly forbidden including, but not
limited, to personal or other private and non-Department use,
and that at no time shall they access or attempt to access
information without, having' the express authority of the
Department to do so;

4.7.1.3. Not access or attempt to access information in a manner
inconsistent with the approved policies, procedures, and/or
agreement relating to system entry/access;

4.7.1.4. Not copy, share, distribute,' sub-license, modify, reverse
engineer, rent, or sell software licensed, developed, or being
evaluated by the Department, and at all times. must use
utmost care to protect and keep such software strictly
confidential in accordance with^the license or any other
agreement executed by the Department;

4.7.1.5. Only use equipment, software, or subscription{s) authorized
by the Department's Information Security Office or designee;

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Exhibit A - Amendment #4 Contractor Initials
.  6/10/2024
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Exhibit A - Amendment #4

4.7..1.6. Not install non-standard software on any Department
equipm.eut_uniess_authpnzejlbyJhe.D,ep.artment'sJnfo/malion.
Security Office or designee;

4.7.1.7. Agree that email and other electronic communication
messages created, sent, and received on a Department-issued
email system are the property of the Department of New
Hampshire and to be used for business purposes only. Email
is defined as "Internal email systems" or "Department-funded
email systems." .

4.7.1.8. Agree that use of email must follow Department and NH DolT
policies, standards, and/or guidelines; and

4.7.1.9. Agree when utilizing the Department's email system;

-  4.7.1.9.1. To only use a Department email address
assigned to them with a .
affiliate.DHHS.NH.Gov".

4.7.1.9.2. Include in the signature lines information
identifying the End User as a non-Department
workforce member; and

4.7.1.9.3. Ensure the following confidentiality notice is
embedded underneath the signature line:

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: "This message
may contain Information that Is privileged and
confidential and is intended only for the use of the
individual(s) to whom it is addressed. If you
receive this message in error, please notify the
sender Immediately and delete this electronic
message and any attachments from your system.
Thank you for your cooperation."

4.7.1.10. Contractor End Users with a Department issued email, access
or potential access to Confidential Data, and/or a workspace
in a Department building/facility, must:

4.7.1.10.1. Complete the Department's Annual Information
Security & Compliance Awareness Training prior
to accessing, viewing, handling, hearing, or
transmitting Department Data or Confidential
Data.

4.7.1.10.2. Sign the Department's Business Use and
Confidentiality Agreement and Asset Use
Agreement, and the NH DolT Department wide

SS-2020-DPHS-11 -MATERN-01-A04 Page 9 of 12 Date
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Computer Use Agreement upon execution of the
;  Agreement and annually thereafter.

4.7.1.10.3. Only access the Department's intranet to view the
Department's Policies and Procedures and
Information Security webpages.

4.7.1.11. Contractor agrees, if any End User is found to be in violation
of any. of the above terms and conditions, said End User may
face removal from the Agreement, and/or criminal and/or civil
prosecution, if the act constitutes a violation of law.

4.7.1.12. Contractor agrees to notify the Department a minimum of three
business days prior to any upcoming transfers or terminations
of End Users who possess Department credentials and/or
badges or who have system privileges. If End Users who
possess Department credentials and/or badges or who have
system privileges resign or are dismissed without advance
notice, the Contractor agrees to notify the Department's
Information Security Office or desigriee immediately.

4.7.2. Workspace Requirement

4.7.2.1. If applicable, the Department will work with Contractor to
determine requirements for providing necessary workspace and
State equipment for its End Users.

4.8. Contract End-of-Life Transition Services

4.8.1: General Requirements

4.8.1.1. If applicable, upon termination or expiration of the Agreement the
parties agree to cooperate in good faith to effectuate a smooth
secure transition of the Services from the Contractor to the

Department and, if applicable, the Contractor engaged by the
Department to assume the Services previously performed by the
Contractor for this section the new Contractor shall be known as

"Recipient"). Ninety (90) days prior to the end-of the contract or
-unless otherwise specified by the Department, the Contractor
must begin working with the Department and if applicable, the
new Recipient to develop a Data Transition Plan (DTP). The
Department shall provide the DTP template to the Contractor.

4.8.1.2. The Contractor must use reasonable efforts to assist the

Recipient, in connection with the transition from the performance
of Services by the Contractor and its End Users to the
performance of such Services. This may include assistance with
the secure transfer of records (electronic and hard copy),
transition of historical data (electronic and hard copy), the

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Exhibit A - Amendment #4 Contractor Initials

6/10/2024
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transition of any such Service from the hardware, software,
jieMork^andJeJecommuni.cations eguipmenlaAdJnternejrrelated.
information technology infrastructure ("Internal IT Systems") of
Contractor to the Internal IT Systems of the Recipient and
cooperation with and assistance to any third-party, consultants
engaged by Recipient in connection with the Transition Services.

4.8.1.3. If a system, database, hardware, software, and/or software
licenses (Tools) was purchased or created to manage, track,
and/or store Department Data in relationship to this contract said
Tools will be inventoried and returned to the Department, along
with the inventory document, once transition of Department Data
is complete.

4.8.1.4. The internal planning of the Transition Services by the Contractor
and its End Users shall be provided to the Department and if
applicable the Recipient in a timely manner. Any such Transition
Services shall be deemed to be Services for purposes of this
Agreement.,

4.8.1.5. Should the data Transition extend beyond the end of the
Agreement, the Contractor agrees that the Information Security
Requirements, and if applicable, the Department's Business
Associate Agreement terms and conditions remain in effect until
the Data Transition is accepted as complete by the Department.

4.8.1.6. In the event where the Contractor has comingled Department
Data and the destruction or Transition of said data is not feasible,
the Department and Contractor will Jointly evaluate regulatory and
professional standards for retention requirements prior to
destruction, refer to the terms and conditions of the Department's
DHHS Information Security Requirements Exhibit.

4.8.2. Completion of Transition Services

4.8.2.1. Each service or Transition phase shall be deemed completed
(and the Transition process finalized) at the end of 15 business
days after the product, resulting from the Service, is delivered to
the Department and/or the Recipient in accordance with the
mutually agreed upon Transition plan, unless within said. 15
business day term the Contractor notifies the Department of an
issue requiring additional time to complete said product;

4.8.2.2. Once all parties agree the data has been migrated the Contractor
will have 30 days to destroy the data per the terms and conditions
of the Department's Information Security Requirements Exhibit.

4.8.3. Disagreement over Transition Services Results

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Exhibit A - Amendment #4 Contractor Initials
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4.8.3.1. In the event the Department is not satisfied with the results of the
Iransltion_S.ery!ce,Jhe_.D_epartrnent.shall notify the_Cpntractor,lLn_
writing, stating the reason for the lack of satisfaction within 15
business days of the final product or at any time during the data
Transition process. The Parties shall discuss the actions to be
taken to resolve the disagreement or issue. If an agreement is not
reached, at any time the Department shall be entitled to initiate
actions in accordance with the Agreement.

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Exhibit A - Amendment #4 Contractor Initials I uOi\^
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Comp/e(A one budget form for each budget period.
Contractor Name: Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic

^  Budget Request for: Enhancing Reviews end Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality
Budget Period G&C Approval ■ 6/30/2024

Indirect Cost Rate (if applicable) 15.50%

Line Iterh

i

.  Program Cost - Funded by DHHS Maternal'
Mortality and Maternal Child Health Program Cost • Funded by DHHS AIM

V Salary & Waoes

$102,479 $13,280

\

2. Frinqe Benefits $35,458 $4,595

3. Consultants $22,950 $1,350

4, Equipment

Indirect cost rate cannot be applied to
equipment costs per 2 CFR 200.1 and
Appendix IV to 2 CFR 200.

$0

5.(a) Supplies • Educational $0

5.(b) Supplies • Lab ^  $0

5.(c) Supplies • Pharmacy $0

5.(d) Supplies • Medical $0

5.(e) Supplies Office
$15 $1

6. Travel $4,000 $40

7. Software $0

8. (a) Other - Marketing/

Commurucations
so ;

8. fb) Other - Education and Training $500

8. (c) Other - Other (specify below)
stipends $0

event $219

Other (please specify) SO ;

Other (please specify) SO

9. Subrecipient Contracts SO

Total Direct Costs S165.621 $19,266

Total Indirect Costs S25.671 $2,986

TOTAL $191,292 $22,252

SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERN-01-AOI Page 1 of 1

Contrsctor Initials

6/10/2024
Date
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Exhibit B-7 Budget - Amendment #4

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services '

'Como/ete one budoot form for each budaot poriod.

Contractor Name: Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic

. Budget Request for: Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality and AIM capacity

Budget Period 7/1/2024 - 6/30/2025

Indirect Cost Rate (if applicable) 15.50%

Line Item
Program Cost - Funded by DHHS Maternal

Mortality

Program Cost - Funded by DHHS AIM and

Maternal Child Health.

1. Salary &Waaes

$95,974 $134,542

y

2. Fringe Benefits $33,207 $46,551

3. Consultants
$19,500 $900

4. Equipment

Indirect cost rate cannot tie applied to

equipment costs per 2 CFR 200.1 and
Appendix IV to 2 CFR 200.

$0

5.(a) Supplies - Educational $0

5.(b) Supplies • Lab $0

5.(c) Supplies - Pharmacy . $0

5.(d) Supplies - Medical $0

5.(e) Supplies Office. $8 $14

6. Travel
$6,000 $900

7. Software $0

8. (a) Other • Marketinq/ Communications
$0

8. (b) Other - Education and Traininq $75
-

8. (c) Other - Other (specify below)

soecisl event $0 $9

Other (please specifv) $0

Other (please specify) $0

Other (please specify) $0

9. Subredpient Contracts $0

Total Direct Costs $154,764 $182,916

'

Total Indirect Costs $23,988 $28,352

TOTAL $178,752 $211,268

SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERN-01-A04 Page 1 of 1

Contractor Initials.

6/10/2024
Date

■u
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State of New Hampshire

Department of State

V

CERTIFICATE

1, David M. Scanlan, Secretary of State of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that MARY HITCHCOCK MEMORIAL

HOSPITAL is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in New Hampshire on August 07, 1889. 1

further certify that all fees and documents required by the Secretar>' of Slate's ofilce have been received and is in good standing as

far as this office is concerned.

Business ID: 68517

Certificate Number: 0006622917

Sa.

o

■y>-

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be affixed

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire, ''
this 20lh day of March A;D. 2024.

David M. Scanlan

Secretary of State



OocuSign Envelope 10: C1E3457B-8A67-432C-A985-CFDFC0FC0D87

Dartmouth • Dartmouth-Hitchcock Boards of Trustees
Health

CERTIFICATE OF VOTE/AUTHORITY

I, Roberta L. Hines. MD. do hereby certify that:

1. 1 am the duly elected Chair of the Boards of Trustees of Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and
\

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (together, "Dartmouth-Hitchcock").

2. The following is a true and accurate excerpt from the Amended, Restated and Integrated Bylaws of the

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Corporations:

a. "ARTICLE II - Section A. Fiduciary Duty. Stewardship over Corporate Assets. As
responsible stewards of tax-exempt, charitable Corporations, members of the Corporations'
Boards have the fiduciary duty to oversee, with due care and loyalty, the stewardship of the
Corporations' assets and operations in order to create a sustainable health system that is population
focused and value-based, and to advance their respective corporate purposes. In exercising this
duty, the Boards may, consistent with the respective Corporation's Articles of Agreement and
these Bylaws, delegate authority to Board Committees and other bodies, or to various officers, to
provide input with respect to issues and strategies, incur indebtedness, make expenditures, enter
into contracts and agreements and take such other binding actions on behalf of the Corporations
as may be necessary or desirable in furtherance of their charitable purposes."

3. Pursuant to policy approved and adopted by the Boards of Trustees consistent with the above Bylaws
>.

provision, the Chief Clinical Officer, Edward Merrens, MD, has subdelegated signature authority to enter

into contracts and agreements on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial

Hospital.

4. The foregoing authority shall remain in full force and effect as of the date of the agreement executed or

action taken in reliance upon this Certificate. This'authority shall remain valid for thirty (30) days from

the date of this Certificate and the State of New Hampshire shall be entitled to rely upon same, until written

notice of modification, rescission or revocation of same, in whole or in part, has been received by the State

pfNew Hampshire.

.  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, 1 have hereunto set my hand as the Chair of the Boards of Trustees of Dartmouth-

Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital this 1^^ day of June, 2024.

Roberta L. Hines, MD, Board Chair
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COMPANY AFFORDING COVERAGE

Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.
P.O. Box 1687

30 Main Street, Suite 330
Burlington, VT 05401
INSURED

Mary-Hitchcock Memorial -Hospital-
One Medical Center Drive

Lebanon, NH 03756
(603)653-6850

DATE: June 29, 2023

This cetlificate is issued as a matter of information only
and confers no rights upon the Certificate Holder. This
Certificate does not amend, extend or alter the coverage
-afforded-by the*policies"below.- -

COVERAGES

The Policy listed below has been issued to the Named Insured above for the Policy Period notwithstanding any
requirement, term or condition of any contract or other document with respect to which this certificate may be issued. The
insurance afforded by the policy is subject to all the terms, exclusions and conditions of the policy. Limits shown may
have been reduced by paid claims.

TYPE OF

INSURANCE
POLICY NUMBER

POLICY

EFFECTIVE

DATE

POLICY

EXPIRATION

DATE

LIMITS

GENERAL

LIABILITY

0002023-A 7/1/2023 7/1/2024 EACH

OCCURRENCE
$1,000,000

DAMAGE TO

RENTED

PREMISES

$1,000,000

X CLAIMS MADE
MEDICAL

EXPENSES
N/A .

PERSONAL & $1,000,000
ADV INJURY

OCCURRENCE GENERAL

AGGREGATE
$3,000,000

OTHER PRODUCTS-

COMP/OP AGG
$1,000,000

PROFESSIONAL

LIABILITY

0002023-A 7/1/2023 7/1/2024 EACH CLAIM $1,000,000

CLAIMS MADE
X ANNUAL

AGGREGATE
$3,000,000

OCCURENCE

OTHER

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/ LOCATIONS/ VEHICLES/ SPECIAL I TEMS (LIMITS MAY BE SUBJECT TO RETENTIONS)

Ccrtiflcntc is issued ns evidence of insurance.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

NH Department of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street .

Concord, NH 03301

CANCELLATION

Should any of the above described policies be cancelled before the expiration date
thereof, the issuing company will endeavor to mail 30 DAYS writtcn'notice to the
certincale holder named below, but failure to mail such notice shall impose no
obligation or liability of any kind upon the company, its agents or representatives.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
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DARTHIT-01

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

LSTILES

DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

7/10/2023

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement{s).

PRODUCER License#1780862
HUB International New England
100 Central Street
Suite 201
Holliston, MA 01746

.

CONTACT Lauren Stiles

PHONE FAX
(A/C, No. Ext): (A/C. No):

ADc^kss: l-auren.Stiles@hubinternational.com
INSURERfS) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC«

INSURER A Safety National Casualty Corporation 15105

INSURED

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

1 Medical Center Dr.

Lebanon, NH 03756

INSURER B

INSURER C

INSURER D

INSURER E

INSURER F

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS

CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES, LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

INSR

JJB. TYPE OF INSURANCE
AODL

ms.
SUBR
WVD POUCY NUMBER

POLICY EPF
IMM/DD/YYYY>

POLICY EXP
IMM/DD/YYYYI LIMITS

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE | [ OCCUR
EACH OCCURRENCE

DAMAGE TO RENTED
PREMISES <Ea oecurrencal

MED EXP (Any one person!

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY LOG

OTHER:

GENERAL AGGREGATE

PRODUCTS ■ COMP/OP AGG

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY
COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
(Ea accidenlV

ANY AUTO

OWNED
AUTOS ONLY

ONLY

SCHEDULED
AUTOS

mm?

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

BODILY INJURY (Per accidonl)

PROPERTY DAMAGE
(Per acciclentl

UMBRELLA LIAS

EXCESS LIAB

DED

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

EACH OCCURRENCE

AGGREGATE

RETENTIONS

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE
SFFICERAflEMBER EXCLUDED?
Mandatory in NH)

If yes. describe under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

Y/N

□
AGC4066562 7/1/2023 7/1/2024

y PER
^ STATUTE

OTH-
ifi

HI A
E.L. EACH ACCIDENT 1,000,000

E.L DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE
1,000,000

E.L. DISEASE - POUCY LIMIT
1,000,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Remarka Schedule, may be attached If more space Is required)
Evidence of Workers Compensation coverage for

Cheshire Medical Center
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital
New London Hospital Association
SEE ATTACHED ACORD 101

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

NH DHHS
129 Pleasant Street
Concord, NH 03301

1

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03) © 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.
The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD
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AGENCY CUSTOMER ID: DARTHIT-01 LSTILES

LOC#: 1

ACORD'
ADDITIONAL REMARKS SCHEDULE Page 1 of 1

AGENCY License#1760862

HUB International New England

NAMED INSURED

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
1 Medical Center Dr.
Lebanpn, NH 03756

POLICY NUMBER

SEE PAGE 1

CARRIER

SEE PAGE 1

NAIC CODE

SEE P 1

■

EFFECTIVE DATE: SEE PAGE 1

ADDITIONAL REMARKS

THIS ADDITIONAL REMARKS FORM IS A SCHEDULE TO ACORD FORM,

FORM NUMBER: ACORD 25 FORM TITLE: Ceftlficate of Liability Insurance

Description of Operatlons/LocationsA/ehlcles:
Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Health Center
Visiting Nurse Associates and Hospice of Vermont and New Hampshire

ACORD 101 (2008/01) © 2008 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD
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"About Dartmouth HitchcocR MedicarCentef affd'Dartmouth

Hitchcock Clinics

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Clinics—members of Dartmouth Health

(https://vww.dartmouth-heaith.org)—include Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center, the state's

only academic medical center, and Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics, which provide primary

and specialty care throughout New Hampshire and Vermont.

Our physicians and researchers collaborate with Geisel School of Medicine scientists and

faculty as well as other^leading health care organizations to develop new treatments at the

cutting edge of medical practice bringing the latest medical discoveries to the patient. .

Who are Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Dartmouth Hitchcock

Clinics?

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center

V.

•u-
Li

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center is the state's only academic medical center, and the

only Level I Adult and Level II Pediatric Trauma Center ih New Hampshire. The Dartmouth

Hitchcock Advanced Response Team (DHART), based in Lebanon and Manchester, provides

ground and air medical transportation to comrhunities throughout northern New England.

In 2022, Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center was named the #1 hospital in New

Hampshire by U.S. News b World Report (htips;//heaUh.usnews.com/best-hospitals/area/nh), and

recognized as high performing in 2 adult specialties. Cancer and Neurology/Neurosurgery,

as well as in 12 common adult procedures and conditions.

r

Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics ■
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Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics provide primary and specialty care throughout Ne\A/

Hampshire and Vermont, v^ith major community group practices in Lebanon. Concord.
Manchester, Nashua, and Keene, New Hampshire, and Bennington. Vermont.

Children's Hospital at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center

Children's Hospital at Dartmouth Hitchcock.Medical Center is New Hampshire's only
children's hospital and a member of the Children's Hospital Association, providing
advanced pediatric inpatient. outpatient and surgical services at Dartmouth Hitchcock
Medical Center.

%

Norris Cotton Cancer Care Pavilion Lebanon

Norris Cotton Cancer Care Pavilion Lebanon {https://cancer.dartmouth.edu/), one of only 53
NCI-designated Comprehensive Cancer Centers in the nation, is one of the premier
facilities for cancer treatment, research, prevention, and education.

Our mission, vision, and values

Our mission

We advance health through research, education, clinical practice and community
partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the right time, every
time.
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Our Vision

Achieve the healthiest population possible, leading the transformation of health care in our

region and setting the standard for our nation.

■Qurvalues

• Respect

•  Integrity

• Commitment

• Transparency

• Trust

• Teamwork

• Stewardship

• Community

About Dartmouth Health (https7/www.dartmouth-health.org/)

Copyright © 2023 Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Clinics. All rights reserved.
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•Report"ofIndependent"Auditors'

To the Board of Trustees of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and subsidiaries

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
and its subsidiaries (the "Health System"), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30,
2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets and of
cash flows for the years then ended, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the
"consolidated financial statements").

In our ojDinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Health System as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its
operations, changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basisfor Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (US GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors'
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
required to be independent of the Health System and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Health System's
ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date the consolidated financial statements are
issued.

Auditors' Responsibilitiesfor the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors'
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute

. assurance-and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forger)',
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, indiNidually or in the aggregate, they would
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5001, u^m.pwc.com/us
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In performing an audit in accordance wth US GAAS; we:

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
•" Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,

whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements..

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Health System's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion
is expressed.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

• Conclude whether, in our Judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Health System's abilit>' to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.

Supplemental Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole. The accompanying consolidating balance sheets and consolidating statements of
operations and changes in net assets without donor restrictions as of and for the years ended June 30,
2023 and 2022 (the "supplemental information") is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is
not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. The consolidating infoiTnation is not
intended to present, and we do not express an opinion on, the financial position, results of operations and
cash flows of the indhddual companies. The supplemental information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The supplemental information has been subjected
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly, to the underljing
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated
financial statements themselves and other additional procedures, in accordance v^ith auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplemental information is fairly
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

Boston, Massachusetts
November 17, 2023
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets

June 30, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents ' $ 115,996 $ 191,929

Patient accounts receivable, net (Note 4) 289,787 251,250

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 184,104 169,133

Total current assets 589,887 612,312

Assets limited as to use (Notes 5 and 7) 1,071,462 1,181,094
Other investments for restricted activities (Notes 5 and 7) 182,224 175,116

Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 6) 811,622 764,840

Right-of-use assets, net (Note 16) 55,528 58,925

Otherassets 193,333 172,163

Totalliabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 3,4,6,7,10,13, and 16)

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions (Note 9)
Net assets with donor restrictions (Notes 8 and 9)

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

Total assets S 2,904,056 $ 2,964,450

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) $ 15,236 $ 6,596
Current portion of right-of-use obligations (Note 16) 11,334 11,319

Line of credit 40,000

Current portion of liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits (Note 11) 3,386 3,500
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 146,747 156,572
Accrued compensation and related benefits 137,467 190,560
Estimated third-party settlements (Note 3 and 4) 64,360 134,898

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 10)
Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion (Note.16)

Insurance deposits and related liabilities (Note 12)
Liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits,
excluding current portion (Note 11)
Other liabilities

418,530 503,445

1,098,962 1,117,288

45,671 48,824

91,349 78,391

206,305 228,606

173,918 154,096

2,034,735 2,130,650

658,988 634,297

210,333 199,503

869,321 833,800

$  2,904,056 :1  2,964,450

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

3
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands of dollars)

"Operatingrevenue*'and'other'support "
Net patient service revenue (Note 4)
Contracted revenue

Other operating revenue (Note 4)
Net assets released from restrictions

Total operating revenue and other support

Operating expenses

2023 2022 .

2,397.157

84,346

608,875

14,843

3,105,221

2,243,237

77,666

534,031

15.894

2,870,828

Salaries 1,423,091 1,315,407

Employee benefits 332,386 322,570

Medications and medical supplies 725,480 649,272

Purchased services and other 458,901 403,862

Medicaid enhancement tax (Note 4) 85,715 82,725
Depreciation and amortization 90,457 86,958

Interest (Note 10) 34,515 32,113

Total operating expenses 3,150,545 2,892,907

Operating loss (45,324) (22,079)

Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment income (loss), net (Note 5) 58,119 (78,744)
Other components of net periodic pension and post

retirement benefit income (Note 11 and 14) (17,691) 13,910

Other losses, net (8,530) (6,658)

Total non-operating gains (losses), net 31,898 (71,492)

^  Deficiency of revenue over expenses $  (13,426) 3i  (93,571)

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets - continues on next page

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

4
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets - Continued
Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands of dollars)

'Net'assets'wlthoutdonor restrictions'

2023 2022

Deficiency of revenue over expenses 3
Net assets released from restrictions for capital

i  . (13,426) $
3,229

(93,671)

1,573

Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement
benefits (Note 11)
Other changes in net assets

34,901

(13)

(32,309)
(23)

Increase (decrease) in net assets without donor restrictions .  24,691 (124,330)

Net assets with donor restrictions

Gifts, bequests, sponsored activities 23,637 39,710

Investment income (loss), net 5.846 (7,010)
Net assets released from restrictions (18,653) (17,467)

Increase in net assets with donor restrictions 10,830 15,233

Change in net assets 35,521 (109,097)

Net assets J
Beginning of year .  833,800 942,897

End of year 5 869,321 $ 833,800

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

5  - .
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash flows from ooeratina activities

2023 2022

Change in net assets $ 35,521 $  (109,097)
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 90,806 87,006

Amortization of bond premium, discount, and issuance cost, net (2.779) (2,764)
Amortization of.right-ofMJse asset ~s

9,242 9,270

Payments on right-of-use lease obligations - operating ' (9.162) (9,190)

Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement benefits (34,901) 32,309

Loss (gain) on disposal of fixed assets (883) (523)
Net realized gains and change in net unrealized gains on investments (79,799) 86,652

Restricted contributions and investment earnings (8,208) (20.151)

Proceeds from sales of donated securities 3,818 10,665

Changes in assets and liabilities
Patient accounts receivable, net (38,537) (19,089)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,984 (9,915)
Other assets, net (21,688) 2,517

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (31,082) 17,104

Accrued compensation and related benefits (53,093) 8,490

Estimated third-party settlements (71,907) (120,117)

Insurance deposits and related liabilities 12,958 (1,583)
- Liability for pension and other postretirement benefits 12,486 (28,422)

Other liabilities 21,191 (56,687)

Net cash used in operating activities (164,033) (123,525)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment (129,321) (160,855)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment 1,214 613

Purchases of investments (71,410) (65,286) ,
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments 249,684 137,781

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 50,167 (87,747)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from line of credit 979,500 30,000

Payments on line of credit (939,500) (30,000)
Repayment of long-term debt (81,907) (9.116)

Proceeds from issuance of debt 75,000 -

Repayment of finance leases (3,599) (3,253)
Restricted contributions and investment earnings 8,208 20,151

Net cash provided by financing activities 37,702 7,782

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (76,164) (203,490)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 193,485 396,975

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year S 117,321 $  193,485

Supplemental cash flow information '
Interest paid $ 44,362 $  42,867

Construction in progress included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses 5,105 .  9,407

Donated securities ^ 3,818 10,665

The follONving table reconciles cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets to cash, cash equivalents and
restricted cash on the consolidated statements of cash flows.

2023 2022

Cash and cash equivalents $ 115,996 $  191,929

Cash and cash equivalents included in assets limited as to use - 1,350

Restricted cash and cash equivalents included in other investments for restricted activities 1,325 206

Total of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown
in the consolidated statements of cash flows S  117,321 193,485

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

6
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

1, Organization and Community Benefit Commitments

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Heaith (D-HH), its Members, and their Subsidiaries {the Health System) is a
system of hospitals, clinics, and other healthcare service providers across New Hampshire and
Vermont. The Health System's mission is to advance health through research, education, clinical
practice, and community partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at
the right time, every time. The Health System seeks to achieve the healthiest population possible,
leading the transformation of health care in the region and setting the standard for the nation. The
Heaith System's expanding network of services are the fabric of its commitment to serve the region
with exceptional medical care.

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Heaith (D-HH) serves as the sole corporate member of the foliovwng entities:
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (DHC) and Subsidiaries, Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (MHMH)
and Subsidiaries, (DHC and MHMH together are referred to as D-H), The New London Hospital
Association, Inc. (NLH). Windsor Hospital Corporation (d/b/a Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Heaith
Center) (MAHHC) and Subsidiaries, The Cheshire Medical Center (Cheshire) and Subsidiaries,
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital (ARD) and Subsidiary, and Visiting Nurse Association and
Hospice of Vermont and New Hampshire (VNH) and Subsidiaries.

The Heaith System currently operates one tertiary, one community, and three acute care (critical
access) hospitals in New Hampshire (NH) and Vermont (VT). One.facility provides inpatient and
outpatient rehabilitation medicine and long-term care. The Heaith System also operates multiple
physician practices, a continuing care retirement community, and a home health and hospice
service, the Health System operates a graduate level program for health professions and Is the
principal teaching affiliate of the Geisel School of Medicine (Geisel), a component of Dartmouth
College. . • ^

D-HH. DHb, MHMH, NLH, Cheshire, and ARD are NH not-for-profit corporations exempt from
federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the internal Revenue Code (IRC). MAHHC and
VNH are VT not-for-profit corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3)
of the IRC.

On December 6, 2022, D-HH entered into an Integration Agreement with Valley Regional
Healthcare. Inc. ("VRHC") and its subsidiary Valley Regional Hospital and its affiliates ("VRH"), a
critical access hospital located in Claremont, New Hampshire. The parties have submitted the
transaction for regulatory review by the New Hampshire Attorney General with a target closing date
in early 2024.

Community Benefits
Consistent with its mission, the Health System provides high quality, cost effective, comprehensive,
and integrated healthcare to individuals, families, and the communities it serves regardless of a
patient's ability to pay. The Heaith System actively supports corrimunity-based healthcare and
promotes the coordination of services among healthcare providers and social services
organizations, in addition, the Health System seeks to work coliaborativeiy with other area
healthcare providers to improve the heaith status of the region. As a component of an integrated
academic medical center, the Health System provides significant support for academic and

.  research programs. '
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

Certain member hospitals of the Health System file annual Community Benefits Reports with the
State of NH, which outline the community and charitable benefits each provides. VT hospitals are
not required by law to file a state Community Benefit Report. The categories used in the
Community Benefit Reports to summarize these benefits are as follows:

•  .Community Health Improvement Services include activities carried out to improve community
health, and could include community health education (such as classes, programs, support
groups, and materials that promote wellness and prevent illness), community-based clinical
services (such as free clinics and health screenings), and healthcare support services
(enrollment assistance in public programs, assistance in obtaining free or reduced costs
medications, telephone information services, or transportation programs to enhance access to
care, etc.).

•  Health Professions Education includes uncompensated costs of training medical students,
residents, nurses, and other health care professionals

•  Subsidized Health Services are services provided by the Health System, resulting in financial
losses that meet the needs of the community and would not otherwise be available unless the
responsibility was assumed by the government.

•  Research includes costs, in excess of awards, for numerous health research and service
initiatives within the Health System.

•  Cash and In-Kind Contributions occur outside of the System through various financial
contributions of cash, in-kind donations, and grants to local organizations.

•  Community-Building. Activities include expenses incurred to support the development of
programs and partnerships intended to address public health challenges, as well as social and
economic determinants of health. Examples include physical improvements and housing,
economic development, support system enhancements, environmental improvements,
leadership development and training for community members, community health improvement
advocacy, and workforce enhancement.

•  Charity Care includes losses, at-cost, incurred by providing health care services to persons
qualifying for hospital financial assistance programs.

•  The .Uncompensated Cost of Care for Medicaid patients reported in the unaudited Community
Benefits Reports for 2022 was approximately $235,081,000. The 2023 Community Benefits
Reports are expected to be filed in February 2024.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

The following table summarizes the value of the community benefit initiatives outlined in the Health
System's most recently filed Community Benefit Reports for the year ended June 30, 2022;

(in thousands of dollars)

Uncompensated cost of care for Medicaid $ 235,081
Health professional education 43,186

Subsidized health services ' 21,202

Charity care 16,011

Community health improvement services 15,695
Research ' 7,254

Cash and In-Kind Contributions 4,001

Community building activities 2,834

Total community benefit value $ 345,264

In fiscal years 2023 and 2022, funds received to offset or subsidize charity care costs provided
were $439,000 and $452,000, respectively.

For fiscal year 2022, Medicare costs exceeding reimbursement totaled $157,615,000. /

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
have been prepared consistent with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 954, Healthcare Entities, which addresses the accounting for
healthcare entities. The net assets, revenue, expenses, gains, and losses of healthcare entities-
are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net
assets without donor restrictions are amounts not subject to donor-imposed stipulations and are
available for operations.- Net assets with donor restrictions are those whose use has been limited
by donors' to a specific time period or purpose, or whose use has been restricted by donors to be
maintained in perpetuity. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated upon
consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant areas that are
affected by the use of estimates include implicit and explicit pricing concessions, valuation of
certain investments, estimated third-party settlements, insurance reserves, and pension
obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

Deficiency of Revenue over Expenses
The Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets include the deficiency of
revenue over expenses. Operating revenues consist of those items attributable to the care of
patients, including contributions and investment income (loss) on investments of net assets without
donor restrictions, which are utilized to provide charity and other operational support. Peripheral
activities, including realized gains/losses on sales of investment securities and changes in
unrealized gains/losses on investments are reported as non-operating gains (losses).

Changes in net assets without donor restrictions which are excluded from the deficiency of revenue
over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions of long-lived assets
(including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for the
purpose of acquiring" such assets), and change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefit plans.

Charity Care
The -Health System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under their financial
assistance policies without charge, or at amounts less than their established rates. Because the
Health System does not anticipate collection of amounts qualifying as charity care, they are not
reported as revenue.

The Health System grants credit, without collateral, to patients. Most are local residents and are
insured under third-party arrangements. The amount of charges for implicit price concessions is
based upon management's assessment of historical and expected net collections, business and
economic conditions, trends in federal and state governmental healthcare coverage, and other
collection indicators (Notes 1 and 4).

Patient Service Revenue

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (ASC 606). Patient service revenue is reported at the amount of consideration to which
the Health System expects to be entitled from patients, third party payors, and others, for services
rendered, including estimated retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-
party payors and implicit pricing concessions. Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an
estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as
estimates change or final settlements are determined (Note 4).

Contracted Revenue

The Health System has various Professional Service Agreements (PSAs), pursuant to which
certain organizations purchase services of personnel employed by the Health System and also
lease space and equipment. Revenue pursuant to these PSAs, and certain facility and equipment
leases and other professional service contracts, have been classified as contracted revenue in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets.

Other Revenue

The Health System recognizes other revenue, which is not related to patient medical care but is
•central to the day-to-day operations of the Health System. Other revenue, which consists primarily
of revenue from retail pharmacy, specialty pharmacy, and contract pharmacy, is recorded in the
amounts to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the prescriptions. Other revenue also
includes Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Securities Act (CARES Act Provider Relief Funds)

10
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

from the Department of ..Health and Human Services (HHS), CARES Act Employee Retention
Credit Funds, operating agreements, grant revenue, cafeteria'sales, and other support service
revenue {Note 3 and 4).

Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents Include amounts on deposit with financial institutions, short-term
investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase, and other highly liquid
Investments (primarily cash management funds), which would be considered level 1 investments
under the fair value hierarchy. All short-term, highly liquid, investments included within the Health
System's endowment and similar investment pools, otherwise qualifying as cash equivalents, are
classified as investments at fair value and, therefore, are excluded from cash and cash equivalents

in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Investments and Investment Income (Loss)
Investments in equity securities with readily determlnable fair values, mutual funds, governmental
securities, debt securities, and pooled/commingled funds are reported at fair value with changes in
fair value included in the deficiency of revenues over expenses. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date (Note 7).

Investments in pooled/commingled investment funds, private equity funds, and hedge funds that
represent investments where the Health System owns shares or units of funds rather than the
underlying securities in that fund are valued using the equity method of accounting with changes in
value recorded in the deficiency of revenue over expenses.

Certain members of the Health System are partners in a NH general partnership established for the
purpose of operating a master investment program of pooled investment accounts. Substantially
all of the Health System's board-designated and assets with donor restrictions, such as endowment
funds, were invested in these pooled funds by purchasing units based on the market value of the
pooled funds at the end of the month prior to receipt of any new additions to the funds. Interest,
dividends, and realized and unrealized gains and losses earned on pooled funds are allocated
monthly based on the weighted average units outstanding at the prior month-end.

Investment income or losses (including change In unrealized and realized gains and losses on
Investments, change in value of equity method investments, interest, and dividends) are included in
the deficiency of revenue over expenses and classified as non-operating gains and losses, unless
the income or loss is restricted by donor or law (Note 9).

Fair Value Measurement of Financial instruments

The Health System estimates fair value based on a valuation framework that uses a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure'fair value. The
hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for Identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurerhents). The three levels of fair value hierarchy, as defined by ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, are described below:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement
date for assets or liabilities.
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Level 2 Prices other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the date of measurement. '

Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.

The carrying amounts of patient accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.

Property, plant, and equipment
Property, plant, and equipment, and other real estate are stated at cost at the time of purchase or
fair value at the time of donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Health System's policy is to
capitalize expenditures for major improvements and to charge expense for maintenance and repair
expenditures which do not extend the lives of the related assets. The provision for depreciation
has been determined using the straight-line method at rates which are intended to amortize the
cost of assets over their estimated useful lives which range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and
improvements, 2 to 20 years for equipment, and the shorter of the lease term, or 5 to 12 years; for
leasehold improvements. Certain software development costs are amortized using the straight-line
method over a period of up to 10 years. Net interest cost Incurred on borrowed funds during the
period of construction of capital assets is capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those
assets.

Gifts of capital assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are reported as support, and excluded
from the deficiency of revenue over expenses, unless explicit donor stipulations specify how the
donated assets must be used. Gifts of capital assets with explicit restrictions that specify how the
assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire capital assets
are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those capital
assets must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the donated or
acquired capital assets are placed in service.

Bond Issuance Costs

Bond issuance costs, classified on the consolidated balance sheets within long-term debt, are
amortized over the term of the related bonds. Amortization is recorded within interest expense in
the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets using the straight-line method
which approximates the effective interest method.
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Intangible Assets and Goodwill
The Health System records within other assets on the consolidated balance sheets goodwill and
intangible assets such as trade names and leases-in-place. . The Health System considers trade
names and goodwill to be indefinite-lived assets, assesses them at least annually for Inipairment or
more frequently if certain events or circumstances warrant and recognizes impairment charges for
amounts by which the carrying values exceed their fair values. The Health System has recorded
$8,367,000 and $8,885,000 as intangible assets as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Gifts

Gifts without donor restrictions are recorded net of related expenses as non-operating gains.
Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give to the Health System are reported
at fair value at the date the gift is received. Gifts are reported with donor restrictions if they are
received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction
expires, that is. when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net
assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions and reported
in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as net assets released
from restrictions.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In March 2020, January 2021, and April 2022, the FASB issued standard updates on Reference
Rate Reform in response to the planned discontinuation of the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate
(LIBOR), a key interbank reference rate. The standard provides accounting relief to contract
modifications and optional expedients for applying U.S. GAAP to contracts and other transactions
that reference LIBOR or other reference rates that are expected to be discontinued because of rate
reform. The Health System is currently in the process of evaluating the impact of adoption of these
standards on the financial statements.

3. The COVID-19 Pandemic

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization designated COVID-19 as a global pandemic
resulting in an extraordinary disruption to our nation's healthcare system. In response to COVID-
19, the Coronavirus Aid Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act was enacted which provided
different types of economic support to a wide variety of organizations and individuals. The Health
System employed several CARES Act provisions, with the most significant impacts summarized

, below.

Health and Human Services Provider Relief Funds

The Health System received $1,822,000 and $100,346,000 in CARES Act Provider Relief Funds
for the years ended June 30. 2023 and 2022, respectively.

In July 2020, HHS .issued reporting requirements for CARES Act Provider Relief Funds, requiring
recipients to identify-healthcare-related expenses that remain unreimbursed by another source,
attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic. If those expenses do not exceed the funding received,
recipients will need to demonstrate that the remaining funds were used to compensate for a
negative variance in patient service revenue. HHS is entitled to recoup Provider Relief Funds
awarded in excess of expenses attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic that were not reimbursed

13
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by another source plus losses incurred due to the decline in patient care revenue. There have been
no recoupments through June 30. 2023.

Medicare and Medicald Services (CMS) Accelerated and Advance Payment Program

The Health System received CMS prepayment advances, related to the CARES Act, totaling
$245,200,000. In addition, the Health System accumulated payroll tax deferrals of $33,100,000.
Repayment of funds commenced In April 2021. The balances of CMS prepayment advances and
accumulated payroll tax deferrals at June 30, 2022 were $54,890,000 and $16,550,000,
respectively, and are included in estimated third party settlements and accrued compensation and
related benefits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amounts for CMS prepayment advances
and payroll tax deferrals were repaid, in full, during the year ended June 30, 2023.

The Health System continues to address the challenges and impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic,
including protecting the health and safety of employees and patients, as well as assessing the
availability of personal protective equipment and other needed supplies to be better positioned for
potential surges. Additionally, the Health System continues to evaluate the impact of new or
changes to laws and regulations at the federal, state, and local levels and the potential effect on

■  "Health System staffing and operations. At this time, the Health System remains unable to
accurately predict the full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will affect the Health System's
future finances and operations.

4. Net Patient Service Revenue and Accounts Receivable

The Health System reports net patient service revenue at amounts that reflect the consideration to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care. These amounts are due from
patients, third-party payers (including managed care payers and government programs), and
others; and they include variable consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to
settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the Health System bills patients and
third-party payers several days after the services were performed or shortly after discharge.
Revenue Is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied under contracts by providing
healthcare services to patients.

The Health System determines performance obligations based on'the nature of the services
proyided. Revenues for performance obligations satisfied over time are recognized based on
actual charges incurred in relation to total expected charges as this method provides a reasonable
estimate of the transfer of services over the term of performance obligations based on inputs
needed to satisfy the obligations. Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to
patients receiving inpatient acute care services. For inpatient services, performance obligations
are measured from admission to the point when there are no further services required for the.
patient, which Is generally the time of discharge. For outpatient services and physician services,
performance obligations are recognized at a point in time when the services are provided and no

.  further patient services are deerned necessary.

Generally, the Health System's patient service performance obligations relate to contracts with a
duration of less than one year, therefore the Health System has elected to apply the optional
exemption provided in ASC 606-10-50-14a and, therefore, we are not required to disclose the
aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied
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or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. This generally refers to inpatient services
at the end of the reporting period. The performance obligations for thesexontracts are generally
completed when the patients are discharged, which generally occurs within days or weeks of the
end of the reporting period.

Established charges represent gross charges. They are not the same as actual pricing, and they
generally do not reflect what a hospital is ultimately entitled to for services it provides. Therefore,
they are not displayed in the Health System's consolidated statements of operations and changes
in net assets.

Hospitals are paid amounts negotiated with insurance companies or set by government entities,
which are typically less than established or standard charges. Gross charges are used to calculate
Medicare outlier payments and to determine certain elements of payment under managed care
contracts. Gross charges are what hospitals charge all. patients prior to the application of
contractual adjustments and implicit price concessions.

Explicit Pricing Concessions
Revenues for the Health System under the traditional fee-for-service' Medicare and Medicaid
programs are based on prospectively determined rates per discharge or visit, reasonable
(allowable) cost, or prospective rates per episodic period, depending on the type of provider.

•  - Inpatient acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid using the
prospective payment system (PPS) to determine rates-per-discharge. These rates vary
according to a patient classification system (DRG), based on diagnostic, clinical, and other
factors. In addition, inpatient capital costs (depreciation and interest) are reimbursed by
Medicare on the basis of a prospectively determined rate per discharge. Medicare
outpatient services are paid on a prospective payment system, based on a pre-determined
amount for each outpatient procedure (APC), subject to various maridated modifications..
Retrospectively determined cost-based revenues under these programs, such as indirect
medical education, direct graduate medical education, disproportionate share hospital,
transplant services, and bad debt reimbursement are based on the hospital's cost reports
and are estimated using historical trends and current factors. The Health System's
payments for inpatient services rendered to NH and VT Medicaid beneficiaries are based on
PPS, while outpatient services are reimbursed on a retrospective cost basis, or fee
schedules, for NH beneficiaries. VT outpatient beneficiaries are paid on a prospective basis
per outpatient procedure.

Inpatient acute, swing, and outpatient services furnished by Critical Access Hospitals (CAH)
are reimbursed by Medicare at 101% of reasonable costs, subject to 2% sequestration,
excluding ambulance services and inpatient hospice care.

Providers of home health services to patients eligible for Medicare home health benefits are
paid on a prospective basis, with no retrospective settlement. The prospective payment is
based on the scoring attributed to the acuity level of the patient at a rate determined by
federal guidelines.
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Hospice services to patients eligible for Medicare hospice benefits are paid on a per diem
basis, with no retrospective settlement, provided the aggregate annual Medicare
reimbursement is below a predetermined aggregate capitated rate.

The Health System's cost-based services to Medicare and Medicaid are reimbursed during
the year, based on varying interim payment methodologies. Final settlement is determined
after the submission of an annual cost report and subject to audit of this report by Medicare
and Medicaid auditors, as well as administrative and judicial review. Because the laws,

regulations, and rule interpretations governing Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement are
complex and change frequently, the estimates recorded could change over time by material
amounts.

Revenues under'^Managed Care Plans (MGRs) consist primarily of payment terms involving
mutually agreed upon rates per diagnosis, discounted fee-for-service rates, or similar

.  contractual arrangements. These revenues are also subject to review and possible audit.
The MCPs are billed for patient services on an individual patient basis. An individual
patient's bill is subject to adjustments, in accordance with contractual terms in place with the
MCPs following their review and adjudication of each bill.

The Health System is not aware of any claims, disputes, or unsettled matters with any payer, that
would materially affect its revenues, for which it has not adequately provided in the accompanying
Health System's consolidated financial statements.

The Health System provides charity care to patients who are unable to pay for healthcare services
they receive as determined by , financial conditions. Patients who qualify receive partial or full
adjustments to charges for services rendered. The Health System's policy is to treat amounts
qualified as charity care as explicit price concessions and, as such, are not reported in net patient
service revenue.

Vermont imposes a provider tax on home health agencies In the amount of 4.25% of Vermont
annual net patient revenue. In fiscal years 2023 and 2022, home health provider taxes paid were
$'579,000 and $627,000, respectively.

Implicit Price Concessions
Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payer contracts are responsible for related co-
pays, co-insurance, and deductibles, which vary depending on the contractual obligations of
patients. The Health System also provides services to uninsured patients and offers those patients
a discount from standard charges. The Health System estimates the transaction price for patients
with co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles. and for those who are uninsured, based on historical
collection experience and current market conditions. The discount offered to uninsured patients
reduces the transaction price at the time of billing. The uninsured and patient responsible accounts,
net of discounts recorded, are further reduced through implicit price concessions based on
historical collection trends for similar accounts and other-known factors that impact the estimation

process. Subsequent changes to the estimate of transaction price are generally recorded as
adjustments to net patient services revenue] in the period of change.

The implicit price concessions included in estimating the transaction price represent the difference
between amounts billed to patients and the amounts the Health System expects to collect based on
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collection history with similar patients. Although outcomes vary, the Health System's policy is to
attempt to collect amounts due from patients, including co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles due
from insurance at the time of service while complying with all federal and state statutes and
regulations, including but not limited to, the Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act
(EMTALA). Through various systems and processes the Health System estimates Medicare and
Medicaid net patient service revenue and cost report settlements and accrues final expected
settlements. For filed cost reports, the accrual is recorded based on those filings, subsequent
activity, and on historical trends and other relevant evidence. For periods in which a cost report is
yet to be filed, accruals are based on estimates of what is expected to be reported, and any trends
and relevant evidence. Cost reports generally must be filed within five months of the closing
period.

Settlements with third-party payers for retroactive revenue adjustments due to audits, reviews or
investigations are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the
estimated transaction price for providing patient care using the most likely amount. These
settlements are estimated based on'the terms of the payment agreement with the payer,
correspondence from the payer, and historical settlement activity, including assessments to ensure
that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved.
Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known, or as years
are settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews or investigations.

For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, additional increases in revenue of $24,098,000 and
$19,743,000, respectively, were recognized, due to' changes in estimates of implicit price
concessions for performance obligations satisfied in prior years.

Net" operating revenues consist primarily of patient service, revenues, principally for patients
covered by Medicare, Medicaid, managed care and other health plans, as well as patients covered
under the Health System's uninsured discount and charity care programs.
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The table below shows the Health System's sources of total operating revenue and other support
presented at the net transaction price for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

2023

(in thousands of dollars) PPS CAH Total

Hospital
Medicare $ 587,377 $  106,370 $  693,747

Medicaid 168,410 18,824 187,234

Commercial 862,502 88,492 950,994

Self-pay 11,307 802 12,109

Subtotal 1,629,596 214,488 1,844,084

Professional 504,370 35,578 539,948

Subtotal 2,133,966 250,066 2,384,032

Home based care 13,125

Subtotal 2,397,157

Other revenue 706,242

Provider Relief Funds 1,822

Total operating revenue and other support
-

$  3,105,221

2022

(in thousands of dollars) PPS CAH Total

Hospital
Medicare $ 542,292 $  99,976 $  642,268

Medicaid 158,121 15,739 173,860.

Commercial 809,736 81,395 891,131

Self-pay 7,027 902 7,929

Subtotal 1,517,176 198,012 1,715,188

Professional 470,559 40,186 510,745

Subtotal 1,987,735 238,198 2,225,933

Home based care
r

17,304

Subtotal 2,243,237

Other revenue 528,762

Provider Relief Funds 98,829

Total operating revenue and other support $  2,870,828
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Medicaid Enhancement Tax & Disproportionate Share Hospital
On May 22, 2018, the State of New Hampshire and all New Hampshire hospitals (Hospitals)
agreed to resolve disputed issues and enter into a seven-year agreement to stabilize
Disproportionate Share Hospital (DSH) payments, with provisions for alternative payments in the
event of legislative changes to the DSH program. Under the agreement, the State committed to
make DSH payments to the Hospitals in an amount no less than 86% of the Medicaid
Enhancement Tax (MET) proceeds collected in each fiscal year, in addition to providing for directed
payments or increased rates for Hospitals in an amount equal to 5% of MET proceeds collected

from state fiscal year (SPY) 2021 through SPY 2024. The agreement prioritizes DSH payments to
critical access hospitals in an amount equal to 75% of allowable uncompensated care (UCC), with
the remainder distributed to Hospitals without critical access designation In proportion to their
allowable UCC amounts.

During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System received DSH payments of
approximately, $85,853,000 and $77,488,000, respectively. DSH payments are subject to audit
and, therefore, for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System recognized as
revenue DSH receipts of approximately $83,582,000 and approximately $75,988,000, respectively.

During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System recorded $85,715,000 and
582,725,000, respectively, of State of NH MET and State of VT provider ,taxes. The taxes are
calculated at 5.4% for NH and 6.0% for VT of certain patient service revenues. The Provider taxes
are included in operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes In
Net Assets.

Accounts Receivable

The following table categorizes payors into four groups based on their respective percentages of
patient accounts receivable as of June 30, 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022

Medicare 36% 38%

Medicaid 12% . ,12%

Commercial 41% 38%

Self Pay m ]2^

^  Total 100% 100%

19



DocuSign Envelope ID: C1E3457B-8A67-432C-A985-CFOFC0FC0DB7

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

5. Investments

The composition of investments at June 30, 2023 and 2022 is set forth in the following table:

(in thousands of dollars) , 2023 2022

Assets limited as to use

"internally designated by board
Cash and short-term investments $  6,988 $  31,130

U.S. government securities 80,595 126,222

Domestic corporate debt securities 271,321 .234,490
Global debt securities 37,092 68,610

Domestic equities 205,200 198,742

International equities 75,199 • 63,634

Emerging markets equities 37,080 34,636

Global equities ' 77,479 73,035

Real Estate Investment Trust 2 2^-

Private equity funds 141,808 138,605

Hedge funds 44,558 55,069

Subtotal 977,322 1.024,175

Investments held by captive insurance companies (Note 12)
U.S. government securities . - 30,366 27,242

Domestic corporate debt securities 13,918 7,902

Global debt securities 13,180 7,595

Domestic equities 13,994 10,091

International equities i 5,372 4,692

Subtotal 76,830 57,522

Held by trustee under indenture agreement (Note 10)
Cash and short-term investments 17,310 99,397

Total assets limited as to use 1,071,462 1,181,094

Other Investments for restricted activities

Cash and short-term investments 21,243 8,463

U.S. government securities 27,323 27,600

Domestic corporate debt securities 45,864 37,343

Global debt securities 5,282 10,059

Domestic equities 30,754 34,142

International equities 11,054 10,698

■ Emerging markets equities 5,187 5,587

Global equities 10,281 11,153

Real Estate Investment Trust 18 19

Private equity funds 18,816 21,166

Hedge funds 6,368 8,852

Other 34 34

Total other investments for restricted activities 182,224 175,116

Total investments $ 1,253,686 $ 1,356,210
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Investments are accounted for using either the fair value method or equity method of accounting,
as appropriate on a case-by-case basis. The fair value method is used for all debt securities and
equity securities that are traded on active markets and are valued at prices that are readily
available in those markets. The equity method is used when investments are made in
pooled/commingled investment funds that represent investments where shares or units are owned
of pooled funds rather than the underlying securities in that fund. These pooled/commingled funds
make underlying Investments in securities from the asset classes listed above.

The following tables summarize investments by the accounting method utilized as of June 30, 2023
and 2022. Accounting standards require disclosure of additional information for those securities
accounted for using the fair value method, as shown in Note 7.

2023

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Eaultv Total

Cash and short-term investments $  45,541 $ -  $ 45,541

U.S. government securities 138,284 - 138,284

Domestic corporate debt securities 122,320 208,783 331,103

Global debt securities 55,554 - ■  55,554

Domestic equities 204,541 45,407 , 249,948

International equities 57,221 34,404 91,625

Emerging markets equities 267 42,000 42,267

Global equities , - 87,760 ^ 87,760

Real Estate Investment Trust 20 - 20

Private equity funds - 160,624 160,624

Hedge funds 456 50,470 50,926

Other 34 - 34

Total investments $  624,238 $ 629,448 $ 1,253,686

2022

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Eauitv Total

Cash and short-term investments ,  $ 138,990 $ -  $ 138,990

U.S. government securities 181,064 - 181,064

Domestic corporate debt securities 118,642 161,093 279,735

Global debt securities 57,558 28,706 86,264

Domestic equities 191,767 51,208 242,975

International equities 47,631 31,393 79,024

Emerging markets equities 298 39,926 40,224

Global equities - 84,187 84,187

Real Estate Investment Trust 21 - 21

Private equity funds . . - 159,771 159,771

Hedge funds 443 63,478 63,921

Other ■  34 - 34

Total investments $  736,448 $. 619,762 $ 1,356,210
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For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, investment income (loss) is reflected in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets as other
operating revenue of approximately $905,000 and $857,000, respectively, and as non-operating
gains (losses) of approximately $58,119,000 and ($78,744,000), respectively.

Private equity limited partnership shares are not eligible for redemption from the fund or general
partner. It is the intent of the Health System to hold these investments until the fund has fully
distributed all proceeds to the limited partners and the term of the partnership agreements expire.
Under the terms of these agreements, the Health System has committed to contribute a specified
level of capital over a defined period of time. Through June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System
has outstanding commitments of $79,753,000 and $75,070,000, respectively.

6. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment consists of the following at June 30, 2023 and 2022:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Land $  40,749 :5  40,749

Construction in progress 43J17 163,145

Land improvements 52,054 44,834

Buildings and improvements 1,166,776 984,743

Equipment 1,101,410 1,042,582

Subtotal property, plant, and equipment 2,404,106 2,276,053.

Less accumulated depreciation 1,592,484 1,511,213

Total property, plant, and equipment, net $  811,622 :i  764,840

As of June 30, 2023, construction in progress primarily consists of four projects: the Family and
Community Care Clinic located in Keene, NH, the renovation of inpatient wings as part of the
Pavilion backfill project located in Lebanon, NH, and two lab software upgrades to the Lebanon
campus. The estimated cost to complete the construction in progress is approximately $10,700,000.

The construction in progress as of June 30, 2022, included the in-patient tower, the emergency
department (ED) expansion and the central pharmacy/supply chain facility renovation. All were
placed in service during the year ended June 30,2023.

Capitalized interest of $59,000 and $6,853,000 is included in construction in progress as of June 30,
2023 and 2022, respectively.

Depreciation expense included in operating activities was $87,029,000 and $83,661,000 for 2023 and
2022, respectively.
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7. Fair Value Measurements

The following Is a description of the valuation methodologies for assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis; '

Cash and Short-Term Investments

Consists of money market funds and are valued at net asset value (NAV) reported by the financial
institution and cash which will be used for future investment opportunities.

Domestic, Emerging Markets and international Equities
Consists of actively traded equity securities and mutual funds which are valued at the closing price
reported on an active market on which the individual securities are traded (Level 1 measurements).

U.S. Government Securities, Domestic Corporate and Global Debt Securities
Consists of U.S. government securities, domestic corporate and global debt securities, mutual
funds and pooled/commingled funds that invest in U.S. government securities, domestic corporate
and global debt securities. Securities are valued based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes
where available (Level 1 measurement). If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are
based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments or, if necessary, matrix pricing from a
third party pricing vendor to determine fair value (Level 2 measurements). Matrix prices are based
on quoted prices for securities with similar coupons, ratings and maturities, rather than on specific
bids and offers for a designated security. Investments in mutual funds are measured based on the
quoted NAV as of the close of business in the respective active market (Level 1 measurements).
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■i

Investments are classified In their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. The following tables set forth the consolidated financial assets and
liabilities that were accounted for,at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2023 and 2022;

2023

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets
Investments

Cash and short term investments $  45,541 gi  - g5  - $;  45,541
U.S. government securities 138,284 - - 138,284
Domestic corporate debt securities 41,351 80,969 . 122,320
Global debt securities 24,429 31,125 . 55.554
Domestic equities 200,252 4,289 . 2041541
International equities 57,221 - . 57,221
Emerging market equities .  267 - . 267
Real estate investment trust 20 - . 20
Hedge funds ■  456 - - 456
Other - 34 - 34

Total fair value investments . 507,821 116,417 _ 624,238

Deferred compensation plan assets
Cash and short-term investments 11,893 - . 11,893
U.S. government securities 40 - . 40
Domestic corporate debt securities 10,453 - - 10,453
Global debt securities 16 - . 16
Domestic equities 41,841 - - 41,841
International equities 5.874 > - 5,874
Emerging market equities 21 - - 21
Real estate 14 - - 14
Multi strategy fund 62,689 - - 62,689

Total deferred compensation
plan assets 132,841 - - 132,841

Beneficial interest in trusts - . 14,875 14,875
Total assets 3S  640,662 $ 116,417 $ 14,875 $ 771,954
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2022

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Investments

Cash and short term investments $  138,990 3:  - $ -  $ 138,990

U.S. government securities 181,064 - • 181,064

Domestic corporate debt securities 1,768 116,874 - 118,642

Global debt securities 24,745 32,813 - 57,558

Domestic equities 187,063 4,704 - 191,767

International equities , 47,631 - - 47,631

Emerging market equities 298 - - 298

Real estate investment trust 21 . - - 21

Hedge funds 443 - - 443

Other - 34 - 34

Total fair value investments 582,023 154,425 . 736,448

Deferred compensation plan assets

Cash and short-term investments 8,053 - - 8,053

U.S. government securities 36 - - 36

Domestic corporate debt securities 10,874 -  • - 10,874

Global debt securities 964 - - 964

Domestic equities 33,742 - - 33,742

International equities 4,911 - • 4,911

Emerging market equities 19 - - 19

Real estate 12 - - 12

Multi strategy fund 57,964 - - 57,964

Total deferred compensation

plan assets 116,575 - 116,575

Beneficial interest in trusts - - 16,051 16,051

Total assets $  698,598 3i  154,425 $ 16,051 5 869,074

There were no transfers into or out of Level 1, 2, or 3 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

There were no liquidations of Level 3 measurements during the years ended June 30, 2023 and
2022.
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8. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes at June 30, 2023 and
2022:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Investments held in perpetuity $  88,926 $  84,117

Healthcare services 38,596 ■36,123
Research 28,176 27,477
Health education 27,374 27,164
Charity care 12,486 12,155
Other 10,825 8,639
Purchase of equipment 3,950 3,828

Total net assets with donor restrictions $  210,333 $  199,503

9. Board Designated and Endowment Funds

. Net assets include funds established for a variety of purposes including both, donor-restricted
endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as endowments. Net
assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of Trustees to
function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions.

The Health System has interpreted the NH and VT Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Acts (UPMIFA or Act) for donor-restricted endowment funds as requiring the preservation of
the original value of gifts, as of the gift date, to donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit
donor stipulations to the contrary. The Health System's net assets with donor restrictions, which
are to be held in perpetuity, consist of (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent
endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to be held in perpetuity, and (c)
accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the
applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund, if any.
Collectively these amounts are referred to as the historic dollar value of the fund.

Net assets without donor restrictions include funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function
as endowments, the income from certain donor-restricted endowment funds, and any accumulated
investment return thereon, which pursuant to donor intent may be expended based on trustee or
management designation. Net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature, either
restricted by time or purpose, include funds appropriated for expenditure pursuant to endowment
and investment spending'policies, certain expendable endowment gifts from donors, and any
retained income and appreciation on donor-restricted endowment funds, which are restricted by the
donor to a specific purpose or by law. When the restrictions on these funds have been met, the
funds are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions.

In accordance with the Act. the Health System considers the following factors in making a
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: the duration and
preservation of the fund; the purposes of the donor-restricted endowment fund; general economic
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conditions: the possible effect of inflation and deflation; the expected total return from income and
the appreciation of investments; other resources available; and investment policies.

The Health System has endowment investment and spending policies that attempt to provide a
predictable stream of funding for programs supported by its endowment while ensuring that the
purchasing power does not decline over time. The Health System targets a diversified asset
allocation that places emphasis on investments in domestic and international equities,, fixed
income, private equity, and hedge fund strategies to achieve its long-term return objectives within
prudent risk constraints. The Health System's Investment Committee reviews the policy portfolio
asset allocations, exposures, and risk profile on an ongoing basis.

The Health System, as a policy, may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an
endowment fund as the institution determines is prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and
duration for which the endowment is established, subject to donor intent expressed in the gift
instrument and the standard of prudence prescribed by the Act.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment

funds may fall below their original contributed value. Such market losses were not material as of
June 30, 2023 and 2022.

Endowment net asset composition by type of fund consists of the following at June 30, 2023 and
2022: " ^

(in thousands of dollars)

Donor-restricted endowment funds

Board-designated endowment funds

Total endowed net assets

28,688

2023

Without With

Donor Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total

111,843

28,688

28,688 $ 111,843 $ 140,531

$  111,843 $

(in thousands of dollars)

Donor-restricted endowment funds

Board-designated endowment funds

Total endowed net assets

2022

Without With

Donor Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total

107,590

41.344

41,344 $ 107,590 $ 148,934

41,344

,$ 107,590 $
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Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended June 30. 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

2023

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Beginning of year balances $  41,344 $  107,590 $ 148,934

Net investment return 212 1,305 1,517

Contributions - 3,201 3,201

Transfers (12,743) 2,561 (10,182)

Release of appropriated funds ■  (125) (2,814) (2,939)

End of year balances $  28,688 $  111,843 $ 140,531

End of year balances 111,843

Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 13,954

Net assets with donor restrictions $  125,797

2022

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Beginning of year balances $  41,728 $  108,213 $ . 149,941

Net investment return (1,065) (3,998) (5,063)

Contributions - 12,950 12,950

Transfers 795 (7.105) (6,310)

Release of appropriated funds (114) (2,470) (2,584)

End of year balances $  41,344 $  107,590 $ 148,934

End of year balances 107,590

Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 14,903

Net assets with donor restrictions $  122,493
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10. Long-Term Debt

A summary of obligated group debt at June 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows;

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Variable rate issues /

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities

Authority (NHHEFA) Revenue Bonds '

Series 2018A, principal maturing in varying annual.
amounts, through August 2037 (1) $  83,355 $ 83,355

Fixed rate issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities

Authority Revenue Bonds
Series 20186, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2048 (1) 303,102 303,102

Series 2020A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2059 (2) ,  125,000 125,000

Series 2017A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2040 (3) 122,435 122,435

Series 2017B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2031 (3) 109,800 109,800

Series 2019A, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2043 (4) 99,165 99,165

Series 20180. principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2030 (5) 22,860 23,950

Series 2012, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through July 2039 (6) 21,715 22,605

Series 2014B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2033 (7) 14,530 14,530

Series 20166, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2045 (8) ' 10,970 10,970

Series 2014A, principal maturing in varying annual
arhounts, through August 2022 (7) - 4,810

Note payable

Note payable to a financial institution due in monthly interest
only payments through May 2035 (9) 125,000 125,000

Total obligated group debt $  1,037,932 $ 1,044,722
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A summary of long-term debt at June 30. 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Other

Mortgage note payable to the US Dept of Agriculture;
monthly payments of $10,892 include interest of 2.375%

'through November2046 $ 2.343 $ - 2,417

Note payable to a financial institution with entire
principal due June 2034; collateralized by land

and building. The note payable is interest free 232 247
Note payable to a financial institution payable in interest free
monthly installments through December 2024;
collateralized by associated equipment 32 55

Total nonobligated group debt 2,607 2,719

Total obligated group debt 1,037,932 1,044,722

Total long-term debt 1,040,539 1,047,441

Add: Original issue premium and discounts, net 80,112 83,249

Less: Current portion 15,236 6,596
Debt issuance costs, net 6,453 6,806

Total long-term'debt, net $ 1,098,962 $ 1,117.288

Aggregate annual principal payments for the next five years ending June 30 and thereafter are as
follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023

2024 $ 15,236

2025 19,363

2026 20,209

2027 20,915

2028 21,574

•  Thereafter 943,242

Total $ 1,040,539

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Obligated Group (DHOG) Debt

MHMH established the DHOG for the purpose of issuing bonds financed through NHHEFA or the
"Authority". The members of the obligated group at June 30, 2023 consist of D-HH, MHMH, DHC,
NLH, MAHHC, and APD. The members of the obligated group at June 30, 2022 consisted of D-HH,
MHMH, DHC, Cheshire, NLH, MAHHC, and APD. D-HH is designated as the obligated group
agent.
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Effective June 26, 2023, after approval from the D-HH Board of Trustees, Cheshire withdrew from
the DHOG. The Cheshire Series 2012 bonds and the related obligated group note securing the
Cheshire bonds, will remain outstanding and therefore constitute a continuing joint and several
obligation of the DHOG.

Revenue bonds, issued by members of the DHOG, are administered through notes registered in
the name of the Bond Trustee and in accordance with the terms of a Master Trust Indenture. The

Master Trust Indenture contains provisions permitting the addition, withdrawal, or consolidation of
members of the DHOG under certain conditions. The notes constitute a joint and several obligation
of the members of the DHOG {and any other future members of the DHOG) and are equally and
ratably collateralized by a pledge of the members' gross receipts. The DHOG is also subject to
certain annual covenants under the Master Trust Indenture, the most restrictive is the Annual Debt

Service Coverage Ratio (1.1 Ox).

(1) Series 2018A and Series 2018B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A and Series 2018B.'ln February
2018. The Series 2018A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2037 and were
used primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and Series 2016A revenue bonds. The
Series 2018B revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2048, and were used
primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and Series 2016A revenue bonds, revolving line of
credit. Series 2012 bank loan, and the Series 2015A and Series 2016A swap terminations. The
interest on the Series 2018A revenue bonds is variable, with a current interest rate of 5.00%.
The Interest on the Series 2018B revenue bonds is fixed, With an interest rate of 4.18%, and

matures in variable amounts through 2048.

(2) Series 2020A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2020A, in February 2020. The Series
2020A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2059 and the proceeds are being
used primarily to fund the construction of a 212,000 square foot inpatient pavilion in Lebanon,
NH, as well as various equipment. The interest on the Series 2020A revenue bonds is fixed,
with an interest rate of 5.00%.

(3) Series 2017A and Series 2017B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A and Series 2017B, in December
2017. The Series 2017A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2040 and were
used primarily to refund Series 2009 and Series 2010 revenue bonds. The Series 2017B
revenue bqnds mature in variable amounts through 2031 and were used to refund Series
2012A and Series 2012B.revenue bonds. The interest on the Series 2017A revenue bonds is

' fixed, with an interest rate of 5.00%. The interest on the Series 2017B revenue bonds Is fixed,
with an interest rate of 2.54%.

(4) Series 2019A Revenue Bonds ,

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2019A, in October 2019. The Series

2019A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2043 and were used primarily to
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fund the construction of a 91,000 square foot expansion of facilities in Manchester, NH, to
include an Ambulatory Surgical Center as welt as various equipment. The interest on the
Series 2019A revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.00%.

(5) Series 2018C Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 20180, in August 2018. The Series 20180
revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2030 and were used primarily to refinance
the-Series 2010 revenue bonds. The interest on the Series Is fixed, with an interest rate of

3.22%.

(6) Series 2012 Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2012, in November 2012.' The Series
2012 revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2039 and were used to refund 1998
and 2009 Series revenue bonds, finance the settlement cost of the interest rate swap, and
finance the purchase of certain equipment and renovations. The revenue bonds have fixed
interest coupon rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0% {a net interest cost of 3.96%).

(7) Series 2014A and Series 2014B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2014A and Series 2014B, in August 2014.
The Series'2014A revenue bonds mature in 2022. The Series 2014B revenue bonds mature at
various dates through 2033. The proceeds from the Series 2014A and 2014B revenue bonds
were used partially to refund the Series 2009 revenue, bonds and to cover cost of issuance.
Interest on the 2014A revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 2.63%. Interest on the

Series 20148 revenue bonds is fixed, with an Interest rate of 4.00%.

(8) Series 2016B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 20168, in July 2016, through a private
placement with a financial institution. The Series 2016B revenue bonds mature at various
dates through 2045 and were used to finance certain 2016 projects. The Series 20168 is fixed,
with an interest rate of 1.78%.

(9) Note payable to financial institution

The DHOG issued a note payable to TD Bank in May 2020. Issued in response to the OOVID-
19 pandemic, the proceeds from the note will be used to fund working capital, as needs require.
The note matures at various dates through 2035 and is fixed, with an interest rate of 2.56%.

Outstanding joint and several indebtedness of the DHOG at June 30, 2023 and 2022 is
$1,037,932,000 and $1,044,722,000, respectively.

The Health System Indenture agreements require establishment and maintenance of debt service
reserves and other trustee held funds. Trustee held funds of $17,310,000 and $99,397,000 at June

30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are classified as assets limited as to use in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets {Note 5). In addition, debt service reserves of approximately $46,000
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and $6,674,000 at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are classified as other current assets in
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The debt service reserves are mainly comprised
of escrowed construction funds at June 30, 2023 and 2022.

For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 interest expense on the Health System's long-term
debt Is reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net
Assets as operating expense of approximately $34,515,000 and $32,113,000, respectively, and
other non-operating losses of $3,782,000 and $3,782,000, respectively, net of amounts capitalized.

11. Employee Benefits

Eligible employees of the Health System are covered under various defined benefit and/or defined
contribution plans. In addition, certain members provide postretiremen! medical and life insurance
benefit plans to certain active and former employees who meet eligibility requirements. The
postretiremen! medical and life plans are not funded.

The Health System's defined benefit plans have been frozen and, therefore, there are no remaining
participants earning benefits in any of the Health System's defined benefit plans.

Defined Benefit Plans

Net periodic pension expense included in employee benefits expense, in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets, is comprised of the following components
for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:

(in thousands of dollars) ' 2023 2022

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation $ 45,924 $ 36,722
Expected return on plan assets (46,071) (65,917)

Net loss amortization 15,820 13,139

Total net periodic pension expense $ 15,673 $ (16,056)

The following assumptions were used to determine net periodic pension expense as of June 30,
2023 and 2022:

2023 2022

Discount rates 4.40%-5.10% 3.30%

Rate of increase in compensation N/A N/A
Expected long-term rates of return on plan assets 4.40% - 7.25% 7.50%
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The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in the Health System's
consolidated financial statements for the defined benefit pension plans at June 30, 2023 and 2022:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation, beginning of year $  938,886 1;  1,140,221

Interest cost 45,924 36,722

Benefits paid (58,580) (54,864)
Actuarial loss (59,480) (183,193)

Benefit obligation, end of year 866,750 938,886

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year 747.095 958,864

Actual return" on plan assets 1.229 ■ (169,405)
Benefits paid (58,580) (54,864)
Employer contributions - 12,500

Fair value of plan assets, end of year 689,744 747,095

Funded status of the plans (177,006) (191,791)

Less; Current portion of liability for pension - -

Long-term portion of liability for pension (177,006) (191,791)

Liability for pension $  (177,006) 3I  (191,791)

As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the liability for pension is included in the liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic pension expense and included in the change in net assets
without donor restrictions include $489,486,000 and $519,946,000 of net actuarial loss as of
June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The amounts amortized from net assets without donor restrictions into net periodic pension
expense in fiscal year 2023 for net actuarial losses was $15,820,000.

The following table sets forth the assumptions used to determine the accumulated benefit
obligation at June 30, 2023 and 2022:

Discount rates

Rate of increase in compensation

2023

4.85 - 5.90%

N/A

2022

4.40-5.10%

N/A

The primary investment objective for the defined benefit plans' assets is to support the pension
liabilities of the pension plans for employees of the Health System, by providing long-term capital
appreciation and by also using a Liability Driven Investing ("LDI") strategy to partially hedge the
impact fluctuating interest rates have on the value of the pension plan's liabilities. As of June 30,
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2023, it is expected that the LDI strategy will hedge approximately 70% of the interest rate risk
associated with pension liabilities. As of June 30, 2022, the expected LDI hedge was
approximately 70%. To achieve the appreciation and hedging objectives, the pension plans utilize
a diversified structure of asset classes. The asset classes are designed to achieve stated
performance objectives, measured on a total return basis which includes income plus realized and
unrealized gains and losses.

The range of target allocation percentages and the target allocations for the various investments

are as follows;

Range of
Target Target

Allocations Allocations

Cash and short-term investments 0-5% 3%

U.S. government securities 0-10 5

Domestic debt securities 20-58 42

Global debt securities 6-26 4

Domestic equities 5-35 17

International equities 5-1 7

Emerging market equities 3-13 4

Global Equities 0-10 6

Real estate investment trust funds 0-5 ,1

Private equity funds 0-5 0

Hedge funds 5-18 11

To the extent an asset class falls outside of its target range on a quarterly basis, the Health System
shall determine appropriate steps, as it deems necessary, to rebalance the asset class.

The Boards of Trustees of the Health System, as plan sponsors, oversee the design, "structure, and
prudent professional management of the Health System's pension plans' assets, in accordance
with Board approved investment policies, roles, responsibilities, and authorities and more
specifically the following:

•  Establishing and modifying asset class targets with Board approved policy ranges,

•  Approving the asset class rebalancing procedures,

•  Hiring and terminating investment managers, and

•  Monitoring performance of the investment managers, custodians and investment consultants.

The hierarchy and inputs to valuation techniques to measure fair value of the Plans' assets are the
same as outlined in Note 7. In addition,, the estimation of fair value of investments in private equity
and hedge funds for which the underlying securities do not have a readily determinable value is
made using the NAV per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient. The Health System's
pension plans own interests in both private equity and hedge funds rather than In securities
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underlying each fund and, therefore, the Health System generally considers such investments as
Level 3, even though the underlying securities may not be difficult to value or may be readily
marketable.

The following table sets forth the Health System's pension plans' investments that were accounted
for at fair value as of June 30, 2023 and 2022:.'

2023

. Redemption Days'

(in thousands o! dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total nr Liouidatinn Notice

Investments

Cash and short-term investments $ $  10,667 $ $  10,667 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 22.919 - - 22,919 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 96.004 250.964 - 346,968 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities - - - - Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 89,391 26,849 - 116,240 Daily-Monthly 1-10

Intemational equities 18,912 22,361 - 41.273 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities - 26,743 - 26,743 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Global equities - 52,461 - 52,461 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds - - 13 13 See Note 5 See Note 5

Hedge funds - - 72,460 72,460 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Total investments - $  227.226 $390,045 $ 72,473 $689,744

2022

Redemption Days'

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Llouldation Notice

Investments

Cash and short-term investments S $  16,030 5i S  16,030 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 124.686 - - 124,686 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 17,530 226,107 • 243,637 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities - 24,136 - 24,136 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 104,070 31,324 - 135.394 Daily-Monthty 1-10

International equities 15.558 20,406 - 35,964 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities - 25,487 - 25,487 Daily-Monthty 1-17

Global equities - 54,787 - 54,787 Daity-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds- - - 14 14 See Note 5 See Note 5

Hedge funds \ - - 86,960 86,960 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Total investments S 261,844 $ 398,277 5i  86,974 S 747,095
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The following tables present additional information about the changes in Level 3 assets measured
at fair value for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022;

2023

Private

(in thousands of dollars) Hedae Funds Eauitv Funds Total

Beginning of year balances $  86,960 $  14 $ 86,974

Sales (13,013) - (13,013)

Net unrealized losses (1.487) (1) (1.488)

End of year balances $ . 72,460 $  . 13 $ 72,473

2022

. Private

(in thousands of dollars) Hedqe Funds Eauitv Funds Total

Beginning of year balances $  15,512 $  15 $ 15,527

Purchases 81,400 - 81,400

Sales (2,152) - (2,152)

Net unrealized losses (7,800) (1) (7,801)

End of year balances $  86,960 $  14 $ 86,974

The total aggregate net unrealized (losses) gains Included in the fair value of the t.evel 3
investments as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 were approximately ($12,443,000) and ($543,000),
respectively. Hedge funds totaling $13,013,000 and $2,152,000 were liquidated in 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 1, 2, or 3 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.
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The weighted average asset allocation, by asset category, for the Health System's pension plans is
as follows at June 30, 2023 and 2022;

2023 2022

Cash and short-term investments 3% 2%

U.S. government securities 5 17

Domestic debt securities 42 33

Global debt securities 4 3

Domestic equities 17 18

International equities 7 5

Erherging market equities 4 3

Global equities 6 7

Hedge funds 12 12

Total -  100% 100 %

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is reviewed annually, taking into consideration
the asset allocation, historical returns on. the types of assets held, and the current economic
environment. Based on these factors, it is expected that the pension assets will earn an average of
7.25% per annum.

The Health System is expected to contribute approximately $15,888,000 to the Plans in 2024
however actual contributions may vary from expected amounts.

The following benefit payrhents, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid for the years ending June 30 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dollars)

2024 $ 122,722

2025 58,784

2026 59,960

2027 61,029

2028 61,971

2029 - 2033 313,803

The Cheshire Medical Center plan was terminated effective June 30, 2022, pending regulatory
approvals. Following regulatory approval, the plan sponsor intends to distribute assets and settle
plan obligations through a lump sum offering to active and terminated vested participants and a
group annuity contract will be purchased for any participant that doesn't elect the lump sum, along
with all participants currently in pay status. The benefit obligation for the plan reflects anticipated
disbursement costs and a terminal cash contribution to fully fund benefits will be made at that time.
The obligations reflect the cost of providing the lump sums and group annuity, described above, as
well as administrative costs and a terminal contribution which will be necessary to fund all of the
costs of terminating the plan. It is expected that the obligations will be settled by June 30, 2024 and
the plan termination liability will reflect economic conditions, lump sum election rates and annuity
pricing at that time. As a result, the final plan termination liability may be different from the amounts
shown in this report.
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Defined Contribution Plans ^
The Health System has employer-sponsored plans for certain of Its members, under which the
employer makes contributions based on specified percentages of compensation and employee
deferral amounts. Total employer contributions to the plan of approximately $71,152,000 and
$64,946,000 in 2023 and 2022, respectively, are included in employee benefits expenses in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets.

Postretlrement Medical and Life insurance Benefits

The Health System has postretirement medical and life insurance benefit plans covering certain of
its active and former employees. The plans generally provide medical or medical and life insurance
benefits to certain retired employees who meet eligibility requirements. The plans are not funded.

Net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit (income) cost is comprised of the components
listed below for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:

(in thousands of dollars)

Service cost

Interest cost

Net loss amortization

Total

2023

$  357 $

1,956

6^

$  2,375 $

2022

456

1,394

752

2,602

The following table sets forth the accumulated postretirement medical and life insurance benefit
obligation amounts recognized in the Health System's consolidated financial statements at June
30, 2023 and 2022:

(in thousands of dollars)

Change in benefit obligation
Accumulated benefit obligation, beginning of year

Service cost

Interest cost

Benefits paid
Actuarial loss

Employer contributions

Accumulated benefit obligation, end of year

Current portion of liability for postretirement

medical and life benefits

Long-term portion of liability for

postretirement medical and life benefits

Funded status of the plans and liability for
postretirement medical and life benefits

2023

S  .40,315

357

1,956

(3,588)

(6,355)

32,685

$  (3,386)

(29,299)

2022

46,863

456

1,394

(3,401)
(4,964)

m
40,315

(3,500)

(36,815)

$  (32,685) $ (40,315)
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As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the liability for postretirement medical and life insurance benefits is
included in the liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic income for the postretirement medical and life insurance
benefit plans, included in the change in net assets without donor restrictions, are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) ■ 2023 2022

Net actuarial (income) loss (1,970) 4,445

Total $ (1,970) $ 4,445

The following future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are
expecjted to be paid for the years ending June 30, 2023 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dollars)

2024 $ 3,486

2025 3.424

2026 3,396

2027 3,387

2028 3,227

2029-2033 14,893

In determining the accumulated benefit obligation for the postretirement medical and life insurance
plans, the Health System used a discount rates of 6.00 - 6.10% in 2023, and an assumed
healthcare cost trend rate of 6.50 - 7.00%, trending down to 5.00% in 2029 and thereafter.

12. Professional and General Liability Insurance Coverage

D-H, along with Dartmouth College, Cheshire, NLH, APD, MAHHC, and VNH are provided
professional and general liability insurance on a claims-made basis through Hamden Assurance
Risk Retention Group, Inc. (RRG), a VT captive insurance company. RRG cedes the majority of
this risk to Hamden Assurance Company Limited (HAC), a captive insurance company domiciled in
Bermuda, and HAC cedes a portion of this risk to a variety of commercial reinsurers. D-H has
majority ownership interest in both HAC and RRG. The insurance program provides coverage to
the covered institutions, named insureds and their employees on a modified claims-made basis,
which means coverage is triggered when claims are made. Premiums and related insurance
deposits are actuarially determined, based on asserted liability claims adjusted for future
development. The reserves for outstanding losses are recorded on an undiscounted basis;
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Selected financial data of HAG and RRG, taken from the latest available financial statements at

June 30, 2023 and 2022, are summarized as follows:

2023

HAG RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets .  $ 93,777 $  2,372 $ 96,149

Shareholders' equity 13,620 50 13,670

2022

HAG RRG Total

(In thousands of dollars)

Assets $  79,631 $  2,245 $ 82,076

Shareholders' equity 13,620 ' 50 13,670

13. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation
The Health System is involved in various malpractice claims and legal proceedings of a nature
considered normal to its business. The claims are in various stages and some may ultimately be
brought to trial. It is the opinion of management that the final outcome of these claims will.not have
a material effect on the consolidated financial position of the Health System.

Line of Credit

The Health System has entered into a loan agreement with a financial institution, establishing
access to a revolving loan of up to $100,000,000. Interest is variable and determined using the
Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index or the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate. The loan
agreement is due to expire October 3, 2024. The outstanding line of credit balance was
$40,000,000 and $0 as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Interest expense was
approximately $1,200,000 and $91,000, respectively, and is included in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets.

14. Functional Expenses

Operating expenses are presented by functional classification in-accordance with the overall
service missions of the Health System. Each functional classification displays all expenses related
to the underlying operations by natural classification. Salaries, employee benefits, medical supplies
and medications, and purchased services and other expenses are generally considered variable
and are allocated to the mission 'that best aligns to the type of service provided. Medicaid
enhancement tax is allocated to program services. Interest expense is allocated based on usage of
debt-financed space. Depreciation and amortization is allocated based on square footage and
specific identification of equipment used by department.
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2023: ^

2023

Program Management

(in thousands of dollars) Services and General Fundralsina Total

Operating expenses

Salaries $ 1,238,158 $  183,063 $ 1,870 $ 1,423,091

Employee benefits 293,359 38,778 249 332,386

Medical supplies and medications 722,957 2,517 6 725,480

Purchased sen/ices and other 305,192 148,439 5,270 458,901

Medicaid enhancement tax 85,715 - - 85,715

Depreciation and amortization 45,702 44,707 48 90,457

Interest 8,470 26,037 8 34,515

Total operating expenses $ 2,699,553 $  - 443,541 $ 7.451 ■ $ 3,150,545

Program Management

Services and General Fundralsina Total

Non-operating expense

Employee benefits $  15,606 $  2,077 ■ $ 8 $  17,691

Total non-operating expense $  15,606 $  2,077 S 8 $  17,691
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2022:

2022

Program Management

(in thousands of dollars) Services and General Fundraislna Total

Operating expenses.

Salaries $ 1,129,572 $  184,533 $ ■1,302 $ 1,315,407
Employee benefits 281,455 40,887 .  228 322,570
Medical supplies and medications 645,437 3,835 - 649,272
Purchased services and other 255,639 142,241 5,982 403,862
Medicaid enhancement tax 82,725 - - 82,725
Depreciation and amortization 42,227 44,675 56 86,958
Interest 9,116 22,987 10 32,113

Total operating expenses $ 2,446,171 $  439,158 $ 7,578 $ 2,892,907

Program Management
Services and General Fundraislna Total

Non-operating Income
Employee benefits $  12,144 $  1,755 $ 11 $  13,910

Total non-operating income $  12,144 $  1,755 $ 11 $  13,910
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15. Liquidity

The Health System is substantially supported by cash generated from operations. In addition, the
Health System holds financial assets for specific purposes which are limited as to use. Thus,
certain financial assets reported on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets may not be
available for general expenditure within one year of the balance sheet date.

The Health System's financial assets available at June 30, 2023 and 2022 to meet cash needs for
general expenditures within one'year of June 30, 2023 and 2022, are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash and cash equivalents

Patient accounts receivable

Assets limited as to use

Other investments for restricted activities

Total financial assets

Less: Those unavailable for general expenditure
within one year:

investments.held by captive insurance companies
Investments for restricted activities

Bond proceeds held for capital projects

Other investments with liquidity horizons
greater than one year

Total financial assets available within one year

2023

115,996

289,787

1,071,462

'  182,224

2022

191,929

. 251,250

1,181,094

175,116

$  1,659,469 $ 1,799,389

76,830 57,522

182,224 ' 175,116

17,310 99,397

141,810 159,792

$  1,241,295 3»  1,307,562

The Health System used cash flow from operations of approximately $(164,033,000) and
$(123,525,000) for the years ended June 30, 2023 and June 30. 2022, respectively, in addition, the
Health System's liquidity management plan includes investing excess daily cash in intermediate or
long term investments based on anticipated liquidity needs. The Health System has an available
line of credit of up to $100,000,000 which it can draw upon as needed to meet its liquidity needs.
See Note 13 for further details on the line of credit.

16. Lease Commitments

D-HH determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. Right-of-use
assets represent our right to use the underlying assets for the lease term and our lease liabilities
represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the leases. Right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date, based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term. The Health System uses the implicit rate noted within the contract. If
not readily available, the Health System uses an estimated incremental borrowing rate, which is
derived using a collateralized borrowing rate, for the same currency and term, as the associated
lease. A right-of-use asset and lease liability is not recognized for leases with an initial term of 12
months or less, rather the Health System recognizes lease expense for these leases on a straight-
line basis, over the lease term, within lease and rental expense. \
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Operating leases are primarily for real estate, including certain acute care facilities, off-campus
outpatient facilities, medical office buildings, and corporate and other administrative offices. Real
estate lease agreements typically have initial terms of 3 to 8 years. These real estate leases may
include one or more,options to renew, with renewals that can extend the lease term from 2 to 5
years. The exercise of lease renewal options is at the Health System's sole discretion. When
determining the lease term, management includes options to extend or terminate the lease when it
is reasonably certain that the Health System will exercise that option.

Certain lease agreements for real estate include payments based on actual common area
maintenance expenses and/or rental payments adjusted periodically for inflation. These variable
lease payments are recognized in other occupancy costs in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Changes in Net Assets, but are not iricluded in the right-of-use asset or liability
balances in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Lease agreements do not contain any material
residual value guarantees, restrictions, or covenants.

The components of lease expense for the years ended June 30. 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Operating lease cost $ 9,590 $ 9,573
Variable and short term lease cost (a) > 10,608 10,894

Total lease and rental expense $ 20,198 $ 20,467

Finance lease cost:

Depreciation of property under finance lease

Interest on debt of property under finance lease

Total finance lease cost

$ 3,778 $ 3,345

'  546 448

$ 4,324 $ 3,793

(a) Includes equipment, month-to-month and leases with a maturity of less than 12 months.

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022
are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement
of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 10,067 $ ' 9,952
Operating cash flows from finance leases 546 448
Financing cash flows from finance leases 3,599 3,255

Total $ 14.212 $ 13,655
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Supplemental -balance sheet information related to leases as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 are as"
follows;

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating Leases ,
Right-of-use assets - operating leases
Accumulated amortization

Right-of-use assets - operating leases, net

2023 2022

$  59,258

(26,731)

32,527

,  $ 61,165

(21,222)

39,943

Current portion of right-of-use obligations
Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion

Total operating lease liabilities

7,799

25,386

33,185

8,314

32,207

40,521

Finance Leases

Right-of-use assets - finance leases'

Accumulated depreciation

Right-of-use assets - finance leases, net

32,837'
(9,836)

23,001

27,963

(8,981)

18,982

Current portion of right-of-use obligations
Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion.

3,535

20,285

3,005

16,617

Total finance lease liabilities $  23,820 $  19,622

Weighted Average remaining lease term, years

Operating leases
Finance leases

7.54

15.73

.7.73

19.77

Weighted Average discount rate
Operating leases

Finance leases

2.36%

3.46%

2.24% ■

2.17%

The System obtained $3.6 million and $9.2 million of new and modified operating and financing
leases, respectively, during the year ended June 30, 2023.

The System obtained $8.9 million and $0.1 million of new and modified operating and financing
leases, respectively, during the year ended June 30, 2022.
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Future maturities of lease liabilities as of June 30, 2023 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) Operating Leases Finance Leases

Year ending June 30:
2024 $  8.474 $ 4.265

2025 5,641 ,3,336

2026 4,311 ,2,869

2027 3,475 1,900

2028 2,784 1,701

Thereafter 11,340 15,043

Total lease payments 36,225 29,114

Less: Imputed interest 3.040 5,294

Total lease obligations $  33,185 $ 23,820

17. Subsequent Events

The Health System has assessed the impact of subsequent events through November 17, 2023,

the date the audited consolidated financial statements were issued, and has concluded that there

were no such events that require adjustment to the audited consolidated financial statements or

disclosure in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements other than as noted below.

On July 3, 2023, D-HH affiliated with Southern Vermont Health Care Corporation and its

subsidiaries ("SVHC"), including Southwestern Vermont Medical Center, Inc. ("SVMC"), a 99-bed

community hospital located in Bennington, Vermont. Integrating SVHC into the D-HH System gives

D-HH an inpatient presence in southwestern Vermont with reach into eastern New York state and

northwestern Massachusetts markets.

In October 2023, the Health. System issued a note payable in the amount of $100,000,000 to ID
Bank. The note matures at various dates through 2033, and is fixed, with an interest rate of
6.17%.
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Oartfflouth- Atca Pack Nn* Landon Ml Aaautnay OH ObCgatad A0 Other Naiw Health

Hllchcaek Dartmouth- Day HotpKal Hetphal and Oroup ObBg Oroup 8]rtMm

(in IMvtandt ol dottrs) Haahh Hhchtock Mamorlal AH9ti|1i9n Hailth Canter Olmlnatlont Subtotil Amnitat Fllmlnitlens Contolldatad

AtMis

Currsm stieii. , '
Ctth ind eath squlvilsnti $ 2,375 » 202 5 40,750 5  32.062 5  11,462 5 $ 06,671 1  29.125 5 5 115.996

Pstiem sceounit lectiveM*. nsi . 241.747 10,006 11,022 7,607 271.244 10,543 289.707

Prtpsid tiqMnMt and otMr currant attait 19.552 210.275 2.374 Z449 2,009 (36 709) 199670 2.619 (10.305) -  184.104

Total eurrtfd aitalt 21,927 - 452,224 63,992 45,553 21,070 (36,769) 557.965 50,267 ■ (10,305) 569,087

Aitatt linlad at to uta 130,937 032,095 13,009 17,990 25,786 (16.760) 1,009,937 61.525 *
1,071.462

Notat racahraMa, ralatad party 043.940 14,309 500 (044.777) 14,065 •  (566) (13.477)
Oihar invatitnantt lot rattrlctad activttiat 5 126,071 2.032 3.206 7.208 139,722 42.502 102,224

Prepaty. ptani, and apulpmani, not 624,394 27.724 44,547 16.260 . 712,925 98,697 . 811,622

Riphi-et^ta atMli. nat 344 32,019 14.967 206 4,897 . 53,313 2,215 . 55,526

Otharatteli 1.943 160.736 13,798 6.622 4.000 195.707 (2.454) . 193,333

Total atsatt $ 1,005.102 $ 2.252,047 5 126,790 S  110.204 %  79,917 t (696.320) 5 2,683.734 5  252,164 5 (31,062) 3' 2.904,056

Llabtttltt trvd Nat Aatau

Currant kaUbiti

Currant penlon o( lorte^ami dabt % 13.305 5 .. 5 025 3  21 $  11 5 5 14,222 5  1.014 5 3 15,236

Currant port tori of righi-ol-uta obtgsttont 204 9,136 759 '  49 422 10,570 764 11,334

Una ol cradi 40,000 40.000 40,000

Currant portion el lability lor pantton ai>d
other potlraUarrtam pitn bartaliu 3,306 3,386 3,386

Accounts payaMa and tcervad txpantat 23,590 151,473 5,300 3,97$ 0,173 (53,549) 130,962 26,170 (18,385) 146,747

Aeeruad cornpantatien and ralatad banalts 119,710 3.549 3,192 4,491 130.950 6,517 137,487

Ettirrtalad dtld-party tatUarnants 28.500 12.500 18.24$ 59.393 4967 04.360

Total currant labWat 37,t59 352.273 23,021 25,402 13,097 (53,549) 397,483 39,432 (10.385) 410,530

Notat payabla, ralilad party - 000,103 . 27,044 17,570 (844,777) 13,477 (13,477)
Long-twm dabt, aicludine currant portion 1,028,000 25,113 21,956 II (105) 1,075,641 23,321 1,090,902

Right-oi-uia obtgaliont, excluding currant portion 140 24,333 14.706 243 4,635 44,137 1.534 45,671

Inauranca dapotilt and ralatad liabiUiat 89,947 322 2$3 263 90,005 544 91,349
UabViy lor pantlon and other pottratiramani
pitn banafat. axcfciding currani portion . 197,049 366 197.417 8,060 206,305

Other Kablitiat 140.553 366 2,06$ . 150.984 22,934 173.910

Total tabikiat 1.065.965 1.037.431 60.451 55 090 35.040 (690 326) 1.956 467 110.130 (31.862) 2.034.735

Commamenli artd eontinganelat

Nataitati I

Nat astall wilhoul donor roairlctieni (60.073) 476,653 63,706 58,347 35,455 573.290 05,650 40 650,900

Nat aiiatt wkh donor railrlcliona 10 137.963 2.631 4.759 0.614 153,977 56.396 (40) 210.333

Total nai aaaaia (00.063) 014,6te 66.339 63.106 44.069 727.267 142.054 009321

Total fcabiUiat and net aaMlt i 1,005.102 t 2.252,047 $ 126,790 $  110,204 5  79,917 S (090.326) 5 2.603.734 t  252,104 S (31.062) 5 2,904,056
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&4IH Health

and Other D-Kand ChesNta and MAHHC and APOand VNHand System

(In UKuiandi otiiota/t) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries SulMldlsrIes NLH Subsidiaries Subsldlatv Subsidiaries Ellinlnatlens

A*««U

Cuneni MMU

Ct*h and eMh eqiivilenu • $ 2,375 5  1,470 5  15,911 S 32,082 S  11,691 5  50,139 8  2.328 5 S  115,096

Pabem eccaunu receivable, net . 241.747 17.253 11.022 7,799 .10,668 1,098 - 289,767

Prepaid expenee* and other current aaeat* 18.552 210.708 1,504 2,449 1.992 2.284 789 (55,174) 184,104

Total cureniaaaets 21,927 453.925 34,668 45.553 21,482 63,291 4,215 (55,174) 589.867

Aaaeta limited as to uae 136,937 660.436 13,376 17.990 27,090 13,089 19,304 (16,760) 1.071,462

Note* receivable, related party 643,946 14.308 . - - (658,254)
Other kivettmems for restricted activities' 5 134,091 34,711 3,206 7,209 2,911 91 . 162,224

Property, planl. and equipment, ttei . 627.070 72,289 44,547 17,593 44,435 5,688 - 811,622

Right-ot-use assets, rtei 344 32,819 2.145 286 4,898 14,967 69 • 55,528

Other assets 1,943 168.902 7.130 6,622 2,231 6.505 - •
193,333

Total assets s 1,005,102 S 2.291.551 8 164.319 8 118,204 8 60.503 8 145,198 8 29,367 8 (930,168) S 2.904,056

Uabiatles and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion ol lon(Harm debt % 13,365 3 - 8 915 8 21 8 36 8 825 8 74 8 - 8 15,236

Current portion ol rlght-of-use obUgations 264 9,136 735 49 423 759 26 • 11,334

Une ol aedit 40,000 '40,000

Current portion ol liability for pension and
other post/atlremeni plan benefits - 3,366 - - • 3,386

Accounts payebie and accrued eiqienses 23,590 152.515 22.618 3,975 6.312 5.990 1,481 {71.034) 148,747

Accrued compensation and relaied benefits - 119,718 5.406 3,192 4.564 3,907 680 • 137.467

Estimated tMrd-party teolemenls . 28.560 4.928 18.245 . 12.588 39 - 64 360

Total currant liabditias 37,159 353.315 34.802 25.482 13,335 24.069 2,302 (71,934) 418,530

Notes payable, related party . 600.163 10.477 27,044 17,570 3,000 (858,254) .

Long-term debt, excluding current portion 1,026,666 25,113 20.907 11 69 21,907 2,269 - 1.098,062

Righl-ol-use obligations, axduding current portion 140 24,333 1.493 243 4.635 14,786 41
-

45,671

Insurance deposits artd reloted labllitiea . 69,947 500 253 283 322 44 - 91,349

Liability lor pension and other postrebrement
plan tteneflts, axduding current portion . 197,049 6.868 - 368 - - 206.305

Other UabUUes . 148.553 1.500 2.065 . 21.800 . - 173 918

Total kablltiea 1.065.965 1.638.473 78.567 55.098 36.280 02.684 7 656 (930 188) 2034.735

Commitments and conllngendes

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions (60,873) 507,534 37.307 58.347 35.609 59.404 21,620 40 658,968

Net assets with 'donor resirictlona 10 145.544 46.445 4,759 8.614 2.910 91 (40) 210.333

Total net assets (60.863) 653,078 85.752 63.106 44.223 62.314 21.711 889.321

Total liabilities and net auats % 1,005.102 8 2,291.551 8 184.319 8 118.204 S 80.503 8 145.198 8 29.367 8 (930,188) 8 2.904,056
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2022

Dartmeudv Cheahba AUoaPeck New London ML Aaevtney DHObBgaM All Other Non- HaMth

Hliehcoeic Oartmeulh. IMIeal Oay Heaptial Heapitaland . Group Oblg Group Syatatn
(it ihouttndt d delm) Health. Hltohoeoli Center Menwrtoi AtaeelaHon Eliminaiiona Subtotal AmilttM Elimlnitiena Cenaelldatad

Awfta

CurrMcum
-

CasA and cMh «quM»nt» $  2,0S6 5 66,627 20,165 i 38.416 i  ■ 28,467 5  11.327 $ . 5  167,258 1  24,671 5 . 191,929

PriM tcccun racanrtU*. nal - . 206,400 18,106 9.817 9,175 5.360 . 248.656 2,392 . 251,250

Prtpdie npanatt and eOw oimn taatt 161262 19,580 3522 4452 1.472 (31,119) 162730 111,372) (2.2251 169.133

Tout eurrtni atMtt 25,617 434,489 57,851 51.755 42094 18159 (31,119) 596,646 15,691 (2,225) 612.312

Aaaes iiRiittd a* to UH Ml,000 858.919 12665 14,680 16,005 25,753 (96.848) 1,130,174 50,920 1,181,094

Now itednOt, rtla:M part; 642,052 11.557 . 803 (853.609) 603 (803)

OMt iwatanantt ior (tttricM aoMiat 490 118.062 16,422 727 3,925 6.646 . 146,492 26,624 175,116

Piopatty. (bnt and aquipinant. nti 585,064 63.067 24.757 45.973 15.536 • 734,387 30,453 764,640

RighaokM ataati 1,362 35,321 1,830 14.892 168 5,249 - 56,620 105 56.925
Offwaaaata 681 -  148.516 1,18? 14.391 6,573 4.983 . 174.331 (2.168) 172.163

Tool ataati $  1.171,202 5 Z189.948 153,022 i 122,005 5  114,736 5  76,516 5 (983.576) 5  2,643.853 1  122,822 $ (2225) 2,964,450

UaUttlaa and Nat Aaaata

Cunant kaUdiea

Current pottion ot lang^efm data % 5 4,810 865 i 800 5 ' 23 8 $ 5  6,498 t  98 6,596

Current portion ol rlghwhaae oWgatloni S59 8,514 669 852 172 473 11.259 60 • 11,319

Current portion ot kabitf lot penaion and
other poairetiramemplanbanaiia 3.500 3,500 3,500

Mcounts payabte and aoorued aapenaaa 147,626 too.tto 16,607 4,883 4.843 8693 (129,967) 152795 6.002 (2,225) 156,572

Accrued compenaaiien and rotated bcneia 169,194 6.817 4,431 4,507 4.434 189,383 1.177 . 190,560

EiSmatad third^iart/aaSemanta 3.002 68 876 22999 17.488 21688 647 134.898 134.896

Total current bOAtltt 151,187 355.004 47.977 28,454 31.431 14,247 (129,967) 496,333 7,337 (2225) 503,445

Now paraUa. relatad party 606.602 27.437 17J70 (853.609) .

Lonp^am data. erduSlng currant portion 1,044.845 25.064 21.867 23,060 32 (110) 1,114.778 2510 1,117,286

RghMPuae otepaiiona.aKbding cunant portion 803 27.359 1.233 14,499 4.685 48,779 45 46,824

Inauranc* dapoiti and iilaiad liaMdaa 78,678 623 373 401 250 78,325 66 71,391

Liabtty lor panaion and oihar poaataenent -

plan banetta. exdudinp cunant portion 220,350 7.774 481 228.605 1 . 226,606

Other lobCiiaa 129092 1.109 300 1.749 132250 21.646 154.096

Total babitiea 1.196,835 1642169 80.583 66.666 61.050 37.323 (963.576) 2.101.070 31.605 (2.225) 2.130.650

Cotiwatmanta and continpenciea

Net ataeu

Net aaaaa uiChoui donor raavlctlont (25,638) 418.255 53,646 54,590 46.974 31,078 580.9CS 53,352 40 634,297

Nat aiaati vMdi donor raatrlctiana 5 129524 18793 729 4712 A.115 161.875 37.665 (40) 199.503

Total net aaaata . (25.6331 547.779 72.439 55.319 53.686 39,193 742,783 91.017 833.600

Total iabAtiaa and net aaaata ' t  1.171,202 S 2189.948 153,022 I 122.005 J  114.736 5  76,516 5 (963,576) i  2,643.853 5  122,622 t (2225) 2964.450
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2022

(In ol doBan)

AM«tt

Current asMU

Oath and cash eqiivatentt
Padeni account* raceivaUe. net

Prepaid expenie* and other current a«*elt

Total current asiet*

Atseu limited a* to u»e

Note* receivable, related party
Other Investments for restricted ectlvities .

Property, ptanl, and equiptnenC net
Right-of-usa assets, net
Other assets

Total ssseu

Liabilities and Net Assets

Ctjrreni Hsblkiies

Current portion of long-term debt
Current portion of righi-of-use obligetions
Current portion ol liability lor pension artd
other posuetlrement plan benefits
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued compensation and related berteflts
Estimated third-party setflemenis

Total current Nabiitles

Notes payable, reUled party
Long-term tiett. excluding current portion
Right-of-use oMgabons, exdudng current portion
Irmsance deposits and related liabilities
Liability for pension and otfter postretirement
plan benefits, excluding current portion
Other liabiitjes

Total liabilltie*

Commitments and contirtgertcie*

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions

Total net asseu

Total liabilities and net assets

0-HH

and Other

Subsldlsriei

$  2,050

23,501

and

Subsidiaries

$  08.075
200.400

101.508

Chaahlre and

Subsidiaries

S  32.500
16.100

8.290

NLH

28,407

9.175

4,452

MAKHC and

Subsidiaries

11,031

5.431

1,490

Health

APO and VNH and System
Subsldlanr Subtldlaries eliminations Consolidated

47,894 S

9,617

2.678

1,300 S
2,321

483 '33,3441

 1
1 i 442,

485
105,

038
53,6

80
39,3

44
143,

15
25,7

80
833,

800

 S1.171
.202 
S2.226

.920 
S185.

740 
I114,

730 
$77.1

07 
S140,

720 
S-
 

33,8
20 
$(985,

801) S
 

2,904,
450

191,929
251,250

189,133

25.017 435.963 56.902 42,094 18,561 60.389 4,110 (33.344) 812.312

301,000 684.007 13,183 16,005 26,979 14.680 24.068 (98.648) 1.181.094

842.052 11.557 (853.609)
490 125.614 37.124 3,925 6,646 1.031 '  86 . 175.116
. 567.739 66.385 45,973 16,947 42.436 5.360 - 764.840

1.302 35.321 1.830 160 5,248 14.892 106 58.925
681 146,699 8.316 6,573 2,526 7.292 78 . 172.163

S  1,171.202 $ 2,226.920 S 165.740 S 114,736 S 77,107 S 140,720 S 33.826 S '  (985.801) I 2.084.450

s  s 4,810 S 885 S 23 S 26 S, 800 S 72 S •  S 6,596

559 6,514 689 172 472 852 61 11,319

. 3,500
1

.
. 3.500

147,626 ' 100,617 16,726 .4,643 8,631 5.481 4.640 (132,192) 156.572

. 169.194 6,617 4,507 4,490 4.735 817 190.560

3,002 66,678 22,900 21,666 647 17.486 134.898

151,187 355.511 48.096 31.431 14.466 29.356 5.590 (132,192) 503,445

806,602 27.437 17.570 . (853,809) •

1.044.645 25.004 21.667 32 110 23.005 2.345 1,117,266

603 27,359 1.233 . 4.685 ■ ■14.499 45 46,624
76,678 623 401 250 373 66 78,391

220,350 7.774 482 . . 226,606
. 129,092 1.109 1.749 . 22.146 . 154,096

1,196.635 1,642,676 • 60.702 61.050 37,763 89.379 8,046 (965,601) 2,130,650

(25.638) 447.013 56.674 46,974 31.231 50.308 25,695 40 634,297
5 137.231 46.364 4.712 8,113 1,033 65 (40) 190,503
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Oartmouth- Aieo Pwk Notr Lortdon lit Ascutloy OHObOgaled AOOOiorNon- Hoaidi

Wteheoek Dartmouth- Day Hospital Hospttal and Croup OMg Croup Systom

^thouttnOsc/doBn} HotWi HIteheoek Memorial ^Mpgladpti Health Centar Pllmlrtitlnnt Subtotal AKIiatei FBmlnattorM Corttolldated

Opwsting rotmie tnd ethii luppert
Pititnt senic* revenue $ 5  t.t$S.079 i  98.605 $  67855 8  63.606 8 8  2.138.145 8  259.012 8  . 8  2.397,157

Centrected revenue ].»4 141,562 149 5t 3.657 (799) 148,454 336 (64,444) 84,346

Otw ftperetitg revenue 36.7$S 57«.965 4564 6,485 2.134 (43.983) 584,621 31.611 (7,557) 608,875

Nelenetstelened i'eintettrictons . 12.763 too 318 284 - 13.463 1.380 14.843

ToW operelino revenue irxtofteriupport 40.S9O 2.621.369 103.118 94.70' 69.681 (44.782) 2.684.683 292.539 (72,001) 3,105,221

Operating expeniet
Salvlee . ,  - t.t&3.341 49,062 46,198 28.947 486 1.308.034 162.896 (47.839) t,423J)9l

Efflptoyee benelta - 276,506 9,020 8521 8578 1.697 303.822 36.910 (8,348) 332,386

Medicabora and merScal tupplee . 650,157 '  13,130 11852 4879 - 679.518 45.962 - 725,480

Pinhaaed aenicei and oSier 20271 366.903 15.821 11834 21578 (18.642) -  417.471 56.691 (I55CI) 458.90t

UetfcaM enitancement tai - 65.605 4.426 3.366 2573 - 75,870 9.845 85,7t5

Depredator) and amortbaiion t 66,566 3.372 4.775 2.3t1 - 79.025 11.432 90,457

jntereai 33.I94 28.101 805 t.064 479 (30.386) 33.257 1.544 (286) 34,515

Total operating eipemet 5J,t72 2.639.379 95.636 87.410 67.945 (46.845) 2.896.997 325580 (71.732) 3.150.545

Operating (lo») margin (12.U2) 08.0101 7,482 7597 1.736 2.063 (12,314) (32.741) (269) (45.324)

NotMperatIng gahti {lottet)
bivestmenl gains (losses), net l,17J 48,094 88t 1.113 915 (252) 52.124 6.067 (22) 58.119

Otter tompenenB o( net peilodc pension end post
redremont bonoit incomo • .  (16569) (16.269) (1,422) - (17^91)

Otter (losses) itcome. net (10.»4]) 250 509 387 (18M) (11.308) 2,437 34) (8.530)

Total ftorvoperating (losses) gains, net (9.2701 •  32,075 881 1822 1.302 (2,063) 24.547 7,082 269 31.898

(Deiciency) excess ol revenue over eipenses (72.152) 14.065 8.363 8.919 3.038 12533 (25.659) (13.426)

Net assets tvlthout donor rostrlctioni

Net assets released torn resbtcdons lor capital 2,139 56 26 233 . 2.454 775 • 3529

Change ki iunded status ol pension end other •-

posttedremenibeneits • 37,322 114 37.436 (2.535) • 34.901

Net assets dinslerred to (Ircm) alSltles {13.0t]) 4,881 703 428 992 - (6.079) 6,079 -

Otter changes In net assets . (9) (4) (13) - (13)

(Deaeese) Inctetse In net assets vdStoui donor
lettrictient $  (35535) 3  58,398 5  9,118 8  9.373 8  4,377 8 8  46.031 8  (21,340) 8 8  24.691
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Daitmoutl^ Health

Hltcheeek- 041 and Cheshire and MAKHC and APD and VHH and System
(In tttMttndt ol detan) HeiHh Subsidiaries Subsidiaries NLH Subsidiaries SuhiMlarv Subsidiaries Fllmlnatlnns Centendiled

Optrating revenue (ndeth*r«upp«rt ,
PeMM urvtce revenue S S  1.888.079 S  245.B87 I 87,855 S  83.6(» $  98.605 fi 13,125 3 3  2,397,157

Contncted revenue 3.SM ui.ets 84 51 3.856 149 (85^43) 84,346

Other operating revetwe 38.756 581.102 15.548 8,485 3,974 14,841 1,909 (51,540) 608,875
Nel auatt releesed from rettriclions 13.358 747 310 293 129 . 14.843

Toul operating rewnue and other euppon 40.S90 2.824.354 262.268 94,707 71,529 113.524 15.034 (118.783) 3.105.221

Operating expenM*
Salariet 1.163,341 144,785 46,198 29,820 53.203 13,097 (47,353) 1,423,091

Employee benetle ' 278,508 33,677 8,321 8,435 10,002 2,095 (6,850) 332,388

Mediutlortt and medical tupplet 850,157 45,073 11,852 4,382 13,149 872 (5) 725,480

Purchased services and other 20,277 389.991 44,981 11,834 22,074 19,196 4,471 P3,903} 458,901

Uedicaid enhancement lax 65,805 9,844 . 3,388 2,274 4.428 - 85,715

Depredation and amonization 1 68.568 8.945 4,n5 2,425 5.203 542 90,457

Interest 33.194 28.101 1,031 1.064 480 1,115 201 (30.6711 34,515

Total operating expenses 83.472 2.642.487 288.318 87.410 89.890 108.294 21.278 (118.5621 3.150.545

Operating (tost) margin (12.882) [16.1131 (28.0501 7.297 1.639 7.230 (6.244) 1.799 (45.324)

Nen^peratlng gains (lesses)
Investment gains (lasses), net 1,373 50.245 2,389 1,113 997 1.111 1,220 P29) 58,119
Other component* of net periodic pension and post
retirement heneU Income (16,269) (1,<22) - (17,691)

Other (losses) Income, net (10.843) 250 2.361 509 403 80 0.470) (8,530)

Total non^peratlng gains (losses), net (9.2701 34.226 3.328 1,822 1.400 1.111 1,280 (1.799) 31,898

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (22.152) 18,113 (22,722) 8,919 3.039 8.341 (4.964) (13,426)

Net assets without donor reetriclions

Nat assets released from reslrluioni lor eaptiel 2,223 891 28 233 56 3,229

CAingt in iunded ttetus ol pension end other
pottretiremeni benefits 37,322 (2.535) 114 34.901

Net essels transferred to (from) iKietfrs (13.083) 4,872 5,199 428 992 703 889

Other changes h net assets (9) (4) (131

(Decrease) increase In net assets vrtthout donor
resvlctions t  (35.235) }  60.521 5  (19,387) i 9.373 3  4.378 t  9.098 3  (4.075) 3 3  24.691
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2022

Oartanuth- Cheshlit McePec); NiwUndon Ml Ascutna)r OHObUgatad AIIOllNtNon- Haakh

Hiteheocli OutiRculh- Madicd Day Hospka HMpHalind Croup OHig Group Systan

(kithouunisoliobis) Health Kttcheoeli Center Memorial Asiedition Kaahh CtiVat Fllminations SuWotal )Un(latas Ellmlnallom ConsoMatad

Op«ratlAg ttvMM ind ethw wppeil
PttenturvictinmM » 5  1,751,093 8  238,645 $  99,403 $  79,754 $■ 59,040 5 5  2225.935 $  17.302 i %  2243.237
CortncM imnui 20» 133,928 165 21 22 3 521 (60.573) 77,293 458 (85) 77,866
OtfiB operxitig tmn* 38.S68 492.455 23,736 4,146 7,527 2754 (50,711) 516,475 16,731 (1.175) 534,031
NH a»(tt rdeaud Irani (etticHn 2k9 13.299 •  779 435 190 204 15156 738 15.894

TcU opeataig itttw aid cOie tu(pal 39.026 2390.775 261,325 104.005 87,493 «5S19 (111.284) 2836.859 35.229 (1.2601 2870,828

Oparaiiag upwttM
Sabria 1.091.601 135,083 43.266 40,219 28.960 («,229) 1.293.900 20.422 1.085 1.315.407
Ccnft9|i«« bMtfts 268,796 31,761 10,302 7,537 8.240 (5,842) 318.793 3.514 263 322570
Uedcaiom nd ntdol upfto 578.581 43203 12266 9,946 4,127 648.123 1.149 649272
Pufchsed unket aid o8)M 26.638 312.373 42723 15.951 13,068 17,383 (32,862) 394,274 11,398 (1,610) 403.882
Utdcaid efihancenaH IS 64,036 9,468 3.960 2834 2,407 . 82725 82725
Otp««tian and anulization 64,643 8,771 3,519 4,819 2,359 84,111 2,847 86958
Intant 32.636 25.365 914 876 1.073 • 493 (29.530) 31,727 386 32113

Toti opaati'ng erpansei 58.174 2 403.394 271,923 90.160 .  79.496 63989 (113.4631 2.853.653 39,716 (4821 2892,937

Op(nting{loa)mat^ (19.148) (12619) (10.5981 '  13.645 7.997 1.550 2.179 (16.791) (4,487) -  (7981 (22.079)

HeArapaatlng galiu (1»wm)
krrattnM KOM (baas). tM (8.026) (56.973) (21*8) (795) • •(1,114) (1.555) (210) (72741) (6,003) (78.744)
Odwi COT poneAtI net pcriodc pension and post

ledKRiWMnafitincoint ' 1),gD2 2008 15910 )3,9)0
Odof ilosses) inccae, net (3.540) 0.6411 (542) 1 169 (1.969) (7.522) 66 '798 (8.658)

TcU noMpeiabig (losses) gains, net (11.565) 148.712) (602) (795) (1.1131 (1.386) (2179) (663531 (5,937) 798 (71.492)

(DeSdeKy) ecessdrmnueomapenses (30.714) |6),33)) (11.20(9 13.050 6,884 164 (83,147) (10,424) (93,571)

Net assets witbout donot rtstilctloAs

Nsi assets lelaasad (ram lastrictcns lot capiul 678 52 480 233 1.423 150 1,573
Ctiange In funded status o( pension and otier ,

postiedieinent bentf is (27,860) i'.m 48 (3230!) (1) (32309)
Net assets TarelHied to (frari) ifEtetes 7,600 (19.365) 4.C66 2571 2,096 795 (2257) 2,257
OdKi changes In net assets (23) (23) (231

(Deaease) inaease ki net assets nihoul dcnot
(sstilctlons 6  (23,114) 5  (107,898) 5  (11.578) 5  15.621 5  9,417 5  1.240 5 5  (116,312) 8  (8,018) 5 $  (124,330)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consoildating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions

D4IH HMkh

and Other 0-Hand Cheihlrsind MAHHC and APD and VKH and Syttsffl

fin ttiouitnOt ol 0ollan) Subsidiaries SiihsMlirlet Subsidiities NLH Subtidiifiss Subsidiarv Subsidleries Eliminations Cenielldated

Optriting r*v«nu« and ethar luppert
Pttiant wrvica revtnue S 5  1.751.093 3  236.645 3 79,754 3  59,041 3  99.403 3  17.301 3 3  2.243,237

ConSracted tevenut 209 134.388 165 21 3.521 21 • (60.659) 77,666

OOier operatino revenue 38.S6S 494.363 23.794 7.527 4,370 14287 2.708 (51.886) 534,031

Net assets tekased Itom lesuioions 249 13,873 821 190 204 548 9 . 15,894

Total operating revenue and other support 39.026 2,393,717 261.425 87.492 67,136 114.559 20.018 (112.545) 2.870,828

Operating expenses
Salaries 1.091,601 135.116 40219 29,729 47.352 15.534 (44.144) 1,315,407

Employee benete 266,795 31,770 7,537 8,361 11,169 2,517 (5.579) 322,570

Mediations and tnedcel supples 578,581 43.203 9,948 4.128 12297 1,123 (*) 649,272

Purchased services and other 25.638 315,589 42,938 13,067 18,072 18.915 4,313 . (14.670) 403,862

Medicaij enhancement tax . 84,038 9,469 2234 2,406 3.980 82,725

Depredahon and amonization 64,643 6,895 4219 2,483 5.595 523 86,958

Inter est 32.536 25,365 914 1,073 493 1.204 58 (29.530) 32,113

'  Total operabng expenses 58.174 2,406.610 272,305 79.495 65.670 100.512 24,068 (113.9271 2,892,907

(19.148) (12.893) (10.880) 7297 1.466 14.047 (4.050) 1.382 122.079)

Non^peratlng gains (losses)
Investment Income (tosses), net (8,026) (61.039) (2.163) (1,114) (1,663). (1.373) P.I55) (211) (78.744)

Other components oi net period pension and post '

retirement benefi income '11.902 2,008 13.910

Other (tosses) income, net (3.5401 (1,641) (542) 1 179 56 (1.171) 16.6581

Totainorvoperating (tosses) gains, net (11.566) (50,778) (697) (1.113) (1,484) (1.373) 13.099) (1,382) 01.492)

(Deficiency) excess ol revenue over expenses P0,714) (63,671) (11,577) 6284 (18) 12,674 P,149) (93.571)

Net assets without donor reslrletlons

Net assets telessed Irom restrictions tor capital 834 53 460 226 (  • 1.573

Change h funded status ol pension end other
pestretketnent benefits (27.880) (4.498) 47 (32.309)

Net assets transfened to (from] alBiates 7,600 (19.391) 4.108 2,096 795 2271 2221

Other changes In net assets (23) (23)

(Decrease) Increase in net assets without donor
restrictions S  (23.114) 3  (110,088) 3  (11.912) 3 9,417 3  1,050 3  15.245 3  (4.928) 3 3  (124,330)

»•

-
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Note to Supplemental Consolidating Information
June 30, 2023 and 2022

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying supplemental consolidating information includes the consolidating balance
.  sheet and the consolidating statement of operations and changes in net assets without donor

restrictions of D-HH and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions
between D-HH and its subsidiaries have been eliminated. The consolidating information presented
is prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America consistent with the consolidated financial statements.
The consolidating information is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated
financial statements and is not required as part of the. basic financial statements.

57
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MARY HITCHCOCK MEMORIAL HOSPTIAL (MHMH)/
DARTMOUTH HITCHCOCK CLINIC (DHC) \ Combined as DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK

BOARDS OF TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS

—  Effective: TanuarvTr2024———

DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK

M. Elyse Allan, MBA
Retired President and Chief Executive Officer of General
Electric Canada Compani// Inc.

Geraldine "Polly" Bednash, PhD, RN,
FAAN Adjunct Professor, Australian Catholic
University

Laura M. Chiang, MO
Assistant Professor ofAnesthesiology and Critical Care;
Vice Chair for Education, Dept. ofAnesthesiology and Co-
Medical Director, Surgical Intensive Care Unit'

Marcus P. Coe, MD, MS
Associate Professor, Residency Director, Department of
Orthopaedic Surgery, Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical
Center and Geisel School of Medicine

Duane A. Compton, PhD
Ex-Officio: Dean, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

Joanne M. Conroy, MD
Ex-Officio: CEO & President, Dartmouth-
Hitchcock/Dartmouth Health

Gary V. Dcsir, MD
Yale School ofMedicine: Paul B. Beeson Professor of
Medicine; Chair, Internal Medicine at Yale School of
Medicine and Yale New Haven Hospital; Vice Provost
for Faculty Development and Diversity. Yale University

Page 1 of 4
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CelesHna "Tina" M. Dooley-Jones, PhD
Retired Scuior Foreign Sendee Officer

Nancy M. Dunbar, MD
Medical Director, Blood Bank

Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine

Roberta L. Hines, MD

MHMH/DHC Boards' Chair
Nicholas M. Greene Professor and Chair, Dept. of
Anesthesiology, Yale School of Medicine

Keith J. Loud, MD - beginning in March 2024
Chair, Department of Pediatrics and Adolescent-
Medicine

Jennifer L. Moyer,' MBA
Managing Director & CAO, White Mountains Insurance
Croup, Ltd

Sherri C. Oberg, MBA
CEO and Co-Founder of Particles for Humanity, PBC

David P. Paul, MBA

MHMH/DHC Boards' Secretary & Treasurer
Retired President & COO, JBG SMITH

Mark S. Speers, MBA
Co-founder & Senior Advisor, Health Advances, LLC

Page 2 of 4
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Jonathan B. Thyng, MD
Medical Director, Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics Nashua

DARTMOUTH HEALTH

Mark W. Begor, MBA Chief
Executive Officer, Equifax

Joanne M. Conroy, MD
Ex-Officio: CEO & President, Dartmouth-
Hitchcock/Dartmouth Health

Thomas P. Glynn, PhO
Adjunct Lecturer, Harvard Kennedy School of Government

Charles G. Plimpton, MBA
Dartmouth Health Board Treasurer & Secretary
Retired Investment Banker

Richard J. Powell, MD
Section Chief, Vascular Surgery; Professor of Surgery and
Radiology

Thomas Raffio, MBA, FLMI President
& CEO, Northeast Delta Dental

Edward Howe Stansfield, III, MA

Dartmouth Health Board Chair

Retired Senior Financial Advisor, Resident Director, of
Bank of Amcrica/Mcrrill Lynch

Page 3 of 4
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Paul A. Tahcri, MD, MBA
Clinical Partner - Welsh Carson Anderson and Stowe

-

Pamela Austin Thompson, MS, RN, CENP, FAAN
Chief executive officer emeritus of the American
Organization of Nurse Executives (ACNE)

Exec/Govemance Oversight:
Kimberley A. Gibbs
Director, Executive Administration and Exec/Governance

Administrative Support:

Claire M.

Exec. Coordinator for Exec/Governance & Leadership

Laura K. Rondeau |
Exec. Coordinator for Exec/Governance & Leadership

Page 4 of 4
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Stephanie Langlois

Education

Southern New Hampshire University: Manchester, NH

Masters in Business Administration awarded March 2024. GPA 4.0

Wheaton College: Norton, MA '

Bachelor's Degree awarded May 2017, magna cum laude

Biology, BA; psychology minor. GPA: 3.82

Relevant Experience
Dartmouth Health New Hampshire Perinatal Quality Collaborative

Lebanon, NH

Senior Coordinator

FT: 40 hrs/week

Dartmouth College Center for Behavioral Health and Technology: Dissemination and

Implementation Core Lebanon, NH

Lead Study Coordinator March 2022-current'
FT: 40 hrs/week

•  Developing and maintaining relationships with study stakeholders

• Adapting the project to meet our study's strategic aims as the health field changes
rapidly

•  Data monitoring and writing regulatory reports

•  Enrolling participants

•  Developing, administering, and analyzing qualitative interviews

Upper Valley Yoga White River Junction,

VT

Yoga Teacher - September 2022-December 2023
PT: Two classes per week

Dartmouth Hitchcock Neurology Research Department: Lebanon, NH

Research Coordinator II August 2021-March 2022

FT: 40 hrs/week

• Maintaining regulatory documents for both PI initiated and sponsor initiated studies

• Collaborating between various stakeholders in the research

•  Patient recruitment

• Scheduling and conducting patient research visits

• Conducting a wide variety of research assessments with neurology patients
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DeKalb Community Service Board via service agreement with Columbia University in
NYC: Decatur, GA

'Research-Assistant September-20T8-August"202-1-
FT: 40 hrs/week

•  Recruited and interviewed participants for a research study
• Managed data according to NIH guidelines
• Wrote and contributed to publications

• Helped design research plans and specific aims for upcoming study proposals
• Researched and wrote sections for grant proposals to NSF, NIJ, LJAF, NIMH, including

budget and project timelines

• Administered semi-structured interviews about opinions of information sharing systems

and thought processes surrounding decision to participate in Linkage System.study
• Conducted qualitative analysis including developing analysis codes of interview data for

publication

• Mediated working relationships for recruitment purposes with employees from nine
mental health clinics throughout Georgia

• Performed structured interviews with patients including but not limited to: SCID

substance use modules, Fagerstrom Test for Nicotine Dependence, Adverse Childhood

Experiences questionnaire, Trauma Experiences Checklist, and Criminal Sentiments

Scale

•  Input incoming data and performed data quality checks

• Maintained and submitted quarterly regulatory documents for 2 IRBs and NIMH

CVS Pharmacy: Atlanta, GA

Nationally Certified Pharmacy Technician May 2017-May 2020
FT: 40 hrs/week for 1.5 years then PT 15 hrs/week

•  Prepared medications for prescriptions, transcribed prescriptions into computer system,
input insurance information, and negotiated coverage issues

• Aided patients and answered questions pertaining to prescriptions or insurance

coverage.

•  Educated patients on basic usage information for common "fast mover" medications

Research Projects

Lead Study Coordinator for MMORE Study; Mindful Moms in Recovery: Yoga-based
mindfulness relapse prevention for women with opioid use disorder: Dartmouth College

Lead Research Coordinator for the following projects at Dartmouth Hitchcock:
o  Healey ALS Platform Trail: Regimens A-E

• Alleviate: Eptinezumab for Episodic Cluster Headache

•  Chronicle: Eptinezumab for Chronic Cluster Headache

•  Perseus: Primary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis (PPMS) Study of Bruton's Tyrosine

Kinase (BTK) Inhibitor Tolebrutinib {SAR442168)
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•  L-Serine for ALS

Research Assistant for Linkage System: Bioethics Supplement: Columbia University
{Supplement:_3R0.1.MH-1.m9-1-03S-1.) :

Research Assistant for: A Trial of a Police-Mental Health Linkage System for Jail
Diversion and Reconnection to Care: Columbia University (NIMH 5R01MH117191)

College Healthcare Internships

Newport Lyme Disease Clinic; Newport Ri May-August 2016

PT: 20 hrs/week

• Organized the groundwork for a newly funded research study (advertising, regulatory

requirements, introductory meetings, etc)

•  Researched and wrote columns for the Lifespan hospital network website to educate

general public and healthcare providers-about Lyme disease.
o  Translated medical knowledge/directions to patients in person, with pamphlets, or on the

website

Wheaton Institute for the Interdisciplinary Humanities: Norton MA

Executive Fellow ■ August 2015-May 2016

PT: 20 hrs/week

o  Directed project to redesign the content and delivery system for Wheaton College's '

sexual assault prevention materials.

Brain Injury Association of MA (BIAMA): Wareham, MA May-August 2015

PT: 20 hrs/week

o  Prepared fundraising and educational materials

•  Researched and contacted potential supporters of BIAMA fundraising and social agenda

•  Reviewed state and federal legislation and applied it to the practices/services of the

organization.

• Advocated for mental health priority issues on a community and legislative level

Marion Institute Biological Medicine Network: Marion, MA May-August 2015

PT: 20 hrs/week

•  Researched developed social media and website content

• Solicited potential supporters for fundraising and social agenda

•  Helped plan for annual conference for several hundred people

American Cancer Society Cancer Action Network (ACSCAN): Brockton, MA

Feb-May2015

PT: 20 hrs/week

•  Recruited ACSCAN members to support grassroots campaign
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• Researched and wrote articles for ACSCAN social media and bimonthly newsletter

•  Planned and ran the first ACSCAN Cafe at a college Relay in MA

•  Lobbied for ACSCAN priority issues at Massachusetts Statehouse

Publications

Oluwatoyin, A., Zern. A., Langlois, S., Compton, M., (2023) Adverse Childhood Experiences
and Arrest Rates among Individuals with Serious Mental Illnesses. Journal of American
Academy of Psychiatry and the Law, doi: 10.29158/JAAPL.220096-22

Compton. M.T., Graves, J., Zern, A., Pauselli, L., Anderson, S., Ashekun, O., Ellis, S., Langlois,

S., Pope, L., Watson, A.C. and Wood, J., (2022). Characterizing Arrests and Charges Among

Individuals With Serious Mental Illnesses in Public-Sector Treatment Settings. Psychiatric

Services, https://doi.ora/10.1176/apDi.P5.202000581

Pope, L.G., Langlois, S., Warnock, A., Perry, T.H., Anderson, S., Boswell, T., Compton, M.T.,
Watson, A., Applebaum, P., Dixon, L.(2022) Information Sharing across Mental Health.Service
Providers and Criminal Legal System Stakeholders: Perspectives of People with Serious Mental
Illness and their Family Members. Journal of Social Science and Medicine, 307
doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2022.115178.

Compton, M.T., Zern,'A.,Langlois, 8., Ashekun, 0. (2022) Associations Between Adverse
Childhood Experiences and Tobacco, Alcohol, and Drug Use Among Individuals with Serious
Mental Illnesses in Public-Sector Treatment Settings. Community Mental Health Journal 1-

7.https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-022-01014-9.

Langlois, S., Pauselli, L., Anderson, S., Ashekun, 0., Ellis, S., Graves, J., Zern, A., Gaffney, E.,
Shim, R. S., & Corhpton, M. T. (2020). Effects of perceived social status and discrimination on

hope and empowerment among individuals with serious mental illnesses. Psychiatry Research,
286. https://doi.Org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112855

Langlois, S., Zern, A., Anderson, S., Ashekun, O., Ellis, S., Graves, J. S., & Compton, M. T.
(2020). Subjective social status, objective social status, and substance use among individuals
with serious mental illnesses. Psychiatry Research, 293.
https://doi.Org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113352

Langlois, S., Zern. A., Kelley, M., Compton, M.T. (2020) Adversity In childhood/adolescence
and premorbid tobacco, alcohol, and cannabis use among first-episode psychosis patients.

Early Intervention In Psychiatry. iti1%55:£6664jm3o85=; ̂

Conference Presentations

Compton, M.T.. Pauselli, L., Langlois, S., & Zern, A. (Oct. 2019). Locked up: What
patients with serious mental illness are arrested for and charged with and what,
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psychiatrists can do about it. American Psychiatric Association IPS conference.
Estimated participants: 150

Honors/Awards — ^

•  Phi Beta Kappa

• Tri-Beta Biological Honors Society

•  Dean's List 2013-2017

• Clinton v. Maccoy Prize in Ecology 2017

• Wheaton Foundation Grant for Personal Research Fall 2016

• Mars Career Exploration Fellow Summer 2016

Balfour Scholar Summer 2015 ^
•  Suzanne Fogelson Golden 67' Fellow Spring 2015
• Community Merit Scholar 2014

Certifications

• CITI certified for Basic Human Research and Good Research Practices

• HIPPA certified

• Crisis Prevention Institute (CPI)

•  ' Basic Life Support (BLS)

• Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation (CPR)

•  Registered yoga teacher

Computer Program Skills
SPSS, Dedoose, RedCAP, Avatar, LISREL, Image J, BTV, Microsoft Word,Excel, PowerPoint,

Hootsuite, Mendeley, Archivist's Toolkit, Dropbox, !-expense.

Volunteer Experience
Phoenix, Recovery Oriented Community Yoga Teacher September 2022-present

•  I teach one 1 hour class per week for an organization that provides free exercise classes

to people in recovery. Changed to monthly in March 2023.

Kilton Library, Community Yoga Teacher June 2022-present

•. One hour yoga class every week that is open to anyone in the local community.
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0MB No. 0925-0001 and 0925-0002 (Rev. 03/2020 Approved Through 02/28/2023)

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

Provide the following information for the Senior/key personnel and other significant contributors.

NAME; Victoria Flanagan

eRA COMMONS-USER-NAME-(credential,-e.g.,-agency-login):-RN.-MS —

POSITION TITLE: Perinatal Outreach Educator, Dartmouth-Hitchcock, Lebanon, NH

EDUCATION/TRAINING (Begin with baccalaureate or other initial professional education, such as nursing,
include postdoctoral training and residency training if applicable. Add/delete rows as necessary.)

INSTITUTION AND LOCATION

DEGREE

(if
applicable)

Completion
Date

■MMA^YY
FIELD OF STUDY

Loyola University, Chicago, IL BSN 1978 Nursing
Dartmouth Medical School, Hanover, NH MS 2003 Clinical Evaluative

Science

A. Personal Statement
As the Perinatal Outreach Educator for the Regional Program for Women's and Children's Health at
Dartmouth-Hitchcock in Lebanon, NH, I perform case reviews and provide educational support to perinatal
providers throughout Northern New England. Because of the opioid crisis in our region, many of the case
reviews focus on these clinical situations. Additional projects include the Perinatal Care of Women with
Substance Use Disorders Toolkit; Optimizing Care for Newborns with Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome Data
Driven Project; the New Hampshire's Governor's Task Force on Substance Abuse in Pregnancy and the
Maternal Mortality & Infant Death Review Committees.

1 also serve as the Director of Operations for"the Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement
Network (NNEPQIN), Founded in 2003, NNEPQIN is a yoluntary consortium of 50+ organizations in Vermont,
New Hampshire and Maine consisting of academic medical centers, community-based hospitals, state health
departments & professional home birth midwifery organizations. NNEPQIN's mission is to improve perinatal
care across the region by offering continuing education & quality improvement initiatives, developing best
practice guidelines while assisting members to adapt them for local implementation. As this grant states, our
region has been heavily impacted by opioid use disorder in pregnant women, and therefore NNEPQIN has
designed and supported many initiatives to address this issue and improve outcomes.
httos://www.nnepQin.orq

B. Positions and Honors
1995-present Perinatal Outreach Educator, The Regional Program for Women's and Children's Health,

Dartmouth-Hitchcock, Lebanon, NH
2009-present Director of Operations, Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Network

(NNEPQIN), Lebanon, NH
2012 - Present NH Maternal Mortality Case Abstractor, NH Department of Health and Human Services,

Concord, NH

C.
1.

2.

3.

Contributions to Science
Goodman D, Zagaria, A. Flanagan V et al. Feasibility and acceptability of a checklist and learning
collaborative to promote quality and safety in the perinatal care of women with opioid use disorders.
Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health. 2019 Jan;64(1):104-111
Atwood EC. Sollender G, Huas E, Arsnow C, Flanagan V et al. A Qualitative Study of Family Experience
with Hospitalization for Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome. Hospital Pediatrics. 2016; 6(10): 626-632.
Donnelly K, Lauria MR, Flanagan V. Multistate Collaboration to Confidentially Review Unanticipated
Perinatal Outcomes: Lessons Learned. Obstetrics and Gyneco/ogy 2015; 126(4):765-9.
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0MB No. 0925-0001 and 0925-0002 (Rev. 10/2021 Approved Through 01/31/2026)

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

Provide the following information for the Senior/key personnel and other significanl contributors.
Follow this format for each person. DO NOT EXCEED FIVE PAGES.

NAME: Julie S. Bosak, DrPH, CNM. MSN

eRA COMMONS USER NAME {credential, e.g.. agency login):

POSITION TITLE: Executive Director of Northern New England Quality Improvement Network (NNEPQIN) and
the New Hampshire Perinatal Quality Collaborative (NHPQC), both housed at Dartmouth Health.

EDUCATION/TRAINING (Begin with baccalaureate or other initial professional education, such as nursing, include
postdoctoral training and residency training if applicable. Add/delete rows as necessary.)

INSTITUTION AND LOCATION

DEGREE

(if applicable)
Start Date

MMATYY .

Completion
Date

MM/YYYY

FIELD OF STUDY

New York University, New York, NY
Georgetown University, Washington, DC
Boston University, School of Public
Health, Boston, MA

BSN

MSN

DrPH

08/1995

09/1997

09/2017

05/1997

01/2000

08/2022

Nursing

Midwifery

Public Health

A. Personal Statement

I am a certified nurse-midwife and public health practitioner concentrating on healthcare quality and access for
underserved rural populations in the northeast United States. My twenty years of clinical healthcare experience
have brought exposure to a wide variety of populations, providers, community settings, and systems of care -
along with an intimate understanding of the challenges faced by the rural healthcare system here in the
northeast. While clinical service has continued, it has now taken a backseat to my interest in leading broader
system-level improvements. This has required an evolution from leading local practice and system
improvements to identifying broader service gaps, program development and leading implementation of often
innovative yet always feasible solutions. For example, in response to the lack of services for perinatal SUD in
our community, I launched a prenatal SUD program that continues to this day as the only service in our region.

These practical experiences informed my doctoral studies and ongoing research, in which 1 utilize qualitative
and quantitative methods to discover strategies for achieving meaningful, sustained engagement with
underserved, vulnerable rural populations. It is most rewarding to see the co-design in action, as when my
dissertation research informed efforts of an interdisciplinary group of providers creating a long-term residential
addiction treatment program for pregnant and parenting women with SUD. And now, my current roles offer a
unique way to apply my accumulated knowledge, skills and professional objectives. NNEPQIN, on the one
hand, provides continuing education on locally relevant improvement opportunities to its 50 hospital member
sites. The newly established NHPQC, on the other hand, is expanding involvement of stakeholders well
beyond hospitals with a focus on equity and creating a more inclusive approach. Our launch event in March
2024 attracted over 200 diverse NH stakeholders, including community-based health and social services, and
grassroots organizations representing BIPOC and immigrant communities, women and birthing people.

B. Positions, Scientific Appointments and Honors
2023-present Executive Director, Northem New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Network

Director, New Hampshire Perinatal Quality Collaborative, Population Health, Dartmouth
Health, Lebanon, NH

2022-present Public Health Consulting, North Country Health Consortium, Littleton, NH
2022-present Preventive Medicine Fellowship Leadership Team, Boston Medical Center, Boston, MA
2022-2023 Clinician, Women's"Health/ Addiction, White Mtn Community Health Center, Conway, NH
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2021-2022 Pre-doctoral Research Fellow, Implementation Science, HEALing Communities Study,
Boston Medical Center, Boston, MA

2021 . Rural Health Policy Fellow, National Rural Health Association, Washington, DC
2021-present Elected to Board of Directors, Northern Human Services, Carroll/ Coos County, NH
2020-present Elected to Board of Directors, Way Station, Conway, NH
2020-2023 Appointed Member, NH State Health Assessment/ Improvement Plan Task Force
2020-2022 . Researcher, Families Flourish Northeast, Lebanon, NH
20T9^'res¥rit "Clinician','Dartmouth''Hitch^ck~M^icarCe1iter,''Leb^rionrNH * ~
2019-present Instructor, OB/GYN, Geisel School of Medicine, Lebanon, NH
2019 ' Policy Group Fellow, Planned Parenthood of Northern New England, Burlington. VT.
2018-2020 Program Development Consultant, Families Flourish Northeast, Lebanon, NH
2015-2017 Founder and Clinical Lead, New Life Prenatal ODD Program, Merhorial Hospital, NH
2012-2017 Clinician, White Mountain Community Health Center, Conway, NH
2012-2017 Clinician, Women's Health, Memorial Hospital, North Conway, NH
2009-2012 ...Clinician, Concord Feminist Health Center, Concord, NH
2009-2012 Project Lead, The Business of Being Bom: Classroom Edition, NY, NY
2010-2012 Clinician and Practice Lead, fearrisoh Women's Health (Satellite), Wolfeboro, NH
2006-2010 Clinician, Garrison Women's Health Center, Dover, NH
2005-2006 Clinician, Avis Goodwin Community Health Center, Dover, NH
2001-2003 Clinician, National Women's Hospital, Auckland, N2
1999-2001 Clinician, freestanding birth center. Maternity Center, Bethesda, MD

Honors i

2012 American College of Nurse Midwives: Media Award '
2000 Georgetown University: MSN Midwifery, Cum Laude Honors
1997 New York University: BSN Nursing, Cum Laude Honors '

B. Contributions to Science

1. Co-Design implementation with vulnerable populations
\

For a newly founded organization, designed and led implementation of an innovative co-design initiative that ■
critically analyzed and integrated trauma-informed, patient-centered care principles into policies and
processes. Engaged 32 participants over an 18-month period while adapting, assessing and redirecting
approach within a continuously changing organizational and health care environment driven by the unfolding
pandemic. Developed and applied inclusive work process that modified the power dynamic between women in
recovery and medical providers. As lead researcher, managed team of research assistants through data
collection and analysis, utilizing qualitative methods and implementation science framework. Secured HRSA
Maternal Child Health Award funding through Boston University. Produced two published articles, each filling a
gap in the literature evaluating co-design with pregnant and parenting women in varying stages of recovery.

2. Comrhunity coalitions enhancing Opioid Use Disorder service delvery, HEALing Communities Study
Managed state team conducting large-scale qualitative analysis and utilizing quantitative data collection tools.

•  Created ethnographic observation database covering interpersonal dynamics, conversation flow and overall
culture of coalition as it evolved over the course of the study. Selected member of team creating research
protocols and tools for mixed method data collection across 64 sites in four states.

Separately, led a geographically dispersed team of researchers with diverse skillsets through multi-state,
mixed-method research on Community Advisory Boards. New findingsVevealed effective approaches for
building a cohesive CAB on a remote platform and strategies to engage community members with lived
expertise of SUD in meaningful participation..

Complete List of Published Work in MyBibliography

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/mvncbi/lReB8MGowu09Jk/bibliographv/public/
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MAGGIE COLEMAN, MPH

EDUCATION

.D.artmo.uth_Coll€gc,.Hano.v.cr,.iSH

Master ofPublic Health June 2022

Delta Omega Honor Society, Social Justice AvN'ard Recipient

University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA

Bachelor of Arts in Anthropology and Spanish Junc2014

Magna cum laude, Phi Beta Kappa Honor Society

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

Dartmouth Health, Lebanon, NH Fcbruarj' 2022 - Present

Population Health Coordinator

•  Supporting NH birthing hospitals' implementation of perinatal care quality improvement safety bundles.

•  Implementing youth vaping prevention strategies in partnership with community champions,

•  Designing models for supportive hiring pathways to further Dartmouth Health's anchor mission.

DHMC Community Health Improvement Plan (CHIP) Strategy Consultant

•  Synthesized and reviewed data from community and clinical discussions for.FY23-FY25 CHIP writing.

Engaged with clinical teams to Verify data collection plans for initiatives included in FY23-FY25 CHIP.

DHMC Community Health Improvement, Plan Strategy Intern

Facilitated clinical and community focus groups and interviews in response to FY2I Community Health
Needs Assessment (CHNA).

•  Performed qualitative analysis of CHNA feedback in Dedoose to inform the FY23-FY25 CHIP strategy.

Public Health Council of the Upper Valley, Lebanon, NH June 2022 March 2023

Community Health Improvement Plan (CHIP) Strategy Consultant

Supported creation of the PHC's regional CHIP by researching existing improvement models, reviewing
data from clinical and community teams, and facilitating discussions around identified priority health areas.

Early Childhood Consultant

Developed an evidence-based best practice framework by which to assess regional services and supports

for early childhood wellbeing.

•  Collected and analyzed qualitative data obtained from interviews of early childhood services at the system,
provider, and caregiver level.

•  Generated an accessible report of findings for use in improvement planning and cross-sector collaboration.

Dartmouth College, Hanover, NH June 2022 - Present

Graduate Teaching Assistant, The Dartmouth Institute

-Support TDI faculty in developing course materials, coaching students, and grading assignments.

Guldepost Montessori, Virtual School November 2020-July 2021

Lead Toddler Teacher ' '

•  Designed and implemented a virtual Montessori curriculum for 20 remote students aged 2 to 4 years.

Collaborated with families to design at-home environments promoting children's growth and independence.

Minor Avenue Children's House, Seattle, WA January 2016 - July 2020

Lead Toddler Teacher

•  Designed and implemented a Montessori curriculum for 14 students aged 12 months to 3 years while

managing a staff of 3 assistants.

•  Authored individualized lesson plans promoting social-emotional, cognitive, and physical development.

•  Led parent conferences and authored content for family education events and newsletters.

Created virtual learning materials, interactive videos, and parent education portal amidst COVID-19.



KAREN G. LEE

WORK EXPERIENCE:

Mary Hitchcock. Memorial Hospital

Lebanon, NH (6/2019 - Present)

•  Regional Program Educational Events Coordinator Ibi DHiVIC's Regional
Progi"ain lor Women's & Children's Health and (he Northern New England
Quality Im])rovenient Network (NNEPQIN). This position rec[uires su'perioi-
org^inizational skills, written and oral communication skills, conndentiality and
leadership qualities. Facilitating all aspects ol'conferences and assisting \vith
administrative aspects of mulrijjle giants and minute taking required.

(10/2011-6/2019)

• General Surgery Residency Program Coordinator for DHMC's Genenil Medical
Education Office. Responsibilities included oversight of all administrative

'  activities as.sociated with the tniiniiig program, ensuring that the prognun's overall
educational environment facilitates the achievement of defined program
objectives. This includes assisting the Program Director in ensuring that the
tiaining program is in full compliance witlf GME Office policies and procedures
as well as relevant institutional policies and procedures, ACGME requirements
;md regulations and relevant professional standards and criteria.

(5/2010 -10/2011)

• Management Assistant for Dr. Andrew Gettinger, Associate Dean, Clinical
Informatics as well as for the Informatics team. Duties included cooidinating
Informatics Grand Rounds, the search for the Director of Biomedical

Informatics, and ])roviding administrative, scheduling and organizational support
for Informatics Physician Chamjjions. Rec[uired excellent communication,
org*aniz;itional skills and confidentiality.

(4/2005 -5/2010)

•  Educational Conference Manager for DHMC's Rcgioiuil Program for Women's
& Children's Health. This position recjiiired sujjerior organiziitional skills,
written and oral communication skills, confidentiality and leadershij) ciualities.
Involved teaching, mentoring and supervision of administrative assistants learning
to orgjinize their department's conferences. Budgeting for conferences and
assuring that conferences were fiscally and educationally successful to the si)onsor
as well as to the attendees. Communication with physician speakers, course
particij^ants, nurse managers from outlying facilities as \vell :ls exhibitors lequired.

COMMTITEES:

Residency Coordinator Wellness Conimittee (GLEAM Team), Vice Chair
9/2017 - Pre.sent

Adrainistrative Advisory Group, Chair
DHMC's Residency and Fellowship Coordinator Group
4/2014 - 6/2016

GME Duty Hour Subcommittee, Participating Member
10/2011 - 6/2016



Resume of-

KAREN G. LEE

P;ige 2

CERTIFICATIONS:

Mental Health First Aid

Cerrifiecl-4/20.1.8

Training Administrators of Graduate Medical Education fl AGME)
Ceitified 10/2017

Yellowbelt Certification, Value Institute Learning Center at Dartmouth
Certified 8/2016

Greenbelt Projects:

GME Coordinator Information Project - Project Leader, Danielle Poltei"
GME Coordinator Develoi^ment Pioject - Pioject Leader, Willo Sullivan

AWARDS; 2018 Graduate Medical Education Coordinator of the Year Award
I

PRESENTATIONS:

Residency Coordinator Wellness
2018 GME Program Director & Coordinator Retreat
May. 14, 2018, Woodstock, Vermont

Your Wellness Matters! Extending Wellness to Coordinators
2018 Massachusetts Society of Academic Medical Administrators (MSAMA)
Conference, April 6, 2018, Boston, Massachusetts

Showcasing Your Program: Why Wouldn't They Want to Come Here?
2015 GME Coordinator Retreat, Quechee, Vennonl

Ensuring Continuity of Your Program & Developing the Coordinator Within
2014 GME Coordinator Retreat, Quechee, Vermont

EDUCATION:

REFERENCES:

INSTITUTE OF CHILDREN'S LITERATURE, West Redding, CT
Certificate, Two-year VVriling Course for Children's Lileratuie

CHAMPLAIN COLLEGE. Burlington, Vermont
Associate in Science Degiee in Court Repoi ling
Summa Cum Diude.

ST.JOHNSBURY ACADEMY, Sr.Johnsbuo', Vermont
Honors Giaduate, National Honor Society Member

References Available Upon Retjuest
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BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

Provide the following information for the Senior/key personnel and other significant contributors.
Follow this format for each person. DO NOT EXCEED FIVE PAGES.

NAME: Emily R. Baker

eRA COMMONS USER NAME (credential, e.g., agency login):

POSITION TITLE: Division Director, Maternal Fetal Medicine and Vice Chair for Obstetrics, DHMC

EDUCATION/TRAINING (Begin with baccalaureate or other initial'professional education, such as nursing,
include postdoctoral training and residency training if applicable. Add/delete rows as necessary.)

INSTITUTION AND LOCATION

DEGREE

('^
applicable)

Completion .
Date

MMTTVYY

FIELD OF STUDY

Stanford University, Stanford, CA AB 06/1981 Psychology

Stanford University School of Medicine MD 06/1986 Medicine

University of Chicago Hospitals, Chicago, IL Postdoctoral 06/1990 Obstetrics and

Gynecology
Tufts University/St. Margaret's Hospital, Boston, Postdoctoral 06/1992 Maternal Fetal Medicine

MA

A. Personal Statement '

I have spent my career in healthcare in Northern Nevt/ England giving care to women with specialized
obstetrics needs. I provide support to referring providers by patient consultation and by availability for ad hoc
clinical support. My clinical role and leadership positions have allowed me to contribute to setting of standards
for prenatal care. Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health system has a long history of reaching out to our states'
hospitals. A valued example is the transport conferences we hold each year on site at each referring hospital
that allow invaluable insight into the strengths an'd challenges at rural hospitals in Northern New England. I
have observed the increased strain on our rural hospitals and communities from closure of obstetrics systems,
poverty and prevalence of substance use disorders. I am committed to spend the remainder of my career
working to develop systems of care to improve perinatal outcomes, foster community strength, and develop
sustainable, excellent healthcare systems.

B. Positions

1992-1994 Maternal-Fetal Medicine specialist and Assistant Professor of Obstetrics & Gynecology, New
England Medical Center, Tufts University School of Medicine, Boston, MA.

1994-2000 Maternal-Fetal Medicine specialist and Assistant Professor of Obstetrics & Gynecology and
Radiology,

1997.-present Director of Maternal -Fetal Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, DHMC
1997-present Medical Director, Birthing Pavilion
2000-2007 Maternal-Fetal Medicine specialist and Associate Professor of Obstetrics and Gynecology and

Radiology, Director of Maternal -Fetal Medicine, Dartmouth Medical School. Lebanon NH.
2000-present Vice Chair, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Dartmouth Medical School, Lebanon NH.
2003-2009 Member, Board of Governors, Dartmouth .Hitchcock Clinic, Lebanon, NH.

2005-2009 Member, Board of Trustees, Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital,
Hanover NH.

2007-present Maternal-Fetal Medicine specialist and Professor of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Radiology
2008-2010 Member, Board of Trustees, Dartmouth Hitchcock Alliance
2008-2012 Member, Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center Board of Overseers



other Experience and Professional Memberships

1995-present Chair, Perinatal Clinical Practice and Policy Committee
1996-2010 Protocol Development. Portsmouth Prenatal Clinic. Portsmouth, New Hampshire
1997-2001 Director. Residency Program. Obstetrics and Gynecology ^
1998-present Member. Society of Maternal-Fetal Medicine
1998-present Member, American Institute of Ultrasound in Medicine
1998-2000 Member, State of New Hampshire Project for Uniform Patient Education in Obstetrics
1999-present Chair, Quality Assurance Committee for Obstetrics
2010-present Co-author, Development of Standard Protocols for Outpatient Prenatal Care. DHH
2012-present. Member, New Hampshire Maternal Mortality Review Board
2014-present Member, New Hampshire Board of Medicine
2016-2018 Vice President; New Hampshire Board of Medicine
2018-present President, New Hampshire Board of Medicine

C. Contributions to Science

1. Excellence in advancing evidence-based practice in obstetrics clinical care. My research has served
to improve clinical practice in support of the health and well-being of pregnant women and their offspring.
a. Frank JE, Rhodes TT. Edwards WH.'Darnall RA. Smith BD, Little GA. Baker ER, Stys SJ. Flanagan

VA. The New Hampshire Perinatal Program: Twenty years of perinatal outreach education. J ' v,
■Perinatology 19:3-8, 1999

b.' Craigo SD, Baker ER. Medical Complications in Pregnancy: Practical Pathways in Obstetrics &
Gynecology, McGraw Hill. 2005

c. Cordell MN. Foster TC. Baker ER, Fildes B. Collaborative maternity care: Three decades of success at
Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2012 Sep:39(3):383-98

d. Emond JA, Karagas MR, Baker ER, Gilbert-Diamond D. Better Diet Quality.during Pregnancy Is
Associated with a Reduced Likelihood of an Infant Born Small for Gestational Age: An Analysis of the
Prospective New Hampshire Birth Cohort Study. J Nutr. 2018 Jan 1:148(1):22-30. PMID: 29378041

2. Investigating sources of exposure to heavy metals among reproductive aged women and during
pregnancy. In support of the goals of the New Hampshire Cohort studyj my research has helped to
elucidate important sources of exposure to heavy metals among pregnant women and young children.
Selected bibiliography:
a. Punshon T, Li Z, Marsit CJ, Jackson BP, Baker ER, Karagas MR. Placental metal concentration in

relation to maternal and infant toenails in a US cohort. Environ Sci Technol. 2016 Feb 2:50(3): 1587-94.
PMCID: PMC4873612

b. Punshon T, Davis MA, Marsit CJ, Theiler.SK, Baker ER, Jackson BP. Conway DC. Karagas
MR. Placental arsenic concentrations in relation to both maternal and infant biomarkers .of exposure in
a US cohort. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol 2015 Nov-Dec;25(6):599-603. PMCID: PMC4583336

c. Gilbert-Diamond DG, Cottinghama KL. Grubera JF. Punshona T. Savarantha V, Gandolfo AJ, Baker
ER, Jackson BP, Folta CL. Karagas MR. Rice consumption contributes to arsenic exposure in US
women. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA- 2011 Dec 20; 108 (51), p. 20656-
20660. PMCID: PMC3251121

/

D. Additional Information: Research Support

Ongoing Research Support
5P42ES007373-23 Karagas (PI) 04/01/2008-03/31/2019
Arsenic Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Exposure Assessment of Metals, New Hampshire Birth Cohort Study
The major goal is to understand, assess and attenuate the adverse effects on human health resulting from
environmental exposures to toxic metals including those emanating from highly contaminated Superfund sites.
Role: Co-Investigator



0MB No. 0925-0001 and 0925-0002 (Rev. 10/2021 Approved Through 01/31/2026)

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH
Provide the following information for the Senior/key personnel and other significant contributors.

Follow this format for each person. DO NOT EXCEED FIVE PAGES.

NAME: Goodman, Daisy

eRA COMMONS USER NAME (credential, e.g., agency login): DJGoodman

POSITION TITLE: Associate Professor, Dept of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Dept of Community and
Family Medicine, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth; Vice Chair of Research, Dept of Obstetrics and
Gynecology

EDUCATION/TRAINING

INSTITUTION AND LOCATION !
DEGREE

(if applicable)
Completion
' Date

FIELD OF STUDY

Yale University, New Haven, CT BA 06/1985 Linguistics

N.H. Community Technical College, Berlin,
NH

AD-RN 06/1998 Nursing

Frontier School of Midwifery and Family CNMAWHNP 06/2002 Nurse-Midwifery, Women's
Nursing, Hyden, KY Health

State University of New York, Stony Brook,
NY

MS 06/2004 Nursing

Massachusetts'General Hospital, Boston, MA DNP . 06/2009 Nursing

The Dartmouth Institute/Geisel School of MPH 06/2014 Public Health

Medicine, Lebanon, NH

Veterans Health Administration Quality Post-doctoral 06/2015 Healthcare Quality Improvement
Scholars, WRJ, VT fellowship

A. Personal Statement

I am a practicing nurse midvt/ife and health services researcher with twenty years of frontline engagement
in the design, delivery, and evaluation of care for rural, underserved women. My work focuses on pregnancies
complicated by drug and alcohol use, co-occurring mental health conditions, and other social stressors. I have
a strong background in clinical improvement, program implementation, and implementation research working
at the national, regional, and state level to facilitate adoption of research-driven initiatives in perinatal.
substance use treatment, and I currently lead two programmatic initiatives funded through the Health
Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) Rural Communities Opioid Response Program.

I am a founding member of Dartmouth Health's (DH) Moms In Recovery Program, a nationally
recognized, multidisciplinary perinatal addiction program serving rural pregnant and parenting people in central
New Hampshire and Vermont. In these program leadership roles I am acutely aware of the central role of
translational research in learning from and informing clinical care, to ensure that patients have access to highly
effective, equitable, and accessible care for substance use and perinatal care. My clinical experience and my
deep commitment to community engaged research is infused throughout my work. I currently lead two Health
Resources and Services Administration,(HRSA) funded projects to Improve perinatal care for underserved^
rural communities, through the Rural Community Opioid Response Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome (RCORP-
NAS II) and the Rural Maternity and Obstetrics Management Systems (RMOMS) programs; and serve as mPI
for the PCORI funded MOms in REcovery (MORE) Study, a comparative effectiveness study of models of care
for pregnant people with opioid use, and a recently awarded PCORI Community Engagement Grant to build
capacity for dissemination of evidence based care for perinatal mental health conditions. My clinical
background lies in implementirig integrated mental health, substance use and perinatal care models, and my
work with disadvantaged and marginalized rural birthing commutiities has prepared me to work collaboratively
with patients, families, and frontline healthcare providers to address issues of equity in access and quality of
maternal mental health care.



citations:

a) Goodman, D, Saunders, E, Frew, J et al. Integrated versus non-integrated treatment for perinatal
opioid use disorder: Retrospective cohort study. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology
Maternal Fetal Medicine 2022.

b) Morgan, A, Goodman, D, Vinagolu-Baur, J, Cass, I. Prenatal Telemedicine During COVID-19:
.Eatterns.of„Use_and_BarnersJpAcj:.ess._JAM/A.,Open.2021 .(eP.ub).

c) Viganolu-Baur, J, Goodman, D, Morgan, A. Reducing health disparities with audio-only telemedicine
post COVID-19. HPHR2021:39.

d) Goodman, D, Saunders, E, Wolff, K. In their own words: A qualitative study of factors promoting
resilience and recovery among postpartum women with opioid use disorders. BMC Pregnancy and
Childbirth 2020-, ̂ 7Q:^-^0.

B. Positions and Honors

Positions and Emoiovment

2023-present Associate Professor, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Geisel School of Medicine
2021 Vice Chair of Research, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Geisel School of Medicine
2017-2023 Assistant Professor, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Geisel School of Medicine
2016-2017 .Clinical Assistant Professor, TDI, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth
2015-2016lnstructor,The Dartmouth Institute for Health Policy and Clinical Practice (TDI), Geisel School of
Medicine at Dartmouth

2013-2015 Instructor in Obstetrics and Gynecology, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth
2013- 2014 Adjunct faculty of Nurse-midwifery, Frontier Nursing University
2011-2013 Adjunct Faculty, Continuing Medical/Professional Education, Philadelphia University
2011-2012 Clinical Instructor, Tufts School of Medicine
2006- 2013 Certified Nurse Midwife, Franklin Health Women's Care, Franklin Memorial
2002-2006 Certified Nurse Midwife, Swift River Health Care, Rumford Hospital
2002 Registered Nurse, Maine General Medical Center
1998-2000 Registered Nurse, Weeks Memorial Hospital

C. Contributions to Science

1. Improving clinical care and outcomes for marginalized women. I am currently a core investigator in the
NIDA Clinical Trials Network Northeast Node, directed by Dr. Lisa Marsch. My scholarship has consistently -
focused on perceived barriers and facilitators of engagement with the healthcare system among marginalized •
women, and the utilization of implementation and improvement science to address their critical needs. My
doctoral work involved the development and validation of a guideline for managing perinatal opioid use
disorders utilizing buprenorphine, at the time (2009), a hovel therapy for pregnant women. This work led to
program development and implementation of this treatment approach at the community hospital level, in
response to a growing opioid crisis in Maine, and participation in the workgroup sponsored by Maine CDC,
which developed the state's first perinatal substance use treatment guideline. My research and programmatic
interest lie in the design, implementation, and evaluation of effective care models for low-resource pregnant
people with substance use disorders (SUD), and in understanding structural and interpersonal barriers to
implementation of comprehensive, patient-centered, and effective services for this population. Serving as
steering committee member for the Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Network and clinical
lead for the NH-Alliance for Innovation in Maternal Health, I support the implementation of national guidelines
to reduce substance-related maternal morbidity and mortality across New Hampshire's 16 birthing hospitals.

a) Krans, E, Campopiano, M, Cleveland, L, Goodman, D et al. National Partnership for Maternal Safety
Consiensus Bundle on Obstetric Care for Women with Opioid Use Disorder. Obstetrics and
Gynecology 2019.

b) Goodman D, Zagaria A, Flanagan V; Deselle F,-Hitchings A, Maloney R, Small T, Vergo A, Bruce, ML.
Feasibility and acceptability of a checklist and learning collaborative to promote quality and safety in the
perinatal care of women with opioid use disorders. Journal of Midwifery and Women's Health, 2018.

c) Goodman D. Improving access to maternity care for women with opioid use disorders: colocation of
midwifery services at an addiction treatment program. J Midwifery Womens Health. 2015; 60; 6:706-
12.d)
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BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

Provide the following informalion for the Senior/key personnel and other significant contributors.
Foliow this format for each person. 00 NOT EXCEED FIVE PAGES.

NAME: Fisher, Timothy

eRA COMMONS USER NAME (credential, e.g., agency login): N/A
I

POSITION TITLE: Medical Director, Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Network'
(NNEPQIN), Assistant Professor of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Obstetrics and Gynecology Residency Program
Director.

EDUCATION/TRAINING (Begin with baccalaureate or other initial professional education, such as nursing,
include postdoctoral training and residency.training if applicable. Add/delete rows as necessary.)

INSTITUTION AND LOCATION DEGREE

(if applicable)
YEAR(s) FIELD OF

STUDY

Union College, Schenectady NY B.S. 1989-1993 Biology

Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth,
Hanover NH

M.D. 1993-1998 Medicine

Naval Medical Center San Diego CA Internship and
Residency

1998-2002 Obstetrics

and

Gynecology

Dartmouth College, Hanover NH M.S. 2011-2013 Health Care

Delivery
Science

A. Personal Statement

I moved to rural New Hampshire in 2006 to provide worhen's health services as part of a smalt multispecialty
group practice. I became quickly and acutely aware of the challenges faced by women and families in rural
communities as well as those faced by health care organizations in delivering high quality care in a resource-
constrained environment. Motivated to better understand the complexities, inadequacies, and opportunities to
improve the local, regional and national health care systems, I enrolled in the inaugural class of the Masters of
Health Care Delivery Science at Dartmouth College. My initial application of this skill set was local, including
the re-design of our women's health practice to a fully integrated collaborative practice model with certified
nurse midwives, implementation of Centering Pregnancy as our foundational model of prenatal care delivery
and, finally, creation of the state's first community-based integrated treatment program for pregnant and
postpartum women with opioid use disorder called "Mothers in Recovery." Since then, I have been embracing
my role as the Ob/Gyn Residency Program Director at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center. Beyond the day-
to-day work of teaching, clinical supervision, and curriculum design, this job gives me a unique perspective on
and important role in developing the ne)d generation of physicians. Over the last decade, I have also become



increasingly involved with the Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Network (NNEPQIN). As a
member of NNEPQIN's steering committee since 2008 and, more recently, as its Medical Director, I've
witnessed the challenges of staying connected with patients to deliver consistent care across rural New
Hampshire. I am excited by the potential of this proposal to build a multidisciplinary research team to
systematically study the clinical effectiveness of remote group prenatal care rural New Hampshire.

B. Positions and Honors

Geisel School of Medicine. Dartmouth College. Hanover, NH

Adjunct Assistant Professor Assistant Professor of Obstetrics and Gynecology 2007 ̂  2016
Assistant Professor of Obstetrics and Gynecology 2016-Present

2016- 2023: Obstetrics and Gynecology Residency Program Director, Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center,
Lebanon NH

2017- 2018: Interim Director, Division of General Obstetrics and Gynecology, Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical
Center, Lebanon NH

2016-Present: Medical Director, Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Network

2016-2017:. Associate Women's Health Service Line Leader, Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health System

2013-2016: Chair, Department of Surgery, Cheshire Medical Center/Dartmouth-Hitchcock Keene

2009-2013: Chair, Department of Ob/Gyn, Cheshire Medical Center/Dartmouth-Hitchcock Keene

2008-2016: Steering Committee Member, Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Network

2002-2004: Ob/Gyn Department Head, Naval Hospital, Roosevelt Roads Puerto Rico

2001-2002: Administrative Chief Resident, Naval Medical Center, San Diego

0. Contributions to Science

Vedam S, Stoll K, MacDorman M, Declercq E, Cramer R, Cheyney M, Fisher T, Butt E, Yang Y, Powell
Kennedy H, (2018) Mapping integration of midwives across the United States: Impact on access, equity, and
outcomes. PLoS ONE 13(2): e0192523. https://doi.or9/10.1371/journal.pone.0192523

Vedam S, Leeman L, Cheyney M, Fisher T, Myers S, Kane-Low L, Ruhl C. Transfer from Planned Home Birth
to Hospital: Improving Interprofessional Collaboration. J Midwifery Womens Health 2014; 59:624-634.

Fisher TJ, McHale MT, Harrison TA. Colposcopic appearance at time of loop excision and subsequent
histologic diagnosis: Abstract presented at October 2001 ACOG Armed Forces District meeting, Norfolk VA.

Fisher TJ, Menefee SA, Powell CR. Complex urethral diverticulum repair using modified bulbocavernosus flap
and suburethral sling. Oral presentation, 2000 ACOG Armed Forces District Meeting, Cincinnati OH.

Fisher TJ, Hollis-Perry M, Harrison TA, Secord AR. Daly R. Coexistent virilizing stromal hyperthecosis and
Brenner tumor of the ovary: A case report. Poster presentation, 2000 AC0(3 Armed Forces District Meeting.
Cincinnati OH.

Sabi FL, Gaylord TG, Pollock KM, Fisher TJ, McNamara M. Fetal compromise from uterine prolapse: a novel
approach to delivery. Poster presentation, 2000 ACOG Armed Forces District Meeting, Cincinnati OH.



Fisher TJ. Schwartz RG, Thompson C, Van Geel T, Carleo J, Leon RJ. Transient Ischemia Dilation Identifies
Risk of Subsequent Cardiac Events. Journal of Nuclear Cardiology. 1997; 4;S106 (Abstract 95.4).
Presentation, Third International Conference on Nuclear Cardiology, Florence, Italy April 1997.

hiaque WA, Schwartz RG, Fisher TJ, Miller Watelet L, Oakes D, Mackin M, Thompson C, van Geel T, Carleo
J,. Leon RJ, Pentz WH, Kalaria VG. Transient ischemia dilation provides incremental prognostic value to
j:tuant.itativejS.PECrj;^rculatipi)J_9_9_7:_96;.Suppl._(Abstract.#JP7jB),.M95.„FTesejitaJion,_7pih_Sa
Sessions, November 1997, Orlando, PL

D. Additional Information: Research Support and/or Scholastic Performance

2018-Present: "Maternity Ward Closures in.Rural New Hampshire: Investigating the Causes, Consequences, and
Strategies for Mitigating Adverse Effects": Robert Wood Johnson Foundation Interdisciplinary Research Leaders
program. $350,000 total award to three member research team, 0.07 FTE

2018-2019: "Improving prenatal smoking cessation through enhanced local services "March of Dimes
Community Grants Program/NH Anthem/Blue Shield Foundation. Principal Investigator, $20,000 award, 0.05 FTE



NH Department of Health and Human Services

KEY PERSONNEL

/

Contractor Name

List those primarily responsible for meeting the terms and conditions of the agreement.

Job descriptions not required for vacant positions.
;

,  AIM grant FY 24

NAME . JOB TITLE V- *"
.ANNUAL

' AMOUNT PAID'.
FROMJhilS , '
CONTRACT

ANNUAL SALARY

Julie Bosak Program director/clinical subject matter expert '  $2,497.54 $108,118.00

To be named AIM data coordinator $10,781.97 $70,013.00

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00



NH Department of Health and Human Services

KEY PERSONNEL

List those primarily responsible for meeting the terms and conditions of the agreement.

Contractor Name:

Job descriptions not required for vacant positions.

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital SFY24

NAME JQBTITLE ■ - ■

ANNUAL

AiyiOUNT PAID
FROM THIS

CONTRACT

ANNUAL

SALARY

to be named Perinlai Outreach Nurse $12,307.20 $0.00

Stephanie Langlois Maternal Mortality/MCH Coordinator $17,030.00 $0.00

Victoria Flanagan Perinatal Outreach Nurse $32,771.65 " $0.00

Julie Bosak Clinical/Adminstrative Lead Maternal Mortality $7,900.96 $0.00

Margaret Coleman AIM data support $11,623.04 $0.00

Karen Lee Maternal Mortality/MCH Coordinator $2,782.00 $0.00

Julie Bosak Clinical/Adminstrative AIM MCH initiatives $7,900.96 $0.00

Emily Baker MD lead $7,623.00 $0.00

Daisy Goodman Clinical Lead $1,789.76 $0.00

Tim Fisher MD lead $750:00 $0.00



NH Department of Health and Human Services

KEY PERSONNEL

List those primarily responsible for meeting the terms and conditions of the agreement.

Contractor Name:

Job descriptions hot required for vacant positions.

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital SFY25

.  n,

J'"- •-liV - •

NAME - ■ ■ jpBTlTtiE .. >

•ANNUAL

AMOUNT PAID

;  FROM THIS

CONTRACT

ANNUAL SALARY

Julie Bosak Program director/clinical subject matter expert $10,812.00 $108,118.00

To be named AIM data coordinator $70,013.00 $70,01.3.00

Margaret Coleman AIM data coordinator $11,623.04 $58,115.00

Stephanie Langlois' MCH programming Sr coordinator $34,060.00 $68,120.00

Victoria Flanagan PerinatarOutreach MCH programming $8,034.21 $117,042.00
V

/
$0.00 $0.00



NH Department of Health and Human Services

KEYPERSONNEL

List th6se primarily responsible for meeting the terms and conditions of the agreement.

Job descriptions not required for vacant positions.

Contractor Name: Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital SFY25

NAME --v" • -■ JOBTITLE

ANNUAL .

AMOUNT PAID

FROM THIS

.CONTRACT

; ANNUAL
! SAI^RY

to be named Perintai Outreach Nurse $79,996.80 $79,996.80

Victoria Flanagan Perinatal Outreach Nurse $5,164.85 $117,042.00

Julie Bosak Ciinical/Adminstrative Lead Maternal Mortality $10,811.84 $108,118.00
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state of NEW.HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

DrVISON OF PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES

Lori A. Weaver

Interln ComoUtleoer

Patricia M. Tilkj'
Direeler

29 lUZEN DRIVE. CONCORD, NH 03301-3657
603.271-4501 1-800-852.3345 Ext. 4501

Fax: 603-271-4827 TDD Access: 1-800-735-2964 www.dbbs.Dh.eov

March 30, 2023

His Excetlency, Oovemor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord. New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Departrrient of Health and Human'Services. Divislbn of Public Health
Services, to enter jnto a Sole Source amendment to ah existing contract with Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of Dartmputh-Hltchcock Clinic (collectlvoly doing
business as "Dartmouth-Hitchcock"), (VC #177160). Lebanon. NH tp contiriue to provide Alli^ce
on Innovation in Maternal Health patient safety bundles to reduce maternal, mortality, by
increasing the price limitation by $434,556 from $325,226 to $759,782 and by extending the
completion dale from June 30. 2023 to June 30, 2025, effective upon Governor and Council
approval. 100% Federal Funds. w

The original contract was approved by Governor and Council on June 10,2020, item #12,
and amended on June 16. 2021. item #34, arid most recently amended on March 9,2022, item
#17.

Funds are available in the following accounts for State Fiscal Year 2023, and ar'e
ahticlpated to be available in State Fiscal Years 2024 and 2025, upon the availability and
continued appropriation of funds In the future operating budget, v^th the authority to adjust budget
line items within the price limitation and encumbrances between state fiscal years through the
Budget Office. If needed and justified. _ . .

05-95-90-902010-34870000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SVS. HHS: PUBLIC HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF COMY & HEALTH SERV,
MATERNAL MORTALITY -100% FEDERAL FUNDS

State
Fiscal

Year

Class/

Account
Class Title

Job
Number

Current

Budget

increased
(Decrea^d)
Amount

Revised

Budget

2020 102-500731

Contracts for
Program
Services

90080478 $68,278 $0 $68,278

2021 102-500731

Contracts for
Prograrn
Services

90080478 $68,278 .  $0 $68,278

2022 102-500731

Contracts for
Program
Services

90080478 $68,278 $0 $68,278
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His Exceilency, Governor Cl^tepher T. Sununu
end the Honofable Council
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-2023- -102-50.0731-
Contracts for
Program-
Services

-90080478- —$68j278^ „$0- -  $68,278:

2024 102-500731

Contracts for

Program
Services

90080478 $0 $66,276 $66,270

2025 102-500731

. Contracts for
Program '
Services

90080476 $0 $68,278 $68,270

.. Subtotal $273,112 $134,556 $407,668

05-96-90-902010-45260b()0 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SVS, HHS: PUBLIC HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF COMM & HEALTH SERV, MCH DATA
LINKAGE - 10D%FEDERAL FUNDS

State

Fiscal
Year

Class /

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Budget

2022 074-500589

Grants for

, Pub Asst

and Re!

90080125 • $52,114 • $0 '  $52,114

2023 074-500589

Grants for
Pub Asst

and Re!

90080125 $0 $0 ■  $0^

2024; 074-500589

Grants for
Pub Asst

and Rel

90080125 $0 $0 $0

2025 074-500589

Grants for
Pub Asst

and Rel

. 90080125 $0 ■' $0 ■  .. $p,.

• Subtotal $52,114- $0 .  $52,114 ;

05-96-90-902010-51900000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SVS, HHS; PUBLIC HEATLH DIV, BUREAU OF COMM & HEALTH SERV,
MATERNAL-CHILD HEALTH 100% FEDERAL FUNDS

State
Fiscal
Year

Class/
. Account

Class Title
Job

Number
Current
Budget

IncreaMd
(Decreased)

Amount

Revised
Budget -

2023 " 074-500589-
Grants for Pub
Asst and Rel

90004009 $6 ■$100,000 ' $100,000

2024 074-500589
Grants for Pub
Asst and Re!

90004009 .  " ■ ■ $0 $100,000 $100,000

2025 074-500589
Grants for Pub
Asst and Rel

90004009 .  $0 $100,000 $100,000

i .% t .
Subtotal $0 ■  $300,000 $300,000

Total $325,226 $434,556 $759,782
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and the Honorable Council
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EXPLANATION

This request is Sole Source because MOP 150 requires all amendments to agreements
pre'^iously approved as sole source to l>e identified as sole source. Additionally, the Department
is seeking to extend the agreement t^yond the completion date and there are no renewal options
available. RSA 132:30 stipulates that the Northem New England Perinatal Quality Improvement
Network at Dartmouth Health work with the Department on both reducing maternal mortality and

.nx>rbidity and abstrdCting/co-facilltatirig the Maternal Mortality Review Committee. The Contractor
is therefore the only vendor able to provide the necessary services.

The purpose of this request is for the Contractor to continue collat)oratlon with the Alliance
on Innovation in Maternal Health (AIM) to implement a minimum of two (2) AIM evidence-based
patient safety bundles, which is a structured way of delivering health care, to provide a
standardized approach, to improve the quality of health care provided to pregnant woman
impacted by opiold use and other substances. Opiold overdose is a leading cause of pregnancy:
associated deaths in New Hampshire. Each patient safety bundle includes a set of straightfonArard
evidence-based clinical practices that when performed collectively and consistently has been
proven to reduce maternal mortality and pregnancy associated deaths. These patient safety
bundles help pregnant woman and their families access support for behavioral health, mental
health, and other community resources, which help prevent substance misuse associated illness
and death during pregnancy, and will also result in cost savings to the Department.

The Contractor will also continue to support the Depariment's Maternal Mortality Review
Committee; which Includes, but is not limited to collecting maternal death information, abstracting
medical and non-medical records on maternal death cases, and participating in reviews of
maternal death cases.

The Department will, monitor services to ensure:

•  100% attendance at. and successful completion of, the national AIM Data'Community
of Learning to address data quality and share best practices In addressing needs of
the New Hampshire birthing facilities in implementing these bundles.

•  Completion of at least orre AIM data training session with the Department.for all of the
participating birthing locations to identify barriers to reporting AIM bundle-specific
outcome measures, including the percent of pregnant and postpartum, people
screened for substance misuse and validated screening tools and resources shared

" with-prehatalcare sites.

•  Timely submission of quarterly aggregate data reports to the Department regarding
-  , ■ AIM program progress, which include outcome measures associated with the patient

safety bundles being implemented.

Should the Govemor and Council hot authorize this, request, the Departrnent will not be
able to effectively address opiold related disorders in. preignant v/ohfien in New Hampshire, which
may result In ah increase in maternal rnortality related Ip opiold misuse.

Area senred: Statewide "i * • • .

Source of Federal Funds: Assistance Listing Number (ALN) 93.478, Federal Award
Identification.Number(FAIN) NU58DP006693: ALN. 93.991, FAIN B04MC45230.
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H)$ Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
' end the Hcrwrable Council

Page 4 of 4

In the event that the Federal Funds become no longer available. General Funds will hot
be requested to support this program.

Respectfully submitted.

Lori A. Weaver

Interim Commissioner

The Deporlmeni of Heallh and Human Struiees'Mission is iSjdin communi'des and families
in prooidii^ oppoflunilUs for ciUsens la achieve health and independence.
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State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Amendment #3

This Amendment to the B^ancin^Re^'^^nd'Suiveiilaixe td'Elimlna^^^ contfacfis"
by and between the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services ("State" or
"Department") and.Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock ,
Clinic (collectively doing business as "Dartmouth-Hitchcock") ("the Contractor"). .

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council ■
on June 10. 2020 (Item.#12), as amended on June 16, 2021 (Item #34). and most recently amended on
March 9. 2022 (Item #17), the Contractor agreed to perform certain services based upon the terms and
conditions specified in the Contract as amended and in consideration of certain sums specified: and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37. General Provisions, Paragraph 18, the Contract may be amended
upon written agreement of the parties and approval from the Governor and Executive Council; and

WHEREAS, the parties agree to extend the term of the agreement, increase the price limitation, and
modify the scope of services to support continued delivery of these services; and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows: '

1.. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.6, Account Number, to read: ,

05-95-90-902010-34870000 ' ■

05-95-90-902010-45260000

05-95-90-902010-51900000 . . .

■  2. Form P-37 General Provisions, Block 1.7, Completion Date, to read:

June 30,.2025 ■,

3. -Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.8, Price Limitatiori,-to read:
$759,782 ^ ^

4. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.9, Contracting Officer for State Agency, to read: ,
Robert W. Moore, Director ^

5. Modify Exhibit A - Amendment #i; Scope of Services, by, adding Subsections 2.19 through 2.21,.
to read: . . '
2.19 The Contractor shall establish a patient safety bundle learning collaborative comprised of

perinatal care providers. ' . ,

2.20 The Contractor shall facilitate collaborative monthly webinars on AIM and Maternal .
Mortality (in addition to learning collaborative).

2.21. The Contractor shall provide the following AIM data quality activities: ■
2.21.1 Provision of 1:1 data-quality assessment/support to participating birth hospitals

and birth centers;

2.21.2 Inclusion of content on data quality in monthly webinars; and
2.21.3 In collaboration with the Department, develop a hospital-level disparities

dashboard to track statewide and institution-specific metrics disaggregated by •
race, ethnicity, and payor.

-  . " ■ . . „ T'Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital A-S-1.3 Contractor Initials
"577

OS

ejH

72WT
SS-2020.DPHS-11-MAt6RN-01-A03 Page1of4 Dale
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6. Modify Exhibit B, Methods and Conditions Precedent to Payment, Section 2, to read:

2. This agreement is funded by 100% Federal Funds:
2.1v-r-54%-Federal~Funds-from-the-.preventing_MaternaLDealhs: Supporting Maternal,

Mortality Review Committees Grant, as awarded on June 30, 2021, by the U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control &
Prevention, Assistance Listing Number (ALN) 93.478, Federal Award Identification

■ Number (FAIN) NU58DP006693; • , ■

2.2. ■ 7% Federal Funds from the New Hampshire MCH Data Linkage Project, as awarded
on August 18, 2021 by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health
Resources and Services Administration, Maternal and Child Health Federal

\  Consolidated Programs, ALN 93.110, FAIN H1800033.

"2.3. 39% Federal Funds from the Maternal and Child' Health Federal Consolidated
Programs, as awarded on October 19, 2021 by the U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration, ALN'#93.991,
FAIN B04MC45230.

7.. Modify Exhibit B. Methods and Conditions Precedent to Payment, Section 4, Subsection 4.1, to
read:

■  ' 4.1 Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for, actual expenditures incurred in the
fulfillment of this Agreement, and shall be in accordance with the approved line items as"
specified in Exhibit B-1, Budget through Exhibit B-7 Budget-Amendment #3. .

8. Modify Exhibit 8-4, Budget - Amendment #1 by replacing it in its entirety with Exhibit B-4 Budget -
Amendnient #3, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

9.. Add Exhibit B-6 Budget - Amendment #3. which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference
herein. .

10. Add Exhibit B-7 Budget -Arriendment #3. which is attached hereto and incorpoVated by reference
herein.'

Mary HilchcocK Memorial Hospilal

SS-2020-OPHS-11 -M ATERN-01-A03

A-S-1.3

Page 2 of 4

Contractor inilials

— OS

Date 5/2/2023
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All terms and conditions of the Contract and prior amendments not modified by this Amendment remain
In full force and effect, this Amendment shall be effective upon Governor and Council approval.

1N'WITWESS"WHEREOFrthe'"^l1i^''have^t"theirhaTidrasT)f'the~date'writt'^~below;

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

5/2/2023

Date

C—OecjSlgntdby;
-uatancMCCMCt.,

Name: Patricia M. Tilley

Title: Director

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (collectively doing business as .
"Dartmouth-Hitchcock") • '

5/2/2023

Dale

—OeeuSlgn*dbr;

lerrens

Title: chief clinical officer

Mary Hilchcock Memorial Hospiial

SS-2020-DPHS-11 -MATERN^OI -AOS

A-S-1.2

Page 3 of 4
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The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form, substance, and
execution. •

OFFiCE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

-0«^9tgn*d by:

5/4/2023

Date
Titie: Attorney

i hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: ; (date' of meeting) -

OFFiCE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date ' Name:
Title:

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital A-S-1.2

SS-2026-DPHS-11 -MATERN-d -A03 Page 4 of 4
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Exhibit B-4 Budget - Amendment #3
New Hampshire Department of Health end Human Services

CompttlB ont buagti form for tMch'budget ptrl9<i. '
Contractor Name: "Mo/y Hitchcock Morwrial Hos'pitol for itself ond on behalf <jf barl/noufh-H/lchcocff Clinic

B"ud80t Requcst-for:lC/)hainc//io Reviews and-Surve///ance/o Eliminofe MalemalMorlality .V T"
•  BudgetP'cr\'o<i-7/1/2022 -6/3(V7023 ' " " '

Indirect Cost Rate (ifapplicable) 15.50% .

Llncltij'm
-•> - . t

■  •

•Program.Cost-
FuHdoa;b■yOHHS:•
•  ;» "■ • ui-.*-

1  '•• .Vr,' .« iT- .V/* > '■-ct' ■ >"l".
. » - '« • 1 n.
.  . -Program Cost •Contractor Sharc/.Matchv

i. Salary & Waoes . v .. .. . ,  S|M!2it7 : >V' r. i.;... . . . •
•. ..

2. Frthae Benefits S26.435 ■' • - • JO
-  -r — — •

.  •

$9,750 $0

!»•

4: Equipment
In^oct cosi rale cannot be appQcd to
equjpmont costs per 2 CFR'200.1 and
Aooondix IV to 2-CFR 200.

'$0

.1

$0

V. .$0 •  ■ - - --" SO
$0 so

S.fcl SuDoUes • Pharmacv " * . •  • $0 ".r - ••• -so
5.fd) Suooiies - Medical $0 .  ....$0

5"(c) SuppKos Offlco 1" $5,634 ,  _ $0
-  .. V, • ;;

6. Travel

$3,149 ' SO

•  —* ' ' ' . ••'''•* * • -

7. Software ' '> SO - SO

. ••

8. fa) Other •MadceltnofComrnunicallons
$0 . . ■' . • ' • ' * so

8. fbl Other. Education and Tfaininci $500 •! . . t. so
8. Id Other'- Oihcr (soecifv belowl

Olherfo/oass soecr'M $0 ■: .r so
Other foleese spedM >  $0 so

Oiher fo/oase spoc/iV)" so t  . so
■ Other (DteBse spocrM ' ~' "■ ■  - so -  : $0

-■ V  I- r..' -• . ■ •-'.'•1 --

9. Subrecioiont Contracts $0 •  . • $0
:■ -•*- - •

Total Direct Costs $145,895 $0
•

> •

.. Total Indirect Costs $22,683 50
—  wy. ,• '~y. ' • * " . •

TOTAL $166,278 • •so

Page 1 of 1 "V

Conirsao'f lnUlalj_l

bate
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Exhibit B-6 Budget - Amendment #3
New Hampshire Department ef Heatth and Human Services

Comp/efe on# (orm,/or.each'budpet perfed.

Contractor Name: Maty HUcheock Uenxyial Hospital lor itsatt ond on behBlfofOartmouU>'Hitchcock Clinic
-BudgetRtQ\jei\l9r:'iEnhancingRovi9wsafidSu/veiilance-toEiiminoto.MolomalMditoii{y . ,

Budget Pefioti 7/1/2023':6/30/2024 "
Indirect Cost Rate (if applicable} 4 5.50%

Une.ltarn-'
•f. _ ••

i;Progr^m,.C6'8t j";
'Puh{Je?'by;DHHS:

V' " *■' ^ .. . .. ' Iv"-'■•.■t'-.-'f flRroifirwTt Cost'rContmctor/'Sh'aro/M'aT^

1. S0l8rv& Wooes $92,9^4
• • " • *

$25:846 $0

3. Consuflanis $20.1M ■  -■■■ $0

.  •

4. Equ^tment ^
Indirect cost rele cannot be app^ to
oquipmwi costs per 2-CFR 200.1
Aooeodix IV to 2 CFR 200. '

$0

1

.  . • so

■  . ' • *• - ' .. . . . - ' • * »

•. •- .. $0 .  . . .50
•  • $0 •r ~ $0

^  - --.$0 '  . .,v. ; - • •••. so
- - • " $0 - -• • -- $0

s In) SuDoles Office $245 >  • ■ • so
•

i$4.239 ■  $6

,,

50 .  ■ ^ $0

i. fa} Other • Maricetina/ ComniLinicattons
$0 •  T. . $0

8; fb} Other •. EducetJon.and TraWno .  $500 $0

•$0 •r • . . • • $0

Other foieese soeclM $0 .  "• $0

' Other (oieose soedM •  • $0 -  .r. V- • v, - • • $0

. Other tolcose soeclM $0 $0

L... . .so »  ' $0
•

1  Total Direct Coats $143,964 $0
.  .s .. . . —

,
T,

t

Total Indirocl'Costs $22,3V4 !  '$0
• •

TOTAL $166,278 • - V 10

Pagel of 1-

Contractor Inltia

Date
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Exhibit B-7 Budget - Amendment #3
New Hampshire Dcpertment of Health and Human Services

,  , Cdmi^ttv 0179 bvdg»t form for Qtch bodgtl p*'rioii. '
Contractor N»m9:^Mary^Hilchcock MemofiBl Hospital for itself arxf on behoJf of Dofimouth-Hitchcock Clir^,

Budget RnqM^ttlor^SnhanclngRevlews.ondSwyelilanceloEllnvnaieMaie/nalMotiolity,

Budget Period 7/1/2024 • &00/2025 ; ^ ^
fndirectCost Rale (if appHcBble).15.56>; ^ .... :

riri:

,Ur»e!hem." v.'
•• . ■•-'.v «;•

^ 'y *■ ' ^ '
1 p'rogram^Cqst'-. T-
f^'undofbyDHHS

v.-; 'tevr '
'-• r'"" ,1 Program Cost ■ ContracioriSharc/Match

1. _S^arv & Wages. ' $94'867 "  . . : . ' " * ■ , , ■■ JO
'  \

2. Fftnoo Benefits • -  .$26:370 .  .. . .. .$0
'" ' '

3. .bonsuiianls ?r.- •$20.t50 $0

.1 .

4. Equipment
indirecl.cdst rate cannot be'applied id
equipmeni costs per 2 CFR 2p0.i and
Aooendix IV to 2 CFR 200.

$6 ;■ * ^$b

.  ! i. .

•
•

5.fa) SuDoiies • EducaOohal *' -  .* "SO .  : ■ $0
S.(b) Suoofies-Lab ' • ! ^  . .. -JO
S (c) SiVooBes - Pharrhacv $0 •  $0

5;fdi SoDofies-Medical ' •-*- $0 -  , I.- . • ' . . . $0
5.(e) SiipptiwOfrice SIS :  • " $0

,  • • • • .»

6.- Travel . , " . -i $3,793 ■- , -"so
.  . ,  . ^ .... • .•

7. Software . $0 ■  - -■ .$0
'T'' V *4 *•; *. 'S* ,

6. (a) Other - Marlcelirvg/ Cdmmuhlcations .  $0 •  " $0

6. (b) Other • Education aryj Trainina; -S500 ■ . . . ■ .JO
8. fcJ Other-Other (soecifv beiowl ; .  ''j- r • ; ;

• Other (oleoso soeciM. - -i .  - .$0 -  • •• • $0
"O/her (otoBse spedM -  -JO ^  . JQ

Oihorfoleose soociM .JO ■  """ ' rv-'.; i $0
O/herfo/easo soecifv) ' ~ • .  SO ^0

9. Subreciplent Contracts SO Y  $0

Total Direct Costs '  $145,695 $0
. . . . • •

.

Total IndirocI Costs $22,583 ■  ■ ■ '• ; $0
•. '

TOTAL $168,276 $0

Page 1 0/1
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STAtE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPAJRTMENTXFJiEALTH AND_HUMAN.SERyi_CES„

DimiON OF PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES

29 IIAZEN DRIVE, CONCORD. NH 03301
o63-37M50I 1>800-8SZ«334S Ei(. 4501

Fai: 603-271-4827 TDDAccets: 1-80O-73S-2964
\vwM-.dhhi.oh.gov

Deceml>er22,2021

His Excellency. Governor ChrislopherT. Sununu
, and the Honorable Council
State House • . . • . '
Concord. New'Hampshire 03301 •

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services. Division of Public Health-
Services, to amend an existing conlrect with Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
Lebanon NH. to provide Alliance oh Innovation in Maternal Health (AIM) patient safety bundles
inorderib reduce maternal mortality, by increasing the price limilation by $52,114 from $273,112
to $325,226 wilh no change 10 the contract completion date of .June 30, 2023. effective upon
Governor and Council approval. 100% Federal Funds.

The original contract was approved by Governor and Council on June 10.2020, item #12,
and most recently amended with Governor and Council approval on June 16. 2021. item #34.

Funds are available in the. following account for State Fiscal Year 2022, -and are
anticipated to be available- In Stale Fiscal Yeiar 2023, upon the availability and continued
appropriation of funds In'ihe future operating budget, with the authority to adjust budget line Items
wlhin the prjce limitation and encumbrances Ijelween stale fiscal years through the Budget Office,
If needed arid juslifled. ' .

05.95-90-902010-34870000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, OEPT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SVS, HHS: PUBLIC -HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF COMM & HEALTH SERV,
MATERNAL MORTALITY

State

Fiscal
Year

Class 1
-. Account

Class Title
Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Oecroased)
Amount

Revised

Budget

2020 102-500731

Contracts for
Program
Services •

90080478

$68,278 $0 $68,278

5021 102-500731
Contracts for
Program •
Services

90080478
$68,278 $0 $68,278

2022 102-500731

Contracts for
Prograrn -
Services

90080478

$68,278 $0 $68,278

2023 1.02-500731
Contracts for
Program '
Services

90080478
$68,278 $0 $68,278

Subtotal $273,112 $0 $273,112

77»e Dtpormtm HcoUh and Human Semcet'Mitslou h (a join commvm'liet and/omilit$
ui providing opporluniliet for ciliteno to orhitot htolih and indtp*ndtnc4.
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His .Excollericy. Governor Christopher T. Sununu
end the Honorablo Council
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*05^95-90^902010-45260000"HEALTH~AND~SOCIAL"SERVICESrDEPT-OF-HEAUT=H-AND-
HUMAN SVS, HHS: PUBLIC HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF COMM & HEALTH SERV, MCH DATA
LINKAGE ; f

State

Fiscal

Year

Class/
Account

Ciass Title
Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised
Budget

2022 074-500589

Grants for
Pub Assl

and Rel

90080125

$0 $52,114 $52,114

Subtotal $0. $52,114 552,114

Total $273,112 $52,114 $325,226

EXPLANATION

The purpose of this request, is for the Contractor to collaborate Nwith-the Alliance on
Innovation-in Maternal Health (AIM) to iniplement at least two (2) AIM evidence-based patient
safely bundles in order to provide a standardized approach to.improve the quality of health care
provided, to pregnant woman Impacted by opiold use and other substances. Opiold overdose is a
leading cause of pregnancy-associated, death's in New Hampshire. A patient safety bundle Is a
structured way of delivering health care;-.each bundle Includes a set of straightforward,evidence-
based clinical practices that, when performed coilecllvely .and consistently, has been proven to'
reduce maternal mortality.arid pregnancy associated deaths. These patient safety bundles help
pregnant woman end their families'access support for behavioral heallh, rhental Health, and other
community resources. These steps will help prevent substance use associated illness and death

'during pregnancy and will also result in savings to the Department. •-

■  The Contractor will also continue to assist the Department's Maternal Mortality Review
Commillee.-inciuding collecting maternal death information, abstracting medical and non-medical
records on maternal death cases, and participating in reviews of maternal death cases.

The Oepartment..wlll monitor services to ensure:

•  Successful completion (100% attendance) at the national AIM Data Community of
Learning to address data quality and share best practices in addressing needs of the
New Hampshire birthing facilities in implementing these bundles.

•  Completion of at least one AIM data training session, with the Department, for all of
the participating birthing locations to identify barriers to reporting AIM bundle- specific
outcome measures, including the percent of pregnant and postpartum people
screened for substance use disorder and validated screening tools and resources
shared with prertalal care sites.

•  Timely submission of quarterly reports to the Department regarding AIM program
progress, which include structure and outcome measures thai are associated with the
patient safely bundles being Implemenied.

Should'the Governor and Council not authorize this request, the Department will not be
able to effectively address opiold related disorders in pregnant women In New Hampshire, which
may result In more maternal mortality related to opiold misuse.

Area served: Statewide
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His Excellency. Governor Christopher T. Sununu
dAC) the HorKirabie Council
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.—Sourceof-Federal-Funds^Assislance-Uisling-Numb€r-#93.t10,.FAIN.ftH18000033

The Department will request General Funds in the event that Federal Funds are no longer
available and services are still needed.

Respectfully submitted. "

Lori A. Shlbinette

Commissioner
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State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Amendments

This Amendment to the Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality contract is
by arid between the Stale of New Hampshire. Department of Health and Human Sen/ices ("State" or
"Department") and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock
Clinic (collectively doing business as Dartmouth Hitchcock) ("the Contractor").

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council
on June 10. 2020 (Item U\2). as amended on June 16. 2021 (Item #34). the Contractor agreed to perform
certain services based upon the terms and conditions specified in the Contract as amended and in
consideration of certain sums specified: and

WHEREAS." pursuant to Form P-37. General Provisions. Paragraph 18, the Contract may be amended •
upon written agreement of the parties and approval from the Governor and Executive Council; and

WHEf^EAS, the parties agree to extend the term of the agreement, increase the price limitation, or modify
the scope of sen/ices to support continued delivery of these services; and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to arnend as follows:

1. Form P-37, General Provisions. Block 1.8. Price Limitation, to read: ,

$325,226 .

2. Modifying Exhibit A - Amendment #1. Scope of Services, by adding Subsections 2.15 through
2.18; to read: "

2.15 The .Contractor shall comply with all privacy .and security requirements as outlined
in this Contract, and collaborate with the Alliance on Innovation in Maternal Health
(AIM) to provide a standardized approach to delivering improved patient outcomes'
at birthing locations by implernenting at least two (2) AIM evidence-based patient,
safely bundles, which include, but are not limited to, the .following-resources and
aggregated data:

■ 2.15.1 Number of substance use disorders (SUD) among pregnant and.
postpartum individuals.

-  2.15.2 Number of Severe Maternal Morbidity (SMM). Including transfusion
codes, among individuals with SUD. ,

2.15.3 Number "of proportion of pregnancy associated deaths due to overdose.

2.15.4 Percent of newborns exposed to substances In utero who go home to
either birth parent. . . •

• 2..15.5 Percent of pregnant and postpartum Individuals with opioid use disorder
-  (OUD) who received or were referred to medication for opioid use

disorder (MOUD).

2.15.6 Percent .of pregnant and postpartum individuals with SUD who received
or were referred to recovery treatment services.

2.15.7 Percent of pregnant and postparturh individuals with SUD who received
or were prescribed Naloxone prior to delivery discharge.

2.15.8 Percent of pregnant and postpartum individuals screened for SUDs.

2.15.9 Percent of pregnant and postpartum individuals with OUD who were
counseled on medication for opioid use disorder (MOUD).

■ MW- "
SS-2020-OPHS-1 i -MATERN-OI -AOZ Mary Hllchcock Memorial HospUal Cor>lraclOf Inllials

^ . 1/21/2022
A-S-1.1 PaQo 1 of 5 Date
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2,15.10 .Percent of pregnant and postpartum individuals with SUD who were
counseled on recovery treatment services. -

,1 •.  p— |-^g^^|-^-^-^slp^Frfrihdividuals"wilh"'SUD who'received' —

Naloxbne counseling.

2.15.12 Provider and Nursing Education - Substance Use Disorders.

2.15.13 Provider and Nursing Education-Respectful and Equitable Care.

2.15.14" Resource Mapping/identification of Community Resources.

2.15.15 Patient Event Debriefs.

2.15.16 General Pain Management Guidelines. .

2.15.17 OUD Pain Management Guidelines.

2..15..16 Validated Verbal Screening Tools and Resources Shared with Prenatal
Care Sites.

2.16 The Contractor shall participate in the national AIM Data Community of Learning to
address data quality and share best practices in addressing needs, as directed by
the Department.

2.17 the Contractor shall facilitate, in collaboration with the Department, an AIM data
■  training session for all participating birthing locations to identify barriers to reporting
AIM bundle-specific metrics. •

2.18 The Contractor shall work submit quarterly reports to the Department that Include.
■  but are not limited to, AIM program progress, structure and outcome measures that

are associated with the patient safety bundles being implemented.

■  3. Modify Exhibit,B. Methods arid Conditions Precedent to Payment. Section 2. to read:.
- 2. This agreement Is funded with; . . -

2.1 84% Federal Funds from Centers for Disease Control & Prevention on June 30.
2021, Preventing Maternal Deaths: Supporting -Maternal Mortality Review

'  Committees Grant. Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFOA) #93.478.
■  Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN) #NU58DP0Q6693.

2.2 16% Federal Funds from Department of Health and Human Services. Health
Resources and Services Administration"on August IB, 2021, Maternal and Child
Health Federal Consolidated Programs. Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance
(CFDA) #93.110, Federal Av/ard Identification Number (FAIN) #H1800^1033.

4. Modify Exhibit B, Methods and Conditions Precedent to Payment, Section 4. Subsection 4.1, to
■read: ' ' *

4 1 Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures incurred
in the fulfillrrieht of this Agreement, and shall be in accordance with the approved
line items as specified in Exhibit. B-1, Budget through Exhibit B-5 Budget,
Amendment #2. •

5." Modify Exhibit B. Methods and Conditions Precedent to Payment. Section 4, Subsection 4.2, to
read: ■

4 2 The Contractor- ■ shall submit an Invoice and supporting documents to the
Department no later than the fifteenth (15th) working day of the following month.
The Contractor shall:

4.2.1 Ensure the invoice is presented in a form that is provided by ,lhe Department
or is otherwise acceptable to the.Department.

Ml/
SS-202O-DPHS-11-MATeRN-Ol-A02 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor
A.S.i.i Page 2 of 5 Da'®——



DocuSign EnvelO|» ID; C1E3457B-8A67-432C-A985-CFDFC0FC0DB7

OocuSign Envelope 10: E81614D6-5766-4332-B2CE-38A5A1A99A3E

OocuSlgn'Envolopo ID: 77F7E361-OF58-4C1C-A943-F0E956E8S636

4.2.2 Ensure the invoice identifies and requests payment for. allowable costs
incurred in the previous month.

.  ̂'2-^ Provide^"upporling~do<ruiTiehtation'of^ir6wable cos may iricludCbuf

is not limited to, time sheets, payroll records, receipts for purchases, and
proof of.expenditures, as applicable.

4.2.4 Ensure the invoice is completed, dated andVetumed to the pepartmeht with
the supporting documentation for authorized expenses, in order to initiate
payment.

6. Add Exhibit B*5 Budget - Amendment it2 which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference
herein. -

' ■ Ml/
SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERN-01-A02 Mary Hilchcock Memorial Hospilal Controclor lnilials " •

«  , r.' . 1/21/2022
A-S-1.1 PageSofS Dale



DocuSign Envelope ID: C1E3457B-8A67.432C-A985-CFDFC0FC0DB7

I

DocuSign Envelope ID: E816l406-576S-4332-B2Ce-36A5A1A99A3E

OoCuSign Envekipo ID: 77F7g3;6l-OFSB-4CtC'A943-F0E956E85636

All terms end conditions of the Contract and prior amendments not modified by this Amendment remain
in full force and effect. This Amendment shall be effective upon Governor and Council approval.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parlies have set their hands'as of the date written below.

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

1/24/2022

Date

r—gwtaiOMan:
NameT^Wn-a h. T.il ley
Title: oi rector

1/21/2022

Date

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic

Name:^^''^^''^ a.- vance
Title: ,yice president, Research operations

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATeRN-0l-Ab2

W
A.S-1.1

Pogo 4 of 5

Contracto/ Initials

Dato
1/21/2022
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The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved .as to forrn, substance, and
execution.

•  OFFICE OF the'ATTORNEY GENERAr'

•0«CwSan»4k)r;

2/11/2022

Date
Title: Attorney

I hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hempshire at the Meeting on: -jj, (date of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:

Title:

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERNt01-A02

A-S-1.1

Page Sot 5

Contractor Initials

' Date

w
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„ STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

Lw1 A. SblMnctu
Comm>u)«Mr

Uu M.Mvrrti
Olmivf '

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

bmSION OF PUBLIC HEALTH S£R VICES.

29 HAZCN drive; CONCORD. Nil 03J01
<03-27M50I l>8l)Ck852-3345Evi.4S81

.  Fm: 603-271-4827 TOD Ac«m: l-a00-73$-2964
•  • tvv%u-.dhht.nh.gev

Junei0.-202l

His Excellency. Governor Christopher T. Sununu' ^
and the.HonorabI© Council

State House
Concord, New Hampshire 03301 .

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health end Human Services, Division of Public Health
Services, to amend en existing contract with Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (VC# 177160).
Lebanon. "NH. to continue the collection and abstraction of clinical and non<llnlcal data to address
maternal'morbidilios In order to prevent future maternal deaths, by exercising a contract renewal
option by Increaslng the price,limltabon by $136,558 from S-136.556 to $273,112 and exteriding the
complelipn date from June 30. 2021 to June 30. 2023 effective July 1. 2021 or upon .Governor
end Council epprovai. whichever Is later. 100% Federal Funds.

The original oonlract was approved by Governor and Council on June 10.2020. Hem #12.
Funds are anticipated to be available In "Stele Fiscal Years 2022 and 2023. upon the

availability end continued appropriation of funds In the future operating budget, with the authority
io adjust budget line items within ihe.pric© llmltetion and ehcumbrances betwedn state fiscal years
through the Budget Office, if needed and justified.
05.95.SQ.902010.3487 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES. DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
SVS. HHS: PUBLIC HEALTH DIV; BUREAU OF COMIlfl & HEALTH SERV, MATERNAL

State

Fiscal

Year

. Class /
Account

Class Title
dob

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Budget-

2020 102-500731
Contracts for
Proo Svc

000^478 $68,278 $0 $68,278

2021 ■ 102-500731
Contracts for

Proa Svc
90080.478 $58,278 $0 $68,276

■ 2022 10^500.731
Contracts for
ProQ Svc

90080476 $0 $68,278 $68,278

2023 102-500731
Contracts for
ProQ Svc

90060478 $0 $66,278 $68^78

Totals $136,556 $136,556 $273,112

EXPLANATION

The purpose Of this .request is for the Contrectof to conjiriue assisting the-efforts of Ihe
lylaternal MortalUy Program, Including collecting maleroai death information, abslraclihg.rnedlcal
and non-iiiedical rewrds on"maternal death cases, and participating In reviews of melerhal dealt)

77if Dtporlntvfl e{ Hrolth ond Human Strvint'Miuitut U lojoin nmmiinitif
Jnpr9v'<r'"i opfioilunliiti fortUliin* «<> ocAi>w ArgfiA and (ndtptndtntt.
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Hie Exc^ency. Governor Chrieiopher t. Sununu
ond Irte .Hon^bto Council /

Pago 2 of iz

casos. Dartmouth HitchcocA Medical Cer^ter is uniquely qualified to provide (he services as it
oversees.-the Nohhern New England Perinatal Quality {rhprovement Network (NNEPQIN).
NNEPQIN Is the.sole ;pertnBt8l quality coiiaboratlve for Northern New England.- NNEPQIN Is
named In New Hampshire Malemal Moirlalily legislation as a partner in the collection, abslractioh
and panicipation In review of maternal doalh uses.

The Contractor will ehier data into the Maternal Mortality .Reyiew Information.Application
regarding .deaths of women. In New Hompshire during pregnancy and during the'year following

. the er>d of pruriency. The Contractor will attend (he Maternal Mortality Review Committee
Meetings-end esslst 'ihtB Depedmenl's Malernar-Mortellty Review Coordinator as needed. The
Contractor will work with stakeholders end the Odpartmeni to create an action plan -id implemehi
the malemal health-end weilness recommendations end to develop educational-and other
'rhaterlals for heallhcare.professionais and the public.

The Department will mo.nHor oontrecled services to ensure:

•  Maternal Mortalily case' data and Review Committee recorhrnendations -are
entered Into the Maternal Modalily Review Informalibn Application within one'(1)
month of the.Maternal Mortality Review ComrTiiUBe.Meetings.

• A Recommendations WorKslieet is submitted to the Oepariment within onia (1)
month of the Maternal Mortalily Review Committee Meetings.

As reference in Exhibit C-i of the ohginal agreement, the parties have jhe optlori to.
exte.nd the'agrqe.rneni for-.up to two (2) additional years, co.nllrigeril upon.setlsYa.ctory delivery of
-so'rvices, e.vallabie funding, agreernent of (he parlies and-Governor-and (pduncil apprdyel.- The
Department-Is exercising its cpilon to extend the agreement for <(2) years of the two (2) year

- ren'ev^a) option, leavir^ hd. rene^l tl.rne remaining.

Should the Gov6mo^e.nd Councll-not aut.horize this request; (he work conducte'd by,(he
'M.a.temal Mortality Review Committee to rhake. recommendations regarding rhaterrial deaths- In
New Hampshire ̂ 11 bei delayed due to lack of assistance In completing the abstracting end case
preparation for rhalemal .mortality review.

Ai^a served: Statewide

Sourcc.pf Funds:' CFOA #93.478. FAIN N58DP006693.

In the event (he Federal. Funds become no longer available,. General FM.nd$ -wl.ll not be'
requested to support :thls program.' , .

RespecKully .submitted.

I'ori A. Shibinette
Commissioner
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_State_of.N©w Hampshire
Dejaartment of Health and Human Services

Amendment

;This Amendment to the Enhancing Reviews end Surveillance to Eliminate Matemal Mortality contract is
by and. between the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services ('State" or
"Department") and Mary Hitchcock. Mernorial Hospital for^itself and on Oehaif of Dartmouth-Hitchcock
Clinic (collectively doing business as padmoulh Hitchcock) ("the Contractor").

WHER&AS. pursuant to an agreement (the "Coniracl") approved by the Governor and Executive Council
on June 10. 2020, Xltem d12) the Contractor agreed to perform certain services based upon the terms and
conditions speclfled in the Contract and in consideration of certain sums.specified; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37. General Provisions, Paragraph 16,. and Exhibit C-1, Paragraph 2.
Renewal, the Cortlract may be amended upon written agreement of the' parties and'apprQval from the
Governor and Executive Council; and

WHEREAS, the parties agree,to extend the term of the agreement, Increase the price limilation, end
modify the scope of services to support continued delivery of thes.e services; and

NOW THEREFORE, In consideration of the.foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions .contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows:

1. Form P-37 General Provisions. Block 1.7. Completion Date, to read:

June 30. 2023.

2. Form P-37, General Provisions. Block 1.8. Price Limitation, to read:

$273,112. r. ■ . - ! '
3., Modify Exhibit A, Scope of Services, by deletiog it in its entirety and replacing with Exhibit A -

Amendmenf 1. Scope of Services, which is attached hereto and incorporated by rofererice herein.

A. Modify Exhibit B. Method and Conditions Precedent to Payment. Section.4.-Subsection 4.1,' to
r  read:

■ A ■

4.1. Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures incurred In the
fullillment of this Agreement, and shall be in accordance wth the a^roved line items as
•speciHed in Exhibit B-1, Budget through Exhibit B-4. Budget. v.;.\

5. Modify Exhibit B. Melhod and Cbndilions Precedani to Payment. S^iion 8, to read:
;  8. Payments may be withheld pending receipt of required deliverables and documentaliori as

ideniified In Exhibit A - Amendment #1-, Scope of Services, and In lhis Exhibit 6.

6. Add Exhibit S-3, Budget - Arrlendment fif 1, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference -
herein.

7. Add Exhibit 6-4, Budget - Amendment ffl, which Is attached hereto and Inoorporated by reference
herein.- • ' . •

d
SS-2020-DPHS-1l-MATeRN-0l-AOl OartmouihHiictKOck Medical Ccniof . Coniractor inkiale

A-S-1.0 Pogolof3 vv Dote S/2S/2021
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All_ternris end^nditions'of the Contract not modified by this Amendment remain in full force and e^ct.
This Amendment'shall be'effective July 1. 2021. upon "Governor and. Executive "Couhci! appVovai;
.whichever Is later.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below.

Stale of New Hampshire
'  Department of Health and Human Services

5/25/2021

Date

r—McvoffM* «r-
Name: Patricia M. Ti)l<y
Title: ,

interim Director

S/2S/2021

Diate

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic

c

QVJmwa/jaowar ;
ame: Jennifer uopez

Title:

Director of Research Operations F.inance

SS-202O-OPHS-1.i-MATERN-0l-A0t

A-S;1.0

Osrtmoulh Ma<ticat Center

Page 2 of 3
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The preceding Amendmenl. having been reviewed by this office. Is approved as to form.'substance, end
execulion. . • . ' " ?

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

5/27/2021
1

Date Name: Cacherine Pinos

Title:
Attorney

I hereby certify (hat (he foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor end Executive Council of
the Stale of New Hampshire at Ihe Meeting on: " ' (dale of meeting)

.. OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:

Title:

SS.202O-OPHS-11 -MATERN-OI -AOl

AS'1.6

Oarlmoulh Medical Center

Pago 3 ol 3
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality^  ̂ Exh ibit A - Amendment #r ^ =

Scope of Services

1. Provisions Applicable to AM Services
1.1. The Contractor agrees that,- to the extent future legislative aciion by the New

Hampshire General Court or federal or state court orders may have an impact
on the Services described herein. Jhe State Agency has the nghl to modify
Service priorities and expenditure requirements under this Agreement so a.s to
achieve compliance therewith.

.  1.2. For the purposes of this Agreement, the Oepartment has identified the
Contractor as a Subrecipient, in accordance with 2-CFR 200.300.

•1.3. The Contractor sha'll ensure one (1) part-lime Maternal Mortality Abstractor
.• provides data-related activities, which include but are not limited to:

1.3.1. Collecting maternal death'information.

•  1.3.2. Abstracting maternal death cases. v V

1.3.3. Reviewing maternal death cases.

2. Scope of Work

2.1. The Contractor shall enter data into the Maternal Mortality Review Inforrnation
Application (MMRIA) regarding deaths of women in New Hampshire during
pregnancy and, during the year follONving the end of pregnancy.

2.2. The Contractor shall enter abstracted maternal mortality case data and
information into the MMRIA within one (1) .month of receiving the .information
from the Maternal-Mortality Review CGOrdinator..The Contractor shall:

2.2.1. Conduct a record review in order to abstract data and information related

to NH maternal death cases.

2.2.2. Maintain working knowledge of the Center for Disease Control's (CDC)
maternal mortality practices and resources;.

2.2.3: Refer to the Center for Disease Control's Review to Acliori website and
the Enhancing Reviews and Suh/eillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality
(ERASE MM) website for updated, maternal mortality information.

2.3. The Contractor shall attend abstractor trainings conducted by the COC. .

2.4. The.Contractor shall attend a minirrium of two.(2) Maternal Mortality Review
Committee (MMRC) m.eelings each Stale Fiscal Year of the contract period and
pirovide meeting minutes with recommendations to the Maternal Mortality
Review Coordinator within one (1) week of each meeting.

2.5. The Contractor shall maintain the established Recommendations Work Group.
■  consisting of a multidiscipiinary group of individuals including, but not limited to:

—o»

9^
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2.5.1. Mental Health Facility staff.

2.5.2. CommunUy Health workers: •:

2.5-.3. Medical personnel..

2.6. The Coritractor shall facilitate in-person or .virtual meetings of the
.Recommendations Work Group on an as-needed basis to review and discuss

-  the recommendations of the MMRC.i-..

2.7. The Contractor shall utilize ihformStion prpvlded by the Recommendations Work
Group to Inform action ori no less than two (2) projects each State Fiscal Year

.  , • of the contract period..

2.8. The Contractor shall in collaboration with the Department implement the
' recommendations of the MMRC.

2.9. The Contractor shall - attend weekly Organizational Meetings with the
.  - Department as scheduled by theDeparlment.'Meetlng activiiles will include, but

are not limited to:

2.9.1. Identifying required educational content and materials.

2.9.2. Establishing Annual Performance Measures.

2.10,. The Contractor shall develop the necessary edticational content and materials
required to implement the recommendatlons-of the MMRC-.

2.11. The Contractor shall conduct monthly Maternar Mortality educational webinars
representative of the educational content and materials developed which may
include, bul ls not limited toi PowerPoint presentations.

2.12.- The Contractor shall in collaboration with the Department meet the Performance
Measures established at the weekly Organizational Meetings.

2.13. The Contractor shall attend monthly meetings with the CDC as scheduled by
the Department. Meeting topics may iriclude. but are not limited to:

2.13.1. Progress of Annual Performance Measures.

2.13.2" Functioning of the MalemarMortality Review Information Application
(MMRIA).

2.13.3. Current national news.

2.14. The Contractor shall expand the Association of Women's Health, Obstetric and'
Neonatal Nurses (AWHONN) Post Birth Warning Signs Pilot Program to all
State birthirig hospitals. The Contractor shall:. .

•2.14.1. Provide hospitals vyith the AWHONN education program for mothers and
their families 10 increase awareness of postpartum warning signs; and .

2.14.2. Ensure education is provided utilizing the information developed by the
•  national AWHONN.

.
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3. Deliverables

3.1. The Contr^actor shall develop and submit a Recommendations Worksheet to the
Department no later than thirty (30) days after each monthly Maternal Mortality

V . Review Committee Meeting that includes, bUfls riot limited to: .

3.1.1. Actions'to be facilitated, by priohty; and

3.1.2.' Actions implemented.

3.2. The Contraclor shall provide copies of PowerPoint presentations presented at
Maternal Mortality education w'eblnars to the Department at the cbnclusion of
each webinar.

4. Data Sharing * - ,

4.1. The Contractor shall.ensure any disclosure of identiriable confidential health,-
SUD or mental health information or data adheres to state and federal laws and

regulations relating to'safeguarding the cbnndential Informa'tion, which includes,
,  . but may not be limited to:'

4.1.1. The Health Information Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA)'.

4.1.2. 45-CFR 160-164.

4.1.3. 42 CFR Part 2 for SUD Data

4.1.4. . NH Administrative Rule He-M 2019 for Mental Health Data.

4.2.- the Contraclor shall ensure confidentiality agreements are signed by all parties
sharing data in order to safeguard any identifiable information collected and
disclosed to prevent any inadvertent disclosure of Indefinable information.

4.3. The-Contraclor shall riot collect, receive, store, or manage confidential data'
related to the-scope of work and deliverables identified in this Exhibit A unless
Qr until the parties have agreed in whting to a Data Sharing Plan that includes,
but is not limited to the following:

■  " 4.3.1; The purpose of the data exchange;

4;3.2.' Description of the Department's data elements to be disclosed;

4.3.3. Source or. Systems of Records. .

4.3.4. Number of Records InvQlved and Operational Time Factors

4.3.5. Data Elements Involved ' " ^

4.3.6. Reporting and Secure Transmission of Confidential Data

'• 4.3.7. ■ Description of the Contractor's data elements to be disclosed; and

4.3.8. Responsibilities of both parties regarding the exchange of data.

Deitmoulh HitchcocK Medical Cenlcr Exhibil A -Amendmcnl 01 Contractor Irviials
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4.4. .The Conlraclor shall execute the Data Sharing Plan in a timely manner so as
not to impede the scope of work and deliverables identified in this Exhibit A.

4.5. The Contractor agrees to modify the Data Sharing Plan in writing as necessary,
due to any changes to the scope of work and deliverables identified in (his
Exhibit A.

4.6. The Contractor, shall comply with the terms of Exhibit K, OHHS Information
Security Requirements, which is attached hereto and Incorporated by reference
herein.

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center

SS-2020-OPHS-11 -MAT£Rn'-0 1 -AOt
-RQv.09A)6/i8
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May 26. 2020

Hl8 Excellpncy. Govemof ChfiJiopherT. Sonufiu
■ end iDe HonoreW© Council » ; '
State Houso »
Concord. New HampshlfO 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Aultidrtae the Department of Health.end Human Scrvicseg, OivWon of PuWc Health
Servfces to -entor lnlo a Sole Sourco contrad with Mary Hitchcoch Memortai Hoaplial
(VCdl 77*160). Lebenon.'NH in the omeuni of $136,556 for the collection end abstraction of dlnlcal"

"  -and non-dinlcai date In order to prevent fulur© malernal deaths and address maternal morbidillea
- with the option to renew for up to two edditlonal years, effective upon Governor and Coundi

Bpprov8lthf0ugKJune30.2021."i00%FedefalFunds.

Funds are available In the following account for Stele Fiscal Yeara 2020 and 2021. with
the authority to adjust budgel line items wiinin the price limitation end encumbrances between
alale fiscal years through the Budget OfTi'ce. H needed and Justified.

^05.dS-90.602010.3«7000(i HEALTH AND SOCIaL SERVICES. OEPT OF HEALTH AND
/HUfVIAN SVS. HHS: DIVISION OF PUBLIC H^LTM, BUREAU OF POPULATION HEALTH
\ AND COMMUNITY SERVICES. MATERNALMORTALITY

State

Fiscal Year

Clesfi 1

Account
Claes Tttlo •• Job Number Totel Amount

2020 • 102-500731 Comracts for Prog Svc 60080476 $68,278

2021 ■  102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 60080478 $68,278.

T.otaV $136,686.

.  , . EXPLANATION

This request Is Solo Source because iho Department opoclfied the vondor'a name during
the grant applicolion process, prior to Ihe grant award being Issued. Dartmouth HitchcocX Medical
Center oversees Ihc Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvemenl Network (NNEPQIN);-
NNEPQIN is the aole pertnata) quality coiiaborative for Northern New Englarid. NNEPQIN is
named in New Hampshire Molprnol f^ortoUty ieglslallon as a partner In the colleclfon, abstraction
end paitldpatlonlnrevlew.of niaternal death Mses.

The purpose of this request is for the vendor io hire a part time abstractor to assist in the
work around the Maierno) Morlelily Progran^. The ebslr'actof will, collect' malemel death
Information: obslrect medical and non-medical records on matemaldealh cesee; and parttctpeie
In review of matemaldeath cases.

T>i< OtfiO'iniM HtaM Odd Homvn S*'vir»i'U'tiion it to/out losfnun iikt Of\d fom illt't
id fif9vidiAgo^iluniiUtftftilinntioo<>tituthnUh Md
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The ebsVeclOf will onler'dDie Into the Matcrnei Morteiliy Review Inlormetlori Appllcalioh
refle/ding deaths of wpmen In tiew HampshUo during prcgnoncy and during the year following
the end of pregnancy! The abstractor wtU attend the Maternal Mortality Review Meel)r>9s and
esdtst the Materoal Mortality Review Coordinaior at the Department, as need^. The Contiador
vrill work with stakeholders and department to aaate an action plan to Implemani the malemal
heafih and weltness fecorhmendalions ee well as develop educational and other, materials for
healthcare professionals and the public. .The Contractor-wtli olso pllol-an Associstlon of Women's
Health, Obstetric end Neonatol Nureos Poet Birth Womlng Sign# progfom in et leest three (3)
birth hospitals ec/oss New Hampshire. The Association of Women's Health, Obstetric and
Neonaial Nufaas pilot program will provide education for mothers and their families to Increase
ewereneso'of postpertum issues requlrtng medical ettentlon.

The Department .will monrtor contractad ae.rVtcas using the following performance
measureer'

•  Enter Information into the Malemei Mortality Review iriformBtlon Application oh
motornal mortality cose data and information within one (1) month of receiving the
inlormBtionfromtheMeiemalMortalityReviewCoofdlnatoraitheDepartment. .

• • Provide an annual report on March 15 of each year-that outlines the number of
'■ " ■ recomrricndalibns for action prioriitted by the Recommandations Wort i5.roup.

•  Provide a fi nal report on June 5.2021 that delaiis the research completed by the legal
consultant.- " ■

Ae referenced In Exhibit C-1 of tha attached conl/ect. the pariies have the opliof> to extend
the egraement for up two (2) oddliional years, contingent upon aalisfactory delivery of acivlces,
available funding, agreement of the parties'and Goyamof and Council approval.

Should the Oovernor'and Council not outhorizo this request, the work that the Matarnal
Mortality Review Committee docs to make recommendations around maternal deaths in New
Hampshire will bo delayed due to lack of asslslenco In completing the abstracting and case
preparation for maternal mortality review.

Area aerved:. Statewide

■ Source of Funds: 100% Federal Funds from Departmcni of Hcalih ond Human Servtcea,
Center for Disease Conbol and Prevention. .CFOA 0 93,478/ FAIN fl N58dPOO6093.

In the everit thai the Federal Funds become no longer available. General Funds will not
. be.requealed (o.support (his program.

Respectfully submitted.

tr?

LorlA.Shlbinette
Commtesioner
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FORM NUI^eeR P-37 (vrrtlen S/I/IS)

Subjcci: tfthftflcine Rcrirwi ph>6 Svfyeillince to Eltminatc Mattfrwl MoqiliptlSUfllLPftlS-11 -MATlaNl
^ptjcc: Thiiigfctmcni ondell of WtffliiJiopioCovffrtoriind

Cxccuiive Council for epprovtl. Any infonnation iKmS} private.confiOcntitl or propticiory mvni
tc clearly idcniiricd to (he agency eM igrred lein wvitin'g prioi to tlgrung (he coninci.

aCRCCMEKT

The Suteof New Hampihirc end (he Cofil/Ktor hereby mwtvally agree ai followa:

CCNCftAL PROVISIONS

.1. »OENTIFICAT(OW.

i.i Suie Agency Name
NH Ocpanmeni of Health artd Human Services

1.2' SrateAgexy Address •
129 Pkasani Sirxt

Coneoid.NH W30IOI)7 .

1.) ComncixName'
Mary Hiichcxk McmoriDi Hospital fx Itself arsd on behJtfof
Dinmowih-Hiuhcork Clink'(collectivcly doing business as
"Oonmouih-Hitcbexk")

1.4 CorttrociX Address

Ox Medkel Center Dr. Lebanon. NH. 0)7)6

' I.J Comrtcix Phone
Number

60')-6)0-)000

1.6 AxogntNumber'

0)-09)-090'-90}01004(70000

1.7 Contptciion Date

Jux)0.203t

t.8 Prix Limitation

SDti.))6

l.g Coniroeiing Officer for Stoic Agtxy
■Nathan 0. White. Olrcctor

1.to Sisic Agcxy Telephone Number
60)-27|.96Jl'

l.ll Contraeex Sigruturc
y -aiiiSla«^»Ti

J (Mjt 1- 6^f-V>
1.12 NamcindTiltcofComriCiwSignaiory
Lci|h Uwfgcss. Vice President'
OflWc ut'Rcuarch Op^'raiion)

Qn . before ihc undenlincd ofTiccr. pcnoeally appceredihc pcrton idendficd in block I. U.or leiitricibrily
proven (0 be (he pcrton whow ruine it signed in blxk Ml. and acknottlcdied ihw t/he crccutcd this dxvment in ihc capacity
indicated in blxk 1.17. ^ "
I.D.I. Signature of Notary Toblic or Justice ofihe Peace

tScel
).D.7 Name indTitleofNoioryor Jvstkc of the Peace

cncySiinaiurc14 SAi

Date;

I.I) Nintc and Title of State Agency Signatory

1.16Approval by the N.H. Depamncnt of Adn^hUirsiion. DMiion of Pcrjonxl (f/tip/>lki'N<J

"By: Difct(or.On;

I.D Approval by the Attorney Ccnero) lForm,Subiiw*c and Eiccuilon) (!//>/)pllefiMt}

•  ByQ 'MoA.tiAaM O"'
I. IB • Approval by the Covernor and Eiccutivc Council f'/itpiikoM*)

By: Or>-

•• Page I of 4
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^2.-EMPLOVMeNTOFCOiNTRACTOR/SERVlCES-TO •-

. 6£ PERFORMED. The Siote.of NewHompjhirc. nctinji
ihrouKhihe B^ency icicniificC in block .1.1 ("State"), engogei
contracior idenlirted.in block 1.) ("Conir8cioi")'iop<rronn.
end the Conirocior sliaM perConn; ihe vt-orl: or tale of goods, Or
bolh, Ideniined end more particularly described in the enoched
EXHIBIT A which is incorporotrd herein byeercrencc
(•Servlcet").

3. EKfeCl lVC DATE/COMPLETION OF SERVICES.
■3.1 Nonviilitiot>din0 arty provision of this Agretnient (o the
coiMrer)-, and.subject to <Ke approval of ihe Governor end

. Execiaivc Council of the Siaie of New'Mfimpshire. if
applicable, this Agrccnunl. and all obligniiont of the parilcs
hereunder, sholl become elTeciive on the dale ilie Governor
and Exceuiive Council Approve this AgreenKni as indieaicd in
block 1.11, unless no such approval is rcgnircd, in which case
the Agreement shall becohte crTectivc on the date the '
AgeecfTscnr is signed by the Stete Agcncy as shown in block'
1.14 ("CfTecii** Oatc").

-.3.2 If (he Cortiraeiof coinntences liic Services prioV to the
Effcciive Date, all Services perfornted by the Co.nirocior prior
10 the ErTeciive Date shall'be pcrfoniiedDi lite sole risk of Ihe
Coniitcior. ond in the event thai this Agreemeni does r>oi
becon»e elTcciive, the Siaie shall have no liabllli)* to the
Coniracior. including tvilltotil liinlialion.any obligation lo pay
the Coiitmcior for any costs incurTcd or Services pcr(oni>edi
Conirador ntusi complete all Services by (he Complciion Oaie
speciHed in block 1.7.

4. CONOiriONALNATORE OF AGREEMENT.
Noiwiihsianding any provision of this Agreenteni lo ihe;
(Onirnry, all obligations of the Slate hereintdcr, inclncling.
wiihoiil limitation; the conlinnnncc of payntcnls herciiniier, arc
rohtiiigcnt upon lltc ovnilnbitiiy and continued appropriation

■ of funds, and in no c.veni shall the State be liable for any
peynienis hcrciiitdcr in r.<ccess ofsttch ovnilobk appropriated
funds.'ln.iheeveAi of a reduction or lermiiiaiion of
eppiopriaied fuflds. the State shall h'avc ihc righi.to withhold,
payment until such funds become avoilable, ifcver, and shall
iiovc (he light to irrniinaie iliis Agreement immediately tipon
givingihcCbniraeiornoiiccofsuchierininoiion. The Sime
shall not be required to transfer funds from oity other oceount
loihr Aeeotmt identified in block 1.6 in tiK event funds in ihni
'Aceoun.i are reduced or unavoilable.'

5.CONTHACrPKlCt/l'KlCe LIMIfATION/
PAViMENf.
S.'l The contract price, method of p.aymcnl, and terms of
payment ore identified nnd more particularly described in
EXHIBIT 0 wliich is irtco/poftled herein by reference.
5.? 'I'hc payment by the SiMc of the contract price shall be the
only and the complete rcimbursenieni to ihe Controctor. for all
expenses, of whatever iionirc inetirrcd by the Contractor in the
pcrromieiicc hereof, and iliall be the only and the complete'
compensairon to (he Contractor for the Strvlccs. The Stoic
shall have no liability to the Contmcior other than the coniraci
price.

—5.3 Thc'Staic rrscrvfi the right to ofTiei from any smounis—
-  otherwise p.nyable to the Contractor under this Agreement

those liquidated aatoiials required or pcnniitcd by N.H. RSA
tO:7 through RS.A tO:7-c or ony other provision of law.
5.4 N'otu-iihsiinding any provision in ihis'Agrcetneni to the

, contrary, and noiwiihitandiiigune.tpecied cireuinsimiecs. in
no event sholl the total ofall payments aiiihorizcd, or acnially
riiode hereunder, exceed the Price.Unniaiion sel .fonh in block
1.4. ' • .

6. COMPLIANCE BV CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS
AND REGULATIONS/EQUAL EM PLOVMCNT
OPPORTUNlfV.
6.1 In conn(reii6ii vvlih the perrormance of ihc ScA-icei, iho'.
Cunlmctoi shall vomply with oil siotnlct. lovrs.-rcguloiions,
and orders of fedcnNi, iiate, cduniy or niunicip.'sl aulhoriiies
which impose, any obligoiioii or dury'upon the Contractor,'.
including, but not Untiled lo. civil rights ond equal opponuaiiy
(atvs. This may inclndc .the ffquircmcnt louiiiixe au.xiliory
aids and services to ensure that persons with conimunlcaiiort
disabilities, including vision, hearing artds'pccch, 0<n
cominunicBic tviili, receive infonhaiion from, and convey
information'to (he Contractor. In addition, the Contractor
th.-tll comply with all Applicable copyright laws.
6.2 During the term of this Agreement, the Contractor siiail
not discriniihatc against employees or appltcaiits fo'r
employment bcc.iuir of race, color, »eligion,.creed, ngei le*.
hartdicap. s'cxual orientation, or national origin ond will take
afTirmaiive octioit to prevent such discrimiiioiioti.
6.3 If this Agreement is funded in any pan by ntonies of the
Uriiied Stales, the Conirocidr shall eoiitply with all the
provisions of E.vecutivc Order No. ll246("Equal
Employment Opponunity"), as sitpplcmcnied by Ihe
rcgulatiohs of the United StotcsOcpanmeni of Labor (41
C.F.R. Part 60)) end with any rules, fcguloiions and guidelines
as the Stale of New Hampshire or the United States issue to
implcmtrn these regulations. 1'he Coniracior further agrees to
peruiii the State or United States access to any of Ihc

- Conirncior'i books, records and accounii for the purpose of
luccrtoining compliance with all rules, regulations nr>d orders,
and the covenants, tcnus and condiiibiis of this Agrtcmcnt.

7. PERSONNEL. .
7.1 The Coniracior shall at its own expense provide nil
persoisnel necessary to pcrfomt the Services. The Centtucior
werrants.tliM all pcrsotmci engaged in the Services sliall be
quBtificd 10 perform the Services, and sh.ill be property
licensed and othcnvisc authorized lo do so under all epplicnble
latvs. • '. ■
7.2 Unless othenvise authorized ia'wriiing, during lite term of
this Agreenteni, nnd for a period of si.v (6) months oftcr the
ConipleiionDaic in block 1.7, the Contmcior shall not (tire,
end sIibII not permii nny subconirseior or dihcr person, nrm or
corporsiion with whom it is engaged in a combined crfon to .
perform the Services to hire, any person ttfto is a Stale
employee SK orTicial, who is maierinlly involved in the >.
procurement, odntlnisiroilon 6r perforinancc of this

I'ogc 2 of 4
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-Agrctrneni.-Thlj provijion iliell jurvivc icmtiiiMion criiii)—
Agreement.

7.) The CouhTsciinj OfTiccr ipccified in bloch 1.9. or his or
her successor, shoil be ihe Sime's represeniniivc.' In the event
of ony dispute concernins lite inierpreiaiioii of this Agrecnietit,
the Contracting OfTicerls decision shall be rmil for the Sine.

8. EVEhTTOF DEFAULTmEMEbieS.
1.1 Any one or mort of rtic roHowInc Kit Or omissient o7il>e
Conirnclor tholl conslimlc on event of dcrotill hcreunder

("EvcnierOefaoir): • • •.
8.1.1 rnilu/e to perfomi the Services saiiirKiorityor on
schedule;

8.1.2 foilure to submit ony repcn required hcreunder; nnd/or
8;l.> r«ilure.io perronn ttnypthercovcnani, term or condition
orihis'Agrccmcni.
8.2 Upon the occurrence of ony Event prDcfnult, the Stole
may lake ony One', or inbrc, or oil. of the following nciions:
1.2.1 give Ihe Contractor » mitten noiice specifying the Bveni
ofOefauli nt>d rettniring it to be remedied within, in the
obsence ofo greqte'r or icsscf spccificotidn of ilinc, iliiny (30)
days front the dnlc of the notice; ond i f the Event of Oefouli is
not (iiiiely remedied, lermiitaie this Agreement, effective tv^X)
(2) dnys oflcr giving the Contractor itoticc of termlnoiion;
8.2.2 give the Comrnctbr o mitten tsoiice specifyirig the Event
of Default ni>d suspcr>d<ng oil paymcrns ip be made imder this ̂
Agreement nnd ordering thru the portior> of ihc'cpnimci pri^c ■
vrjiich «v*ould oiKervvisc accrue to the Contractor durirtg the
period from the daieofsuch notice tiniil such time tis ihe'Snie
determines ihni ihe CotMrQCtor hns cured Ihe Event orDefnuli
shnll iKvcr bcpaid loihe ConinKior; -
8.2.3 set ofTflgalnst nny other obligations the Stntc moy owe to
the Contractor any dantsgei the Ststy suffers by reason of any
Event of OefauU; end/or

8.2.4 treat the Agreement ns breached and pursue any of jts
remedies at inwor in etjuiiy, or both.

9. DATA/ACCeSS/CONFlDENTIAUTV/
PflESERVATION.

9.1 As used in this Agreement, (he vvord "doio" shall mean all
inforfliailoii'and things developed or obtained during the
perfonnance'of.or acqni/cd or developed by reason of, this .
Agreement, including, but not limited to, nil studies, reports^
files, formulae, sun-cyi, maps, chn'ns. sound rrcdrdingi, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, annlyscs,
•graphic rcpresCMlaiions, computer programs: coinpiiicr
pn'moiiis, notes, Iciicrs, mc.moranda. papers, and.documcnis,
all whether fmished-or unfinished.

9.2 All dflio nnd ony property which has been received front
lite Stoic or purchased with funds provided for that purpose
uitder this Agrechiem. shall be the property of the Stnie. ond
sh.-tll be .returned <0 the Stntc upon dcniand or iippn
tenninaiion of this Agrcerticni for any reason.
9.3 Conndfiiiialiiy ofdaifl shall be governed by N.H. RS'A
chapter 91-A or other e.tlsitng low., Disclosure of data '
requires prior mitten approvitl of the State. ;;

rngc

10. TEKMINAHON. In the event of on early termination of
this Agreement for any rcnsoti other than the eoniplctlon of the
Services, the Contractor shall deliver (o the Conintciing
Officer, not later than riflecti (I i) days oflcr the'date of-
lenninaiion, nrepon ̂ 'Termination Report") describing in
detail nil Services perfoemed, and .ihe contrnci price earned, to
.lind including the date of lerminMion. Tlie form, subject
matter, content, and number of copies of the Terminaiioii
Report shall be itientical io those ofnny Final Rcpon
described in ihe.attoehed-EXHifilT A.-

11. COATRaCTOR'S RELATIOiN to the state, lii
(he pcrforhiancc of this Agrtcmeni the Coniracior is in'aii
respects bn indepcnderfi'conii.scior. nnd is uciiher nhngeni nor
an employee of the State.' Neither the Contractor lior any ofits
ofTiccrt. employees, agents or m^mbcn ihail.have oitihofiiy to
bind the State or receive any beucfts, workers' compensation
or other emoluments provided by the State to its employees.

12.'ASSlCNMENT7DELF.CATlON/SUBCONTRACT$.

The Contractor shall not assign, or oihcrtnse transfer any
iiucresi in this Agrecmem without the prior written noiice nnd
consent of Ihe Slate, h^one of the Services shall be

'  spbcofltracied by the Contractor tviihout the prior wrltien
' noiice and eonscni of the State. :

13. IN'OEMNiriCATION. The-Coniractorshali defend.

. indemnify and hold harmless (lie State, its officers and
employees, froni and against any and nil losses sofTcred by the
State, its officers and employees, and t>ny and ell claims.

.  liBbiliiics orpeiieliies asserted ogeiniti the Simc. its ofnccrs
nnd employees, .by or on behalfof nny person, on account of.
based or-iTStiliing from, arising out of (or which niay be
claimed to arise out oO the acts or omissions of.ihc
Contractor. .Notwiihstonding the foregoing, nothing herein
eontoincd shall be deemed lo cons'iiiuic a waiver of the !:
' sovereign immimiiy of the Stale, which immunity is hereby

reserved to the S.iaic. This covtnnm in paragraph I.} shall
survive the termination of this Agreement.

H. INSURANCE.

U.I Titc Contractor shall, at ill sole e.'Cpenst, obtain and
maintain in force, and shnll require any snbcontiacior or
assignee to obtain ond moiniain in forte, the foilowing
itisnrancc;

' U.I.I comprehensive general liability insurance Ogninst oil
claims ofbodily injury, death Or property damage, in amouiiis

•  'ofnoUcis then Sl.OOO.OOOpcr.occurrcnce and S2.0I)0,000
oggrcgaic; and ■
U.1.2 special cause of loss coverage forin covering all

■  property subject to siibparogropli 9.2 herein, in ah utnoiinl not
less ihnii 80V* of the ivltole rcplaecinenl value of tlic property.
14.2 The policies described in Subparngraph U.Therein shnll ■
be on policy forms and cndorsemcnis approved for use in the
Siatc.ofNew Kampshircby die K'.M. Ocpanmcni of
Insurance, and issued by insurers licensed in (he Siruc ofNcw
Hampshire,
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-I fl-.3-Tl>e GonifDCionhBllrfiimijh to ihe Goiiifaciing Omccf - —
idcniiHcd in.block 1.9, or hU or.hci tuccmor. fi ccnificMcfs}
of insurance for all insurance required undcr'ihis Agrccrncm.
Conlmcior shall also furnish lo ihe Conimciing OfTicer.
jdcniificd ill block 1.9. or his Or her succcs}0r,certirieai((s) of
insuraiKC. for all reneual(sl of insurince required under ihis
Agreenxni no laitr ihan ihiny (30) days prior to Ihe exprraiion;
dare of each of the insurance policies. The cen!ricote(i)of
iiitunnce arwl my rcncivds thereof shall be attached and are

• incorporoifd herein by reference. £achccnificsie{s)of
.itisunnce lliell conioin n clause requirinc rite insurer to
provide the ConiraciingOlTieer Ideniifiedrn block 1.9. or h«s
or her successor, no less than ihiny (30) days prior uTitten
-notice ofcancciiaiioitor modification of the policy.

15. WORKERS'COMPENSATION. . ^
■ IJ. I By signing ihis agrcetrveni. ihc Contractor agrees,
ccriirici and werrani) ihni the Contractor is in compliance «viih
or exempt from, the Kqniremenis of N.H. RSA chnpicr Jgl
f It'orkers' Co/iipciuofio/i
H.l Tothe cxiemtlieConiniciorislubjccito ihe
rcqiiircnicnls of N.y. RSA chapter 211 'A. Coniracior shall
maintain, and re'quire any subcomnicior or aisignce io secure
and nioiiiioin. payhiehi of WorVco" Coinpenssiion in •
comuction tviih activities which titc person proposes to
undeitnkc pursuant to thi^Agrecmcni. Coitimcior shall
furnish the Coniraciinj Officer identified in block 1.9, or his
orlicr successor, proof of Wori;cfS' Coinpensatioti in Ihe
ni.-umer described in N.H. RSA Chapter 211 -A tiftd any
applicable r<fK**nlt$l ihcreof, uhich shall be onaclicd and ore
incorporated herein by reference. The State shell not be
responsible for payment of any Woiicrs' CompcflWlion .
premiums or for any other cbini or benefit for Contraeior.or
any subcomractor or employee of Contraeior. w-hich might
arise under applicable Sioic.of Ne** Hampihirc-Woriters"
Compensation laws in connection'with the perforrriDncc of the
Services under this Agrecinent.

Id. >VA1V£R OF BREACH. No fallote by the State to
enforce any provisions hereof nflcr any Event of Otfauli shall
be deemed n tvoiver of its rlgtns with regard to that Event of
Dcfanii.or nny subsequent Evciiiof Dcfnult.' No e.tpress
failure 10 enfofce ntiy Event of Ocfouh thai! bcdceuied a
vk-oivei of the right of the State to enforteeoch and all of the
provisions hereof upon ony forthcr-or Olhtr Evesit of Oe fault
on the pan of the Contractor.

17. NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other jjarty
shall be deemed to have been duly delivered or givcrv at ihc

• time of mailing by certified mail, postage prepaid, in a United
Siaici Post Office nddreiscd to the panics at the nddresics
givxn in blocks 1.2 and I.d, herein.

16. AMENOMEN T. This Agreement n»y be amended,
svtiived or discharged only by tin insinmicni in writing signed
by the parties hereto ond.only nftcr approvol of such
aiiiciidineftl. waiver or discliargc by the Covernor and
E.-etciitive Council of the Sinic ofNew Hampshire unless no

-Such approval is.rtquircd.tntdcrjhc.circiimsiaiKCS.pursuaiii.to.,,
Stale Inw. rule or policy.

19. COiN'STRUCTION OF AGREEMENT AND TERMS.
Tliis Agreement shall be constnied in accordance with the
laws of the State of New Hainpstiire, nnd is binding upon and
inures to the benefit of the portiei and their respective
successors and osfigiw. The-wording used iiwhis Agreement
it the >vording clioscn by iKe parties to r.iprcsf their mutual
intent, and no nile of eonsiriKliOu Shall be applied ogoiiist or
in favor ofony party.

20. Third rARties. Tne.paniet hereto do noi Intend to
bcixfii any third parties and this Agreemeni tiiall noi be
construed to confer any such benefit.

1**'

21. headings. The headings throughout the Agrcemcm
are for rcferciKC purposes only, and the words contained
therein shall in no way be held to explain, modify.-nniplify or
aid in the iiucrprclation. coiutmedon or meaning of the
provisions of tins Agre.emcnj.

22.SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Addliional provis'ions set
fonli in the onnchcd EXHIBIT C are incorporated herein by
lefcrenec.

23. SE^'^ERABIt1TV. In the cvdni any of the provisions of
this Agreenteni are'lield by o.coun of compctcm jurisdiction to
be con'irary to rtny state or federal Inw, the remaining..
provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and
effect. . .

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which may
be executed In n number of counterparts, each of which shnll
be deemed an original, constitutes the entire Agreement and
' undcnianding beiuecn the'panies, and supersedes all prior

Agreements ivhd understandings relating hereto.

Page 4 of 4
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Scope of Services'

1. Provisions Applicable to All Services

1.1. The Conlractor shall submit a detailed descriptiori of the language assistance
-  services they will provide to persons with .limited .English proficiency to ensure
meaningful access to their programs and/or services within ten (10) days of the
conlraci effective date.

1.2. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future legislative action by the New'
Hampshire General Court or federal or state court orders may have an impact
on the Services described herein, the Stale Agency has the right to modify
Service priorilles and expenditure requirements under this Agreement so as to
achieve compliance therewith.

1.3. For Ihe purposes of this Agreement, Ihe.Department has identified the Contractor
as a Sub recipient. In-accordance with 2 CFR 200.300. '

The .Contractor shall ensure one (1) part-lime fraternal Mortality Abstractor
provides data-related activities, which include but are not limited to:

1.4.1. Collecting maternal death Information. . ' •

1.4.2.. Abstracting maternal death cases. . *

1.4.3.. Reviewing.malernal,death cases.

,2. Scope of Work

2.1. The Cpnlractof shall .enter data into the Maternal Mortality Fteyiew,Information"
Application (MMRIA) regarding deaths of women In New Hampshire- during
pregnancy, and during the year following the end of pregnancy.'

.'2:2. The Contractor, shall enter abstracted materrval .-mortality case data and
information inio the MMRIA within one (1 j month of receiving the information
from the Maternal-Mortality Review Coordinator'. The Contractor shall;

'2.2.1. v Conduct a record review in order to'abstracl data and informallon
related to NH maternal death cases.

2.2.2. Maintain vyorking knowledge of the Center for Disease Control's (CDC)
maternal mortalily practices and resources. •

2.2.3. Refer to the Center for Disease Control's Reviewto Action websiie-and
ihe Enhancing Reviews and .Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal
Mortality ■ (ERASE MM) website for updated maternal mortality
Information.

2.3. The Contractor shall attend abstractor trainings conducted by the CDC as well
as meetings as required by the'Department.

2.4. The .Conlractor shall attend a minimum of two (2) Maternal f^ortality Review
Meetings each.year and provide minute meeting rioies with recpmmend'alions

OartTioulhHiichcock'M^dicttCeftief e*hibiiA - Contfflctof Inltiait
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Exhibit A ,

' within one (1) week to the Maternal Mortality Review Coordinator.

2.5. The Conlractof shall establish a-Recomrriendalions Work Group . in person or
via virtual meeting, to discuss the recommendations developed through the
Maternal Mortality Review Committee (MMRC) The contractor shall ensure
(hat the Recommendations Work Group, consists of a muliidisciplina'ry group
'consisting of. but are not limited to:

2.5.1. Mental Health facilities

2.5.2. Community Health Workers

2.5.3. Medical personnel

2.6'. The Contractor shall'use inforrhation gathered from the Recommendations
.. Work Group l6 inform action on a project for the year.

2.7. The Conlfaclor'shali develop an acllon plan to implement MMRC maternal
health and wellness recpmrnendalion's. The Contractor shall:

2.7.1.' Provide an annual report thai details:

•  2.7.1.1. Feasibility assessment by the Recommendations Work
Group of which recommendations from the hilMRC are"
actionable in NH to improve statewide maternal healih and
wellness..

2.7;1.2. Action plans'for selected recommendaiidhs.

2.7.2. Develop up to two (2) forms of e'ducatio.nal.materials for NH obstetric
medical professionals and/or the public ' based on the
recommendations chosen to focus on by the Recomrnendations Work
Group. Educational material shall ioctude but is not limited to (he

.  following: •'

2.7.2.1.1. Electronic reading material v,:.

2.7.2.1.2. Brochures

2.8. The Contractor shall conduct a pitol project in year one (1 j using the Association
of Women's Health, Obsieiric and Neonatal Nurses (AWHONN) Post Binh
Waffling Signs program in at least three (3) birth hospitals 'across New
.Hampshire. The Contractor shall: . .

2.8.1.1.1. ; Provide hospitals with the AWHQNN education program for rholhers ■
- and their families to increase awareness of postpartum- warning-
signs. •

2.6.1.1.2. Ensure edocalion is provided utilizing the information developed by
the natiphal AWHONN.

2.8.1.1.3. Gather feedback atiout the pilot program from' personnel at
hospitals to inform widespread use of the AWHONN Postpartum

Diiftmoulh Hitchcock M«di«lCcn)ef, ■ HtWoilA Contftclof tnliisls^^
SS-2020-DPHS-n-MATeRN • Fofi'o2ot4 X OotoS/lS/2070
ftcv.os/osrie ■ •'
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'  '

Warning Signs education to all NH birth hospitals. .

2.9. The Contractor shall implement the AWHONN Post Birth Warning signs program
in all New Hanripshire-birth hospilals that are interested in perticipaling after the
initial period of the pilot program based on results of the pilot program.

2.10. The Contractor shall assist the Maiemal Mortality Review Coordinator with
increasing obstetric rnedlcal professionals' understanding of. local access to
Fan^ly Resource Centers irt order to support prpghant, poslpartum and
parenting women. The Contractor shall: • ^

2.10.1. Provide a list" of suppdrts developed by the Governor's Perinatal
Substance Exposure Task Force, Plan of Safe Care (POSC)
subcommittee to the stakeholders Subsection 2.6.

2.10..2. Provide, all obstelric providers iri the Stale of New Hampshire with a
comprehensive list of community-based supports and Services for
families.

2.11. The ConUactdr shall work with a legal expert to inform the Malernal Mortality
' Program about the legality .of sharing information across state borders in order-
to obtain complete records for review of cases.for all maternal.deaths.

3. Reporting

3.1. The Contractor shall provide an anhual report, due March.15 of each year that:

3..1.1. Outlines the number of recommendations for action prioritized by the
Recommendations Work Group"

3.1.2, Specifies the actions taken. • -•

3.2. The contractor shall provide afinalrepon notaterihan June-5, 2021 that^detalls
the research completed by the legal consultant, which includes, bul is not limited
to:- ■;

3.2.1. ■ Information collected on dala sharing between stales.
.3.2,2. MalernarMortality legislation passed, specifically in>bordering states.
'3.2.3. A potential'plan for. moving forward toward cross-border sharing in

order to successfully review all maternal death cases.

4. Data Sharing
4.1. The Contractor shall ensure any disclosure of identifiable confidential health,

SUD of mental health information or dala adheres to state and federal laws and
regulations relating to safeguarding (he confidential information, which includes,
but may not be limited to:

4.1.1. The Health Information Portability and Accountabilily Act (HIP^).
4.1.2. 45-CFR 160-164.

Oanmoulh Hitchcodc Modicol Center. Ei^ibitA Coniroc/orlnltist)
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4.1.3.'-42 CFR Pan 2 for SUO Date .

-  4.1.4. NH Adminisiralive RuI.e He-M 2019 lor Mental Health Data.

4.2. The Contractor shall ensure,confidentiality agreemc'nis are signed by all parties
sharing data.in order to safeguard any identifiable information collected and

■  disclosed to prevent any inaclvenent disclosure of indefinable information.

4.3. The Contractor shall hoi "collect, receive, store, or manage conridentlal data
related to the scope of work and deliverables identified in this Exhibit A uniess of
until the parties have agreed in wrillng to a Data Sharing Plan that includes, bul
is nol limited to the following: , '

4.3.1.

4.3.2.

4.3.3.

4.3.4.

4.3.5.

4.3.6.

4.3.7.-

4.3.8.

The purpose of the data exchange;

Oescripiion^of the Departhienl's data elements to be disclosed: ; '
Source or Systems of Records

Number of Records Involved and Operational Time Factors

Oala Elements Involved ^ .

Reporling'and Secure Transmission of Confidential Data

Description of the Contractor'^ data elements to be disclosed; and

Responsibilities of both'parties regarding the exchange of'data.

4.4. The Contractor shall-exe'cute the Data Sharing Plan in a timely manner so as not
to impede the scope of work and deliverables identified in this Exhibit A.

4:5. The Contractor agrees to modify the Data Sharing-Plan in writing as necessary.'
due to any changes to. the scope of work and deliverables identified in this Exhibit
A. ' ■

4.6. The Conlraclbf shall comply wllh the terms of Exhibil K; DHHS Information
Security Requirements, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference-
herein.-
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. New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
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Exhibits

Method and Conditions Precedent to Payment

1. The Stale shall pay the Contractor an amount hot to exceed the Form P-37. Block 1.8,
Price Llniitation for the services provided pursuant lb Exhibit A. Scopeof Services.

2. This Agreement 1^ funded with 100% Pederal Funds from Center^ for Disease Control
& Prevention. Preventing Maternal Deaths; Supporting Maternal Mortality Review
Commiitecs Grant. Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA)#93.478. Federal
Award Identirication Number {FAIN)#NU58DP006693.

3., Failure lo meet the scope of services may jeopardize Ihe funded Contractor's current
endfor future funding. ' * . ;

4.. Payment for sa'id services shall be made rnonthly as follows:

■  4.1. Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures incurred
in the fulfiirment of this Agreement, and shall be in accordance with the approved
line items as specified in Exhibit 8-1, Budget and Exhibit 6-2 Budget.

4.2. The Contractor shall submit an invoice in a form satisfactory to the Slate by the
twentieth (20"*) working day of each month, .which identifies and requests
reifhbursement for authorized expenses incur'fed in the prior monlh. ,

•  4.3. The Contractor shall ensure the invoice is completed, signed, dated and returned
to the Department in order to Initiate-payment.

• 4.4. The State shall make payment lo the Gontraclor within thirty (30) days of receipt
., of each invoice , subsequent lo .approval of the submitted invoice and if sufficient

•  funds are available.

5. The Contractor, shall, keep detailed records* of their activities related to Oepariment-
funded programs and services and have records available for Department review, as
requested.

6.. The final invoice shall be due to the State no later than sixty (60) days after the contract
completion dale specified In Form P-37, General provisiorts Blo'ck"1.7 Complelion Date*.

7: In lieu of hard copies, all invoices may be assigned an electronic signature and emailed-
to OPHSconU8ctbllllng@dhhs.nh.gov(^dhhs.r^h.gov, or invoices may be mailed to: '

Finaricial Administrator"
Department of Health and Human Services
Division of Public Health

29 Hazen Drive. . I

DartmouthHiichcot* Cenlcr EnWaiiB . Comiaciorimim
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Exhibit B

Concord.-NH 03301 • .

8. Payments may be withheld pending receipt of required reports or documentation as
idenlified in Exhibit A, Scope of Services and in this Exhibit B.

9. Notwithstanding anythmg to. the contrary herein, (he Contractor agrees that, funding
under this agreement may be withheld: .in whole or in ,part...in the event of non-
compliance vvith any Federal or Slate law. rule or regulation applicable to the seivlces
provided, or if the said services or products have not been satisfaciorily cornpleted in
accordance with the terms and conditions of this agreement.

tO.Notwil.hstanding paragraph 18 of the General -Provisions P-37. change's lirihited to
adjusting arnounts between budget line Items, related items, amendments of .related
budget exhibits within the. price limitation, and to adju'stirtg encumbrances between
State Fiscal Years, may be made by written agreerhent of both parties and may be
made without obtaining epp.foval of the Governor and Executive Council.
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SPECIAL PROVISIONS

Contractors Obligations: Tho Conlrofclor covenanls ond agrees that all funds received by the Conlractor
under the Contrecl Shall be used only as payment to the Conlractor for services prosrided to ellgiblo
individuals end, in the furtherance of the aforesaid covenants, the Cohtractorhcrcbycovanants end'
agrees as follows:

1. Compilancd with Fodarsl and Stata Laws; II (ha Conlractor is permitted to determine tho cliQibtnty
of in'dividudis euch eligibility delerminailon shaS bo made in accordartce with appl^ble loderel end
state laws, regulations, orders, guidelines, policies and procedures.

2. T'rno Manner of Ootormlnatlon: eitQibiiily delcrminotions shell bo ma.de on forms provided by
the Department for that purpose ond shell be made br»d remade ot such times os ore prescribed.by
the Department. ' .

3. Documonlatlon: In addition lo Ihe delermlnation forms required by (he Ooparlmenl. the Contractor
shall moinlain s data file on each recipienl ol ser>^e$ hereunder.' which fite shall indude eD
informalion necessary to support on eligibiiily determiriatlon and such other iniormeiion os Ihe
OepertmenI requests. The Conlroclor shafl furnish the Oepartmeni with all forms and documentation
regard'mg eligibliity determinations thai Ihe Deparlrhenl may requosl or require.

4. Pair Hearings: The Conlractor underslondi thai ell applicants for services hereunder. os well as
individuals declared ineligible have a right to e lair hearing regarding that deiermlnalidn. The
Conlractor hereby covenants and agrees (hat all epplrcanis lor serwcet shaD be permitted to rti oui -

• an application lorni and that each eppi'iceni or re-appl'icenl shall be Informed of his/her righi to ofoir
hearing in occbrdanco tmlh Department regulaiions. . •

5. Gratuities or KIcKbacko: Tho Contractor 'agrees, (hat it is o breach of (his Contract to accept or
rnake a payment, gratuity or offer of employment .on behalLoj the Coritroclor. any Sub'Conlractor or
the Slate In order lo Influertce Ihe performance of the Scope of Work delalled in Exhibit A of this
Contract. The S.tale may lermlnale Ihis Conlroci ond any sub-contract or sub-agreement If (i is
determined thai payments, grotuilies or offers of employment of any kmd were bfferad or received by
ariy officials, officers, employees or-agents of iho Contractor or Sub-Contractor.

6. Retroactive Payments: Notwithstanding anythirig io Ihe conlrery.conlatned in the Controcl or in
any olhci document, contracl or understar^ding. it is expressly ̂ mdorstood end agreed by Ihe parties
hereto, thai no payments 'win be made hereunder lo reimburse the Contractor for costs incurred (or
any purpose or for any services provided lo any individual prior to Ihe Elfectrve Dale ot (he Contract
end.no paymants-shall be made lor expenses incurred by (he Conlractor for any services provided
prior to the dale on which-Ihe Individual applies for scrv'eei or (except 8_s olhcrwise provided by tho
federal regulations) prjbr to a determlnaiion thot the individual is eligible'for such services.

7. Conditions of Purchase: Notwithstanding arTything lo.the contrary contained in the Contract, nothing
herein contained .shall be deemed to oblgale or require the. Oepartmeni to purchaso services
hereunder ol a rPto which reimburses (he Contractor in excess of the Conlractors cosls, at a rale
which exceeds (he bmounis reasonable and nbcessary.lo assure thequoliiyof such service.'or ai a

•  role which exceeds Ihe rate charged by tho Contredor lo IrTOligible irKfividuals or other third party
funders (or such eervicc. If al any time during iha term ol this Contracl or afiar receipt of the Fine! ■
Ex'peodsiure Report hereunder, Ihe Department shall determine lhal the Contractor has used
paymenis hereunder to reimburse ilcms of expense other than such cosls. or has received payment
iri excess of such cosls or In exceSs of such rotes charged by the Conlraclor lo ineligible individuals
or other th'ud party (unders. the Oepartmeni may eleclto: .

7.1. RenegoHale Ihe rotes for payment hereunder, in which event now rates shall bo eslablishcd;
7.2. Deduct frpm any future payment jo Ihe Conlraclor the amount ol any prior reimbursemerd in

excess ol cosls; CJ.
;  0eUbfl C-SpCdfttprovUloni :V - roruiaflftfInlUah I
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7.3.- Demond.repeymenl.or Ihe excess payment'by the Conueclor in which event failure to rhaVe
tuch repaymenl'shallconsiituto anEvent of Default hereunder. When ih« ConUactoris

' pcnmined to deiermlna the eligibUlty of Individuals for services, ihe Contractor agrees to
reimburse Ihe Department for all funds paid by the Oepadment to (he Contractor for services
providedloanylndh^uai who is found by the Department to teineKgiblefor such serviceaal
any lime during the perMol retention ol records e^tabtishedhereln. ' •

RECORDS; MAINTENANCE. RETENTION. AUDIT. DISCLOSURE AND CONFIOENTIALITV:
•  *

8. Malntcnanco of Records: In addiiton to (he ertglDiiily records specified above, the Contractor
covenants end agrees to melnlain the (oliowing records during (he ContreclPariod:^

6.1. F(sca) Records: records reflecting oD income recoivod or coUoctcd by the Corttroctor ur^der this
Agreement. - ' ;

6.2. Staiisiicel Records: Slaiisllcai. enrollment, anendance .or visii records (or each recipient of'
services during the Contract Period, whichrecords shall include all records ol applcetionand

■ eligibilHy (including'al) forms required to.determine eligiblliiy for each such recipient), records
•regaiding the provision of services and all inv^es submitted to the Department to obtain
payment for such services under this Agreement.

8.3. Medical Records: Where appropriate and as prescribed by ihe Department regulaiione! the
COnlrector shat) retain medical records on each patieni/reciplerM ol services during-the
Contract Period.

9. 'Audit: Contractor shat) submit en-annual eud'n to the Department within 60 days after (he close of the
agency fiscal year. K is recommended Ihat the report be prepared in eccordance with the provision of
Otfico of Management end Budget Circular A-t33, "Audits of Stoles. Local'Governmenis. and Non
Profit Organizations" ond (he provisions ol Sianderds fot-Audii of Governmental Ot^on'aolions,
Prograrns, Activities and Functions, issued by Iho US General Accountir>g Office (GAO standards) as
(hey pertain to financial compliance audi.ts.

9.1. Audi! and Review; During the term of iNj Control a^td the period lor retention hereunder, the
.' Department, (he United States Oepoitmenl of Health and Human Services, pnd any ol their
. designated represeniai'tves shaO have access lo etl reports and records maintained pursuani lo
. Ihe Contract for'purposes of oudil. examination, excerpts and transcripis.

9.2. Audit LiabiSiies: In oddilion to end not in any way in limitation ql obligalions 6! (he Conlrect.'il is
'  understood end agreed by the Contractor Ihbt the Contractor shall be held (iatila (or any slate

or federel eudii exceptions end shall return to the Ocpartrneni. el) payments made under the
Contraci lo which excepiion has been taken or which have'been disallowed because ol such en
exception.' . ■ • . .

'10. Confldonlialily of Records: All information, reports, end records rnainlained hereurvler or colfeclod
in conneclion vnlh Ihe performance of Ihe serwes arid ine Contract shat) bo confidential end shell
no! be disclosed by the Conlractor. provided however, dial pursuant to slalo laws ond ifie regulations
of the OepartmenI regarding the use and disclosure of such information, disclosure maybe made to
public officials requiring such information in connection with their official duties and for pi^pbses
directly connected lo the edrrunislraliori of Ihe services and the Contract; and provided further, thai .
the use or disclosure by any party of any information concerning a recipient for any purpose not
directly cpnnected with the administration of Ihe Department or the Contraciofs respcnsibih'tles with
respect lo purchosed services hereunder is prohibited except on wrlilen consent of the-fe'cipier^t. his
ellorneyorguardian.

t
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f..

Notwithslanding anything to the coMia/> contained herein the covenenia and condllions contained.jn
the Paragraph shal) survive the tenr^inatlon of the Contract for any reason whatsoever.

>1. Reports: Fiscal and Stalisiicol: TheConlractor ag/oos to submit the following reports at tho
fotlowing limes H roquesled by the OopadmenL
>1.1. Interim Finohciel Rep^s: WrWen interim nnancial reports containing a detailed description of

. all costs and r^o/v^llowable exf^nses incurred by the Contractor to the dale of the report ond
containing-such other information as shot) bo deemed sollsfactory by the Oepartmeni to
justify the rale of payment hereunder. Such Financial Reports.shall be submitted on the fonri

. designated by the Oepartmeni cir deemed saUsfactory by the Oeponment.
11.2. Final Report: A Anol report shall bo iut>mitled wiihin thirty (30) deya after the end of the term

of this Corvtrocl. The Fin'el Report shefl bo In a form sallsfociory to the Departmeni ond shall
conloln p summary state'mont of progress toward goals ond objectives sleted in thePfoposcI
and Other information required by the Oeparlrnent.

12; Compictloh of Services: OisaHowance of Costs: Upon the purchase by the Department of the
maximum number of units provided for in the Conlrsct'end upon payment of the price fimitelion'
hereunder. tho Contract end oil the obligations of the pahios hireunder (except such obligations os.
by the tonns of tho Contract aro to be performed after tho eri'd of the.lerm ot this Contract end/or
iurvrvd theiermirislion of the-Contract) shpll'lermlnaie. provided however, that it; upon review of the
Final Expenditure Report the Department shetl disallow any expenses claimed by the Conlractor as
costs hereunder the Oepertmenl shell reieln the rtghl, at iis discretion, to deduct the amount ot such
expenses os are diseUowad or to recover such sums from theContractor.

13. Crodlts: All documents, notices, press releases, research reports end other malettals prepared
during or resulting from the performsrKe of the services of the Contract elielJ include ihe
tolipwing stelemeni:
13.1. ' The preparation of this (report, document etc.) was financed urtder bContract v^olh iheSlele

/ v of New Hampshire. Department ot Heaih ond Human Services.'with funds provided in part
by the Stato of New Hampshire end/or such other funding sources at were available or
required, e.g., .Ihb Uruted Stales Oepartmeni ot Health and Human Services.

14. Prior Approval end Copyright Ownership: All materials (written, video. OUdio)'prbduced'Or
purchased under the contract shall have prior approval from DHHS before printing, production..
disirteuiion or use. The DHHS will retain copyright ownership (or any and ell original materials
produced. Including, but no) limited (o, brochures, resource directories, protocols or guidelines,'
posters, or reports. Contractor shall not reproduce any rnaierials produced under Ihe cdntreclwiihoul
prior written approval from OHHS.

15. Operalion of Facilities; Compliance with Lews-and fjtogulatlonc: In the operation ol any facilities
for providing service's, the Contrector shall comply with all laws, orders and regulations of federal,
slate.' county end mur^ipal authorities and wllh any direction ol any Public Officer or officers
pursuant to laws which shall impose on order or duty upon (he contractor wiih respecl to tho
operation of Ihe facillly or the provision of the services el such facility. H any governmerilal license or
permit shaO be required for (he.opcralion ol the said facitily or Ihe perlormanco of (he said services,
the Contrector s^i procure said licenso or perm'il. er>d will ei eti times comply with the lerms and
conditions of each such frcense or perrnii. in bonncclion with Ihe foregoing requirements, tho
Conlractor hereby covenarvts and agrees that, during the term ol this Conireci the facilities shad

"  'comply with aD rules, orders, regulaiions. and requirements of the State OKico of<(he Fire Marshal
.  and Ihe local fire proiection agency, and shall be in conformance with local building and zoning
, codes, by-, laws end regulations. '

16. Equal Employment Opportunity Plan (EEOP): The Conlractor will provide on Equal Employmeni
Opportunily Plan (EEOP) to Ihc Office for Civil Rights, pifice ol Justice Progroms (OCR). H ii has
received a single award ol $500,000 or rhore. II ihe recipjeni receives $25,000 or more and has 50 or

Pipe 3 or S 0«!e..
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moie employees. Il wlil mainlain a pufrenl £60P on filo end submil an EEOP Certificeijon Form to the
OCR certifying thai ils EEOP is on We. For recipients recieivlng less than S25.000. or public grantees
with lewe; than SO employees, regeidtess ol the amount ol the award.-the recipient will provWe on
EEOP Certidcalion Form lo the OCR ccrtllying il is not required to submit or maintain an EEOP. Non-
.proft organliatbns. indlari Tribes, end medical and educational Inslitulions ere exempi from Iha
EEOP fCQuircmenl, but are required lo sutimii a certification form to the OCR to claim the exemption.
EEOP Certificodoft Forms are available ai: hnp;/wwvr.6jp.usdoi/abouv/ocr/pdis/cert.pdf. •

Limited English Proficiency (L€P):'A* darirted by Executive Order 13166. improving Accoit.lo
Services for persons with Llmlled English Proficiency, ond resulllng agency guidance, nelipnal •
oiiglh discrimination lnctudo» disciimlrtailon or* ihe boala of Umllcd En^iih profidency (L6P). To
ensure compliance wtih the Omnibus" Crime Conlrpl ond Safe Streets Aci of 1966 end Tiile Vl of the
Chrll Rights Act oI 19W. Conlraclors must leve reasonebie slops to ensure ihot LEP persons have
meaningful access to Its prograrns. .• . * '\ '

18. Pilot Program for Enhancement of Contractor Employee Whlstleblowcr Protections: The
fotiowng shafrapply lo oil conlrects that exceed the SimpBfied Acquisifion ThreshoJd'as defined In48
CFR2.t01 (correnily. $150,000) ' "

Comtractos Euployee WHisriEeiowER Rigmis amo Reouiremeht to inform Empcoyees of
WHlSTceaLOWER RtOHTS (SEP 2013)

(a) This conlracl end employees worting on this contracl wlll be subject to the vrhislleblowcr rights
ond remedies in the pilol program on Coniraclor employee whlsllebiower proiec'tions estoblishedet
41 u.S.C. 47l2by8cclien 628 of the National Defense Aumorizeiion Acl f.or Fiscal Year 20t3.(Pob.L.
112-239)'and FAR 3.908.

(b) The Coniraclor shall Infonn Us employees In wrlling. In the predominani language of the worWorce.
of employee whisllpbtower rights end proloclions under 4"l U.S.C. 4712. cs described In section
3.906 of the Federal Acquisitiofi Regulation.

•  (c) The Coniroctor shall insert lhe substance of this clause, including this paragraph (c). in ail
subc'onlrocis over the simplified ecquhilion threshold.

19. Subcontractora-. DHHS recognizes lhai the Contractoi may choose lo use subcontfaclors wiih.
grealcr expertise to perform certain heeiih care services or funclioni (or cfficieiicy or convenionco.
but the Coniroctor shaD retain the reiponsibiDiy and accounlobiiiiy for the foncllon(8). Prior to •
subcontrocUr^g, the Coniraclor shall ovaiuole ihe subconiroctofs obilily to perform the delegated.
lunclion(s). This is occorhplished (hrough e wrilten agreement thai specifics octivities end reporting
rcsponslbiliiies of the subcontrador ond provides for revoXlng the delegation or imposing sanctions if
the subconlrecior'c performance is not adequate. SubconUadors are subject lo the same contractual
conditions es Ihe Coniroctor and ihe Conirador is responsible lo ensure subconirador compliance
wtih those dondilcons. ' ,

'  When Iha Conlractordelcgoles a funclionto o subconirador. ihe Coniraclor.shall do the lollowing:

19.1. Evaluate iho prospective sobconlroctor'sDbllity to perform"ihoodivliles. before delogoting
thetundion '

195. Have D wrilten agrecmenl with ihe subconirador that specifies ocliviiies endreportirig
responsibilities and how sanctions/revocation wfil be managed, if Iho subconlrador's
performance "S nol adequale

19.3. Monilof Iho subconlrador's performance on an ongoing basis

£xhlbUC-Spe<JHP»e*blon» * Conirsaot InWdi J
5/15/2020 .
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19.4. Provide lo DHHS on ennudi schedule idenllfying ell subcontraclors, delegated fur\ciions
and responjibliilles. end when (he subconiractofs pcfto/mance win be ro'viowcd.

19.5.' OHHS shall, Dl lls discretion, review and epproyo ell subcontracts.

1/ the Contrpcior Idenlifies dericiencies or o/eas for Improvemeni oro idcntiried. ihe Controdof sholl
leke corrective ecUon. > , i

20. Contract Oeflnltioris:

20.1. COSTS: Shell meah those diroct and indifect items of e*pento determined by the papartment
(0 be allowable and reimbursoblo in occordonM wilh cotl and accounting principles esiablishod
■In oceordance wlih stele and fedorol laws, regutations. rules and orders.

20..2. DEPARTMENT: NH Department of HeaHh and Human Services.

20.3. . PROPOSAL; II applicable, shell mean Ihc document submiiled by (he Ccniroclof one
form or forms roQoirod by the Departmcnl and cohlaintrtg e description ol Iho serytces and/or
goods lo bo provided by the Conuecior in accordance wUh the terms and conditions of the
Conlrocl and setting forth iho loiol cost and sources of revenue for each service to be.provided
under the Contract.

20.4. UNIT: For each service that the Conl/sctor Is lo provide to eligible individuals hereunder, shall
•• meen thai period of time or that spcciHcd ociivily deiermindd by Ihe Ocpartmeni and specified

in Exhibit 6 ot the Contract.

20.6. FEDERAL/STATE LAW: Whcrovcr federal or Hale laws, regulolions. rules, orders, and
'  policies, etc. are referred loin the Contract, the said reference shall be deemed to mean

all such laws, regulallons. etc. as Ihey may be amended or revised from lime to time.
20.6. • SUPPIANTING.OTHER FEDERAL FUNDS: Funds provided lo the Conlracloronderlhis

Contract wit! not supplant ony existing (ederei funds evpilable for these services.

pyivii
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REVISIONS TO STANDARD CONTRACT LANGUAGE

1. Revisions to Form P-37, General Provisions

1.1. Paragraph 3. Subparagraph 3.2, Effeblive Dale/Complelion of Services, is
deleted in its entirety &r^d replaced as follows:

3.2 M the.Contrector commences the Services prior lo the Effective Dale,
ell Services performed by the Contractor prior lo the Effective Date
shell be performed at the sole risk of the Contractor, and in the event
that this Agreement does not become effective, the State shall have ho
liability to the Contractor, including .without limiialion. any obligalipn to
pay the Contractor for any costs incurred or Services performed.
Contractor must use reasonable efforts to complete all Services by
the Completion Date specified in block 1.7. .

1.2. Section 4. Conditional Nature of Agreenrtenl. is replaced as follows:

4. • Notwithstanding any provision .of this Agreement to" the contrary, all
obligations of the Slate hereunder. including\withou^ limitation, the
continuance of payments, in whole or in part, under this Agreement are
contingent upon continued appropriation or availability of funds,
including any subsequent changes to the approprialion or availability of'

'  .-.v . . funds affected by any state or'federai tegislalive or eveculive action
that, reduces, eliminates, or .otherwise modines the appropriation or
availability of funding for this Agreement and the Scope of Services
provided In Exhibit A". ScOpe.of Services, jo whole or in part. In ho

'  ̂ event shall the Slate be liable for any payments h'ereunder .in excess of
appropriated or available funds. In the .event of a reduction, terminaliph •
or modification of appropriated or available funds, the Stale shall have
the right to withhold.payment unlit such funds become available, if.
ever. The Stale shall have thfe right to reduce, terminate or modify
services under this Agreement immediately upon giving the Conlraclpr
notice of such reduction, lerrhinalion or modification. The Slate shall
not be required to transfer funds from any other source Or account into
the Accounl(s) identified in" block 1.6 of the General Provisions.
Account Number, or any other account in the event funds are reduced
or unavailable..

1.3. Paragraph 7', Subparagraph 7.1. Personnel, is deleted in its* entirely and
replaced as foliows:

7.1 The Contraclor shall at its own expense provide all personnel
>; ; ■ necessary to perform the Services. The Contractor certifies that all

personnel engaged in the Services shall be qualified'lo perform the
Services, and shall be property licensed and otherwise' authorized to do
so under all applicable laws.

E^i C- \ - Re*r»iWE<«p8cni »o Comiad Leigu#(K Conu#W rnWah .1—_
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1.4. ' ■ Paragraph 8,.Subpafagraph 8.2.3. Evenl of Default/Remedies, is deleted in
its entirety. •>

1.5. Paragraph. 10. Termination, is deleted in its entirely and is replaced as
•  follows:

io. In.the ever»t of an early ferminaiion of this Agreement for any reason
other than the completion of the Services, the Contractor shall, at the

• State's discretion, deliver to the Contracting Officer, not later than thirty
(30) days after -the date of termination, a report ('Termination Report")

,> •. describing- In detail all Services performed, and' the contract price
'■ earned." to and including the date of termination. The form, subject

. matter, content, and number of copies of the Termination Report shall •
be identical to those of any Final Report described In the attached
EXHIBIT A.

10.1 The Slaie'may terminate the Agreement at any time for.any
. . reason, at the sole discretion of the State. 30 days after giving ■

the Contractor written notice that the Stale is exercising its
option to terminate the Agreement..

•  10,2 In the event of early termination, the Contractor shall, within 15
days of nolice of early' termination, develop .and submit to the
Slate a Transition Plan for services 'under- the Agreement.
Including but not limited to. Identifying the present" and future
needs of clients receiving services under the Agreement and
establishes a process to meet those needs.

10.3 The Contractor shall fully cooperate with the istat.e and shall
promptly provide detailed information to support the Transition

'  Plan Including, bul not limited to. appHcable.infofmalion or data
. [ requested by the State related to the termination of the

Agreement and Transition' Plan and shall provide ongoing
communication and revisions of the Transition Plan to the State
as requested.

•  10.4 In the event that services "under the Agreement. Including bul
not limited to clients receiving -services under the Agreement
are transitioned to having services delivered by another entity.

'  . . inciudiog contracted providers or the Stale, the Conlractof shall-
V-., . provide a process for uninlerfupled delivery of services In the

Transition-Plan.

10.5 The-Co'ntraclor shall establish a method of notifying clients and
other affected individuals about the transition. The Contractor

P«9e7o«3 Ooto,
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shall include the proposed conimunicdtions in its Transition
•  • Plan submitted loihe State asdescfibed above..

1.6. Paragraph 13, Indemnification, is deleted in' its entirety and replaced .as
follows:

13. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the State. Its
'  ofTicers and employees, frorri end against any and all losses suffered .loy

the State. officers end employees, and any and all claims, liabilities
or penalties asserted against the State, its ofTicers and employees, by
or on behalf of any person, on account of. .based or resulting from.

.  ' arising out of (or which may.be claimed to arise out of) the'negtigeni
acts or reckless, wanton or willful misconduct of the Contractor.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be

'  deemed to. constitute a wajver of.the sovereign imrpunity of the State,'
which immunity is hereby reserved to the Slate. This.covenant in
paragraph 13 Shall surv.ive the termination of this Agreement.

1.7. Paragraph 14. Subparagraph 14.1.2. Insurance.'is deleled in its entirety'and
replaced as follows:

14.1.1 Commercial general liability insurance against all clalrns of bodily
injury, death or propehy damage, in amounts' of no) fess than
$1.000,000 .per. occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate., except for
property damage due to fire which has a $100,000 coverage limit per

n  occurrence; and .

1.8. Paragraph 14, Subparagraph 14.2. is deleted in its entirety and is replaced as
■  fpllows: •

}A.2 The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall be on policy
•.forms and endofse'mehts approved for .use'in the State of New
-Hampshire by the N.H. Department of InsCirance. and issued by
insurers licensed in the State of New Hampshire or registered to
conduct business in the' State of Nfew Hampshire.

2. Renewal

2.1. The Department reserves the right to extend this agreement for .up to two (2)
additional years, contingent upon satisfactory delivery of services, available
funding, written agreement of (he.parties and approval of the Governor and

* . Executive Council;

C-l - RDv(t)on*/E(£«pUOA} Slirdvb Coo(/id Loftpuige Coniiactot tHiitIt
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING OftUG-FftEE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS

The Vendor idenilAed in Seclion 1.3 of the General Provhions agrees to comply wilh ihe provisionsof
Sections 51S1-5160 of (he Drug-Free WorliplBce Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Tiite V. Subtitle 0; 41
If.S.C. 701 el seq.). end further agrees lo have the Controctor'e represeniodve. as identlfted in Sections
1.11 end 1.12 of the General Prowsionseiecule (he lollowir>g Certiriceiion:

ALTERNATIVE I . FOR GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES • COnVraCTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION • CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE • CONTRACTORS

This certincallon Is requlred'by'ihe reguletions implementing Sections 51 St-5160 of (he Orug-free
WoiVplaco Ac{ of 1968 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V. Sublltle D; 41 U.S.C. 701 el eeq.). The January 31.
1989 regulations were amended artd published es Perl II of (he May 25. 1990 Federal Roister (pages
21681-21691). end reQuirecehificalionby orenlees(ar)d by Inference, sub-greniees end'sub-
coniiactors). prior to award, (hat Ihey wOl mbintein a drug-free' woilcplace. Seclion 3017.630(c) of the
regulation provides thai a grantee (and by inference, sub-grantees and 8ub<onlr8Ctors) thai is a State
may elect lo moke one certificalon lo Ihe'Oepanmenl In each faderal nscal year in lieu of certiricetes for
eefh gronl during the federal Oscal year covered by ihe certirication. The cehincaie sel oul below Is a
m^Cfial lepresenioiion of fact upon which reliance is piacdd when ihe agency awards the grant. Folse
certiricolion or yiolalion of Iho cenincation' sheD be grounds for suspension of payments, suspension or.
termination orgrenls, or government wide suspension or debarmcnl. Conlroclors using this form should
send It to:

Commissioner • . i ^
NH Qeporlmeni of Health end Human Services
129 Pleasanl Street. i-

•  Coricord. NHO3301-E505

1. The granlee certifies that it will or wfl) continue lo provide a.drug-lree workptoce by:-
1.1. Publishing o ̂Idtemenl notifying emptoyees thai (he unlavrtulmar^ufaciure. distribution,

dispensing, possession or use of d controlled substance is prohlbiled in the grantee's
workplace and specifying the actions that will be lakon againsl employees for violation of such
prohibition:

1.2. Establishing an ongong drug-free awareness program to inform employees about '
• 1.2.1. The dangers of drug abuse in Ihe workplace:
1.2.2. The groniee's policy of rrtalntalrilng o drug-free workplace:
1.-2.3.' Any .avollobie drug counseling, rehabilitation, and emptoyoo assistance programs: and
1.2.4. The periaiiies that may be imposed upon employees lor drug obusc vlolalions

occur(ir>g in the workplace:
1.3. ■ Making ii a roquiremeni that each employee to be engaged in the performance of the grant be

given 0 copy of Ihe etatement required by paragraph (a):
-  1.4. Notifying the employee in ihe slaiemenl required'by paragraph (a) thai, as a condllion of

emptoyment under the gram, (he employee wi]}
1.4.1.' Abide by Iho Icrnis of the stalement: end
1.4.2, - Noiify the employer in writing of his or her-conviclion for o vioiaiion of o criminal drug

statute occurring-ln Ihe workplace r>o later Ihan Five calendar days after such
conviction;

1.5. Notifying the agency In wriling, within ten calendar days after receiving ryjtico under
subparogroph 1.4.2 Irom en employee or otherwise recetving ectuot notice of such conviclion.
Emfjoyers of convicled employees musi provtdo nolice. Including posiiion ililo, to every granl
officer on whose granl octlviiy Ihe conviclcd employee was working, unless Ihe Federal agency

. .Etfaoti D - CetiOuUon rogsreviQ Onig Free Vendor MiUit
•  fup
1
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has deaignaied e cehifel point for the receipt ol auch notices. Notice shoU include the
IderUificdiion number(t) of each otfecjed greni;

1.6. Taxing one of the following octlons. within 30-celcn(Jer.dBys ol receiving notice under
subperograph 1.4.2, with respect to ony employee who Is 60 convicted
.1.6.1. TBk<r>g eppropriate personnel oclton ogsinsl siich en employee, up to end including

•lerminetion. consistent wiih the requirements of the RehabiiiiBiion Act of 1973, bs
emended; or

1.6.2. Roquiflng ouch omptoyoo to porticipoto oaiitlaclohty In o drug abuse ossistencc or
rehabiliiblcon progrorn approved for such purposes by a Faderal.,Stale, or local health,
law enlorcomonl, or other appropriate ̂ cncy:

1.7. Making o good fallh eWort to continue lo molweln e drug-lroo wcrXplace through
implemenlBllon of paragraphs lil. 1.2,>1.3,1.4.1.5, of>d 1.6.

2. The gtenlee mey irttort in the apace provided below ihe 6iie(s) foi the pcrformanca of work done in
connoctioh with Ihe speciHc grant.

PfacB of Performance (street address, city, county, slalo, lip code) (list each location)

Chock DJf there ore workplaces on file that are not Identified here. ̂

S/U/2020

Vendor Namo:

1/a/L (l.
Oele Name; Lcigh-Byrgess .

.  • ' Title: Vice President. Office of Research OperaHons

6d»bit 0 - CertJtuilon lepsrtinp Dug Frso Vendor inWtli
Woncpucc Rtqubtment S/lS/2020
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING 0E9ARMENT. SUSPENSION
• AND OTHER RESPONSIBIUTY MATTERS

The Vendor Jdenlifled in Section V3 of the General Provisions egrees to comp^ with the provisions of"
Executive Office of Ihe f^rcsldeni. Execuii^ Order 12549 end 45 CFR Pert 75 rogerding Oebaimenl.
Suspensloh. and Other RespOASibifily Metiers, end further ogrees to heve the Conirdctor'i -v"

•' represcnialivc. es identified in Secllorts i.i i on6 1.12 of the Generel.provi'slons execute the following •
Certillcotion: ' .

INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION
-■ I. By olgr^ng end submitting this proposal fcontracl), Ihe piospectivo prjmory perttcipanl Is providing the

ccitillcaiion tel out below.
•  ■ . . ' ' >

2. The inability of d pcrson lo provido the certifealion required balow will not necessarily rcsull in denial
of porticipalion in this covorcd iranseclion. If necessary, Ihe prospective participant shall cubmll an
explar\alion of why it cannot provide Ihe certification. The cediricetion or explanation will be

' ■ considared In connection wilh'lho NH Qepadmenl of Health and Human Sarvices" (DHHS)
delorminaiion whalher lo enter intp.iNs Iranseclion. However, lellure d the prospective primary
participani to fumish'a certification or an axplanalion shall disqualify such person from participation In

. this Iranseclion,,

3. The cerlificeiion in (his clause is a meierial representation of fact uport which reliance was placed
when OHHS delcrmincd lo enter into this trwseclion. II it is later determined that the prospective
primary participant knowingly rendered an erroneous ccrtincalion. in addition to'other remedies

; evailable to Iho Federal Government. DHHS may terrriinatc this transaction for cause or default.

4. The prospective primary participant shall provide immediate written notice to the DHHS ogency to
whom this' proposal (contract) is submitted if oi any lime.tho pros^ctive primary participant learns
.thai its certiriceiion was erroneous vyhcn submirted or has become erroneous by reason of changed;
clfcumstences.

, 5, The terms 'covered transaction,* *dobarrod.* 'suspended.* 'inetigible.' *lowof tier covorod
Itanseclion,' •participant,* 'person,* *prim8ry covered transaction.' 'principal.' 'proposal.* arxl
'voluntarily excluded,* as used in this clause', have the meanings sdi oui in (he Definitions and
Coverage sections of ihe rules implemenling Executive Order 12549: 45 CFR Part 76. See the •
fiilached definitions.

6. The prospectrvd primary participant agrees by submitting this proposal (conlraci) that, should Ihe ■
proposed covered iranseclion be entered into, h shall.nol knowingly enter Inlo any lower lier covered
transaction with o person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded
from pdrticipei'ion In ihis covered transaction, unless authorized by OHHS.

7. The prospeclive primary p8tticipar\l lurlhcr agrees by submitting this proposal that it will Include the
clause titled 'Cerliricalion Regardlng Debarmenl, Suspension. Ineligibilily and Voluntary Exclusion •
Lower Tier Ck)v«red Transactions.* provided by DHHS. without modincalion. in ol) lower Uer covered
transactions and in ell solicitations for lower tier covered transactions. '

8. • A participani In o covered iranaa^llon may rely upori o certificalion of a prospective participant in a
lower tier covered Iranseclion thai it is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or involuntarily .excluded
froni ifia covered tronsaclion. unless H knows that the certificailon Is.erroneous. A participani may.- . .
decide the method and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals. Each
pert'icipani may. bul is noi requlrcd id. check lha Nonptocuremenl List (of excluded part'ics).

9. Nolhing contained in the loregoing shall be consliued lo require eslablishmenl of a system ol records
in order lo render in good failh (he ceriificalion required by this ctduse. The knowledge and

GkMd!i F - CtnirfwOon RfyarUng Oebarmcrt, SulpCftJlon VentJOf rnliitta
•AndOihe«Rejportil6ClhrMB«er» S/1S/7Q70
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inlormalion of a padidpanl is not requued to exceed that which is normaDy possessed'by 8 prudent
person In the ordinary course of business dealings.

to. Except for transactions authohted under paragraph 6 of lltese InslrucUons, if a participant in a
■ mvered irensaclton knowihgfy enters into a tower tier covered transa^tioh with a person who Is
suspended, debarred, ineligible,'or vohrntarily excluded from partidpaiion in this irensactionj in
addition to other remedles-evaitabia to the Federal government, OHHS moy terminate this (ransaciton
lor cause or delouli.

Pf^lMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS • . '
11. The prospective primory part'clpanl certiries to the best of its knowlodgo-ono belief, ihei li and Its

principfilsi -
'  11.1. ere not presently debeired, suspended, proposed (ordebermoni, dodsred InoOgibte. or

vbtuntarily excluded from cover^ transactions by any Federai department or agency;
l 'i.2. have not within a three-year period preceding 'thls proposal (contract) been convicted of or had

a civil judgment rendered against th'em for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in
connection with obtaining, atlomptin^t to obtain, or performing a public (Federal. Sialo or locdO
transaction or a contract under a public transaction; violalion of Federal oi Slate antitrust
statutes or torhmission of embeufemenl, (heft, forgery, bribery, (alsincilion or destruction ol
records, mak'mg false statements. or Vece'iving stolen pioperty;

11.3.' ere not presently indicted for otheiWise criminally or civilly charged by o governmental entity
(Federal. Slate-or local) wtiH commission of anyof (he oNenses enumerated in paragraph (l)(b)
of this certificBlion; and

It.H. have not within a ihree«year period preceding this app&celiorVproposel had one or more public-
irdnseciions (Federal. State or locol) terminated for ceuso or.dalauh. .

12. Where the prospectivo primary participdnt is unable to certify to ony of the statements in this
ceriification, such piospeciive paitlcipani shall eiiech on explanation to this proposol (contract).

LOWER TIER COVERED TfVVNSACTlONS .

13. By signing end submitting this lower tier proposal (contract), the 'prospecl'tve tower tier participant, as
.  dermad in es CFR Part 76. certifies to (he best of its knowledge and beUel that it end (Is principals:

•  13.1. are.not presently debarred, suspended, proposed lor-dobarmenl. declared ineligiblo. or'
V. voluntority excluded from participation in this transaction by any .federal department or agency.
13.2. where the prospective lower tier participant Is unablo locedily to any of (ho above, such ^

prospective participant shall attach on explanation to this proposal (contract).

14. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submittirrg t)us proj>osal (contract) thai it wiD'
include this clause onlillod 'Certification Regardir^g Oebarmeni, Suspension, Ineligibility. end
Voluntary Exclusion • Lowor Tier Covered Transactions,' wilho.ul modificeiiort In oil lower tier covered
transactions and in all solicitations fo.r lower tier covered transactions.

Vendor Name:

W-

S/l$/2020. 1  (mjL /I.
Oalo Nutuu: LCign ourgess

■>, Title: Vice Presidepi, Office of Research Opereiions

Etfvtli F - Cetlfk^tlon R«9«relno Oet>»menl. Smpentlon vendor (nTUtli
ATKf Oiher Msitsre

cut^oo/iiouj RigeloiJ



DocuSign Envelope ID: C1E3457B-8A67-432C-A985-CFDFCOFC0DB7

DocuSign Envelope ID; Eei614D6-S766-4332-62CE*36A5A1A99A3E

OocuSIgn Envelopo ID: 77F7E381-OF$e-4ClC-A943-R)E9S6E8S636

OocuSgn Em«lope IO;'SA9O7Flft-FBEe4SF4-a475-l4909C0O2A88

OecuSiyi e»«tope to: OB2toiAMreF<43C6>8A8a4At£7F750ite

New Hempshire Doportmont of Hoelth and Human' Sorvlcos
-EahlbllE

.  . CEftTlFlCATION REGARDING LOBBYING

TH'e Vendor tdenlilicd in Section 1.3 oMhe General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Section 319 of Public Lew lOt-121. Government wide Guidance for New Restrictions on.Lobbying, end .
3! U.S.C. 1352, and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 1.11
and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Ce/tlflcaiion:

us DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS
US OEPARTMENTOF EOUCATION - CONTRACTORS
US pePARTMENT OP AGRICULTURE CONTRACTORS

Programs (indicate epplicebie.progrem covered): •*
•Temporary Assistance lo'Ne^y Fomiiies under Title tV'A
•Child Support Enlofcement Progrem under Title IV-0
•Sociel Services Bloch Grant Progrem under Title )tX
•Mediceid Program under Titte.XlX
^Community Services Block GrenI under Title vr
'Child Ca/e Developmcnl Block Granl under -Titte IV • >

i-

The understgned certifies, to.the best of his or her knowledge end belief, thai; ';

1. No Pcdcrol appropriated funds have been paid or wtil be paid by or on behalf of the undersigned, to
any person for influencing or stlemptirNg to influence en ofTicer'or employee of any egency. a Member
of Congress, on office.r or employee of Congress, or en employee of o Mernber o.f Congress in
connection v^th the awarding of ony.Fodoral contract, continuation, renewal. omcndmeni;.Of
rnodificatlon of ony Federol contract, greni, loan, or cooperative agreement (end by specinc mention
sub-grantee or sub<onlraclor).

2. If any funds other then Fcderpl appropriated tunds have been paid or sviii be paid to eny'person for .,
Influencing or attempting to influence an officer or eniployee of any agenc/, s Member of Congress.

■ Oh officer or employee of Congress.' or an employee ot a Member of Congress in connection with this
F^eral contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention sub-granlec or sub-,
contractor), the undersigned shell compleie and submit Standard Form LLL. (Disclosure Form to
Report Lobbing, in accordance with its instructions, otlached arid identified as Standard Exhibit £-1.)

1' The undersigned shetl.rcquire that the language of ii^is certification bo included. In the award
document for sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, end contracts under grants..
loans, and cooperalive egreamenis) and that cll sub-recipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

This certificolion is a material represenlation ol fad upon ̂ ich reliance was placed when this transaction
was made 6; entered into. Submission ol ihis.ccrtiDcollon is a.prerequlslte for making or entering into this
transaction Imposed by Seciloft 13$2. Title'31. U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required
certificetion chau be subject to a civi) penally of nolless than $10,000 end not more than $100,000 for
each such failure. ^

V  Vendor Nome:

I  C.S/15/2020

Dale . - " Name:,Le^Burgess
,  . Taie: Vico President. Olficeol Research Oporotions

£*Nyi 6 - Cenitoiion ftepsrtivni LoaBr*r>o verxior inftUb
s/av20?o
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Now Hampshiro beportmonl of Hoallh and Human Services
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CERTIFICATION OP COMPUANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS PERTAINING TO

FEDERAL NONOISCRIMINATION. EQUAL TREATMENT OP FAITH^ASEO ORGANIZATIONS ANO
WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTIONS

The Vendor ideniifiod in Scclion 1.3 of ii^ Generol Provitiona egttti by signature of the Ccniiaclor'fi
representative os Identified in Sections i.it and 1.12 of ihcOenerol Provisions. ioexecute.(hefotlowir>g
cenificaiton: • _ . .

Vendor will comply, end wiU'r^quire any aubgrenlees or .subcontractors ,lo co'mpty. with any appiicable
feders! nondiscrlmlnation requirements, which may include:

• the Omnibus Crime Control end Sale Streets Aci of T966 (42 U.S.C. Seciion.3789d] which prohibits
recipioAta oi federal funding under thli statute from discriminaiing. o<iher In employment practices or in
Ihe delivery of services or benefils. on the basis ol race, color, religion, naiiooa) origin, end sex. The Act-
requires certain recipients to produce en Equal EmploymenI Opportunity Plan:

• the JuvanBo Justice Delinquency Prevention Act of 2002 (42 U.S.C. Section S672(b)) which odopls-by
refetorKo. Iho civil'rights obligations of Iho Safe Streeis Act. Recipients of federal funding under (his
atalute ere prohbiied from discriminating, either In employnficnl practices or In the delivary ol aervices or
benefits; on the basis of race, color, religion, notional origin, and sex. The Act includes'Equal-
EmploymenVOpportunity Plan requirements:

• (he Civil Rights Act of 19$4 (42 U.S.C. Section 2000d. which prohibits recipients of federal financial '
assistarKO from discriminaiing on the basis of race, color, or national origin in any program or octivily);

• lha RehabUiialion Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. Section 794). which prohibits recipients ol Federal financiai
assislar^ from dlscnmln8lir>g on the basil ol disability, in regard Jo employment and the deliveiy of
ecrvicos or benefils. M any program or aciMiy;

• the Arhericans with Oisebililies Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Secl'ions 12131-34), which prohibits'
discrlmlnat'ion and ensures equal opportunity for persons with disabilities In employmeni.'State orxt local
govcrnmehi services. )>ublic accommodations, commercial feciliiies, and transportation;

• the Educallon'Amendmenls of 1972 (20 U.S.C. Sections I66l. 1663. 1665-66). which prohtblis
discrimination on the basis ol sex in federally ossisled education programs;

• Ihe Age Oiscrimlnal'ion Aclol 1975 (42 U.S.C. Sections $106-07). which prohibits discrimination or) the
basis of age in programs or eciKntles rece'iving Federal nrtancial'assistance. ll-doos r>ol include
cmptoymenl discriminoiion; • ,

-.28 C.F.R. pt. 31 (U.S. Department ol Justice Regutallons -.OJJOP Grant Programs); 26 C.F.R. pi. 42 .
(U.S. Oepartmont of Justice Reguialions - N^discrimineiion; Equal Erriploymenl Opportunlly: Policies
and Procedures): Executive Qrde'r No. 13279 (oqual protection of Iho laws for faith-based and community
organizalions}; Executive Order No. 13559. which provide funddmentDl.princlptes end poIicy-moHlhg
crilotla for partnerships with foilh-based and neighborhood organizalions;

• 26 C.F.R. pt. 38 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Equal Treatment for Faith-Based
Organizations); end Whisileblower proteclions 41 U.S.C. §4712 and The National Defense Authorization
Act (NDAA)/or Fiscal Year 2013(Pub.'L. 112-239. enacted January 2. 20.13) Ihe Pilot Program for
Enhancement of Conirecl Employee Whisileblower Protections, which protects employees against
reprisal for certain whistle blowing activities in conneclion with federal grants and cohtrocls.

The certificolo cet out below is a material representation of fact upon which'relianco Is piacod when the
agency awards (ho grant. Fatso cortincalion or violation of the certiUcation shall be grounds for
suspension of payments, suspension or termination pf grants, or government wide suspension or
dcbermcni.

EiNUUC
Ventfof IaIiIaS)

«Oi pVUM/« w MarA'lOtiTM«V C « r

Mm. • ^ S/lS/2020.
JMWM Pj{k»oI3 -



DocuSign Envelope ID; C1E3457B-8A67-432C-A985-CFDFC0FC0DB7

DocuSign Envelope ID; E8161406-5765-4332-B2CE-36A5A1A99A3E

OocuSlgn Envelope ID; 77F7E361-OF5e-4ClC*A943-FOE856 E85«36

OocuSIgn Envelope ID; SAM7F19'FBEM5r4-D475-l4909C002A88 .

OeciiSlen Envelepe ID: De2lblAM7BF-43Ce'6AS8-0Al£7F75Oilfi

Now Hampshlro Dopartmenl of HeaUh and Human Services
•  ̂ ExhlbllG-

In ihe cveni a Federal or Stale court oi Fedcfol or Stoie.odminislralive agency makes e finding ol
discrimination ofter a due process hearing on iho grounds ol race, color. religior\, nalional origin, or sex
egainsl a rccipieni of funds, the recipient will lorward a copy of the finding to Ihe Office for Civil Righls, lo
Ihe eppltcaWe contracting agency or division within the Oepartmenl of Heollh and Humpn Services, end
to the OepartmonI of f^e8llh and Human Services Office of the Ombudsman.

■n>o Vendor identir»«d In Soct«on 1.3 ol the General Provisions oo'oes by signature ol tho Conlraclor's
represenlatlvt os identified in Sections 1.11 end 1.12 oUhe Gencrol Provisions.'to eKOCulo the following
certificaijon:

1. 0y signing end cubmiftlng this pfoposel (contract) the Vdndb/ ogrocs to comply wlih the provisions
indicetcd obove.

Vendor Name;

5/15/2020 I (I.
rwlfriiiijirtti

Oato ' Hwn«. Lcjgn burgess
Title; Vice President. Office of Research Opdrolions

EiNbiic \nb
,  « Vendo' Iniilsb

C»t*oIw w C»f^w*« I wirwwa Nn*Vo » r rte < Wrtf KA7<riel6\ t T« • iwi e" <vi Os*nIdw
S/IS/2020
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. CERTIRCATION REQAROINQ ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACCO Sf^^OKE

Public Low 103'227, Pert C ■ Environmerilai Tobacco Smoke, also known as ihe Pro-ChUdren Acc of ifiW
(Ad), requires (hat smoking nol be permilled in any portion of any indoor locilily owned or leased or
cooirflct^ for by an ontiiy end used routinely or regularly for ihe-provislon of healih. day cere, education. ■
or library services lo children under the age oi 16, if ihe services are funded by Federal programs either
directly or through Stale or local opvernments. by Federal grant, contraci. loan, or loan {guarantee.
law does nol apply to children's sorvicos provided In private residences, lociliiics funded solely by
Medicare or Mcdfcoid fonds. ond portions of facilities used (or Inpalionl drug or elconol ireeimeni; Feiiura
to comply with the provisions of the low moy result In the imposition of o C'vil monetary penalty ol up to
$1000 per day and/or the Imposition of an Ddmlnlstraiivo compliar>c6 order on the responsible entity.

The Vendor (deniiried in Section 1.3 of Ihe General Provisions agrees, by signature of Ihe Conlrpcior'o
representative as Idenlined in Section l.li end'i.lZ of the General Provisions, to execute the followihg
ceriificelion; . , .

t. 6y lign'tng artd submitting this contract, the Vendor agrees to make reasonable etforts to comply with
ell applicable provls'ions ol PubUc Low 103-227. Part C, known es the ProChildren Acl of 1994.

■ Vendor Namo:. ^

5/1S/20J0 ■ ■ I ^
»4Soj»«»>W«N_ I ■III — . I .. —Date -> Name: LCign burgess

;  Ttite: Vrtce Prasidenl. Office of Research Operolions

Etrtoli M - CdlifiMUoft Rtoa/fllr^ • Vci^or inhiali'
Envtipnmeniit Tobacco Smoks

cuo»o«t/i«oii) P»j# 1 ©It i •
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New Hempstitro Ocpartmont of Hoehh end Human Services -

ExhIbIM

HEALTH INSURANCE PORTABILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY ACT
BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT

The Conuacior identified in Section- 1.3'of (he General Provisions of the Agreemer>l agrees to
comply with (he Health-Insurance Portability and Accountability Act. Public Law 104-191 and-
wlih the Siendards for Privacy and Security of (ndiyidually idGntifiable Health Information. 45
CFP Paris 160 ahd-164 applicable to business associates. As defined'herein.'Business
Associate' sl>3li mean the Contractor artd subcontractors and agents of the Contractor that

'  receive, use or have access to protected health in(o'rmaiior> under this Agreement end 'Covered
.Eniity' shall mean the State of Now Hempstvre. Department of Health ond;Human Services.

(1| Definitions.

a. 'Breach' shall have the same meaning as (he term 'Breach' In section 164.402 of Titie ^S;
Code of Federal Regulalions. ' , '•

b." 'Business Associate' has the meaning given such term in section 160.103 of Title 45. Code
of Federal Regulalions. .

c. ' 'Covered Entity' has .the meaning given su^ term in section 160.103 of Title 45.
' Code of Federal Regulalions. - . ^

;  . d. 'Designated Record Set'shall have the same meaning as the term 'desiprtated record set*
In 45 CFR Section 164.501. ;

e. 'Data AooreQation' shall have the same meaning as the term 'data aggregation' in 45 CFR
Section 164.501. • .

f. 'Health Care Ooeralions' shall have (he same meaning as the term 'health care operations*
in 45 CFR Section 164.501. ; ^ ,

Q. 'HlTgCH AcC means the Health information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health
Act.'TilleXlli, Subtitle 0. Part 1 & 2 ol the American Recovery and Reinvesimeni Act of •
2009. ^. ■

h. 'HIPAA' means the Health Insurance Portability and Accounlability Act of 1996, Public Law
104-191 and the Standards for Privacy and Security .of Individually Identifiable Health

•  Information, 45 CFR Parts 160, 162 and 1M and amendments thereto.

i. 'Individual' shall have the same meaning as the term 'individual' in 45 CFR Seclion 160.103
and shall include a person who qualifies as a personal representaiivo in accordance with 45
CFR Seclion 164.5pi(g). <

i- 'Privacy Rule' shall mean the Standards lor Privacy of Individually Identifiable Heallh
Informaiion at 45 CFR Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the United Slates •
Department of Health end Human Services.

K. 'Protected Heallh Information' shall have the same meaning as the term 'protected hdallh
informaiion'in 45 CFR Seclionl60.103, limited to the informaiion created or received by ' t.
Business Associate from or on behalf of Covered Entity.

5/2014* EtNMM .• ConUidat IfAlali i
Ke«ii7i PoniUltiy Aci
evjifteii A»od«# Aj|fe«m8fti 5/1S/2070
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EKhlbIt I

(. -Rfipiiirpd bvLaw" Shall have the same meaning as the term •required by lav/" in 45 CFR
Section 164.103.

m. 'Secreiarv' shall mearvthe Secretary.of ihe Oepartmeni of Hcallh and Human Services or
hls/herdestgnee.

n  \<;pcurirv Rule' shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection Of Electronic Protected
■ " Health Information at 45 CFR Part 164. SuDpart C. and amendment# thereio.

Q  'Unsecured Protected Health Informetion' means protected health informialion that Is not
secured by a technology standard thai render? prolecled health Information unusable,
unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorised individuals and is developed or endorsed by
a standards deveiopirSg organization that Is accredited by the American National Standards
Institute.

Other Definitions - All le'rms not olherwise defirted herein shall have the meahing
'  established under 45 C.F.R. Parts ,160.162 and 164. as amended from lime lo time; and the

HITECH, - - ' ;
Act. • i-

(2) Business Associate Use and Disclosufe of Protected Health Information.

8  ■ 8usinBssAssoci8i€ shallnotuse. disclose, maintain or transmit Prolected Health
Information (PHI) except as reasonably necessary lo provide the services outlined under'

V  Exhibit A of the Agreement.. Further. Business Associate, including but not limited to all,
its directors, officers, employees and.agents, shall not use. disclose, rnaintain or transmit
PHI ir^ any manner that would constiluie a violation of Ihe Privacy and Security Role. •

b. Business Associate may use or disclose PHI:
^ . I. • Por the proper management and administration of the Business Associate; ;

II. • • As required by law. pursuant to theiterms set forth In paragraph d. t^low; or
III. .For data aggregation purposes for the health care operations of Covered

■  Enlity.

c. To the extent Business Associate is permiited under the Agreement lo disclose PHI to a
third party. Business Associate must obtain, prior lo making any such disclosure, (i)
reasonable aSsurancos from the third party that such PHl will be held confidentially and

-  used or further disclosed only as required by law or for the purpose for which it was
'  disclosed to the third party; ahd (ii) an agreement from such third party lo notify Business;

Associate, in a.ccordance with the HlPAA Privacy, Security, and Breach Notification
Rules of any breaches of the confidentiality of the PHI. lo the extent it has obtained .
knowledge of such breach.

d. The Business Associate shall not, unless such disclosure is reasonably necessary to
provide services under Exhibit A of the Agreement, disqiose any PHI In response-to a
request for disctosure on the basis that it is required by law. without first notifying

• Covered Entlly so that Covered Enlity has an opportunity to object lo.ihe disclosure and
to seek appropriate relief. -U Covered Entity objects to such disclosure, the Business

.  ; ■ ■ •• r" •
ExhWii . C<wi/6Cio.iNi5»b_|J^_

•r HeiRhlftiuiftcePorteWiiyAU
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Exhibit I

Associate shall refrain from disclosing the PHI uritil Covered Entity has exhausted all
remedies. jv

e. If the Covered Entity notifres the Business Associate that Covered Entity has agreed (o
be bour>d by additional restrictions over and above those uses or disclosures or security
safeguards of PHI pursuant lo the Privacy ahd Security Rule, the Business Associate
shall be bound by such^oddillonal restrictions ond shatj not disclose PHI in violation of .
Such addclional.reslrielions and shall abide by any additional security.safeguords.

(3) Obligations and Activities of Business Associate.

a;V The Business Associate shall notify the Covered Entity's Privacy OtTicer iinmedlately
'  after the Business Associate becomes aware of any use ordisclosure of protected

health Information not provided for by (he Agreement Including breaches of unsecured
protected health information and/or any security incident (hat may have an impact on the
protected health information of the Covered Entity.

b. The Business Associate shall immediately perform a risk assessment whbn it becomes
aware of any of the above situations. The risk assessment shall Include, but not be'
limited to: .

0  The nalure and extent of the protected health information involved, including the
types of identifiers and the likelihood of re->denilfication;

. 0 Tlie unauthorited person used the protecied health information or (o whorn the-'
.disclosure ,was-made;

o -Whether the protecied health information was actuaity acquired or viewed'
;  "o The extent to ymich the risk to the protecied health ihiormatlon has been

miligaled. . v '

The Business Associate shall complele the risk assessment wiihin five (5)
business days of-the breach and immediately report the findings of the'risk
assessment in writing to the Covered Entijy. . •

c.- The Business Associate shall comply with all secilons of the Privacy. Security, and
Breach Nolification Rule.

d. Business Associate shall make available all of its.internal policies and procedures, books
6nd records relating to the use and disdosure ol PH) received from, or created or'
received by the Business Associate on behalf of Covered Entity lo the Secretary for
purposes of determining Covered Entity's compliance with HiPAA and the Privacy and
Security Rule. .
,  . • .V, i

e. Business Associate shall require all of Its business associates thai receive, use or have
access-lo PHI ur^der Ihe Agreement, to agree in writing to adhere lo the same

■  reslriciions and condiiions on the use and disclosure,of PHI contained herein, indudlrig
the duly, lo return or destroy the PHI as provided under Section 3 (I). The Covered Entity

.  shall be considered a djrect third party beneficiary of the Contractor's business associate
agreements with Cbntfaclor'.s intended business associates, who will be recelvinQ PHI

3/2014 E*niWil ConVeciDflnlllaJj.^^
HeMlhlmuri/K^PonstilinyAct . V-—
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pursuanlto this Agreement, with rights of enforcement and mdemnificelion from such-
business associates who shall be governed by standard'Paragraph #13 of the standard
contract provisions (P*37) of this Agreement for the purpose of'use and disclosure of
protected health informdtibn.

f. Withir) Tive (5) business days of receipt of a written request from Covered Entity.
Business A.ssociaie shall make available during.normal business hours at its dffices ail'
records, books, egreemenis. policies and procedures relating to the use and disclosure
of PHI to the Covered Entity; for purposes of enabling Covered Entity to deierriilne
Business Associate's compliance with tho terms of the Agreement. '

g.' Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity.
Business Associate shell provide access to PHI in a Designated Record Set to the
Covered Entity, or directed by Covered Entity, to an individual in order to meet Ihe
requirements under 45 CFR Seclion 164.524.

h.: Wthin ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for an
amendment of PHI or a record about an Individual contained in a Designated Record Set.
the Business Associaie shall make-such PHI available to Covered Entity lor amendment -

* ' and incorporate any such .arnendmeni to enable Covered Entity to fulfill its obligations
under 45 CFR Section 164.526.

i. Business Associaie shall document such disclosures ot PHi and information related to'
sucti disclosures as would be required for Covered Entity lo respond (o.a request by en '

•  Individual for an accounting of disclosures of PHI in accordance with 45 CF.R Section

• 164:528. •: ,.

j. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a'written request from Covered Ertllty for a
- request for an accounting of disclosures of PHI,* Business Associate shall make available
. to Covered Entity such informalion as'Covered Entlly may require to fulfill ils obligations
to brovide" an accounting of disclosuf.es with respect to PHI.in accordance with 45 CFR
Section 166.520! ;.

k. In the event any individual requests access to. amendmertt of. or accouniing of PHI'
directly from (he Business Associate, the Business Associaie shall within five (5)
business days forward such request to Covered Entity. Covered Emily shall.have the
responsibility of responding to forwarded requests. However, if forwarding the ■
individuars request to Covered Entity would cause Covered Entity or the Business'

0  Associate to violate HIPAA and the Privacy and Security Rule, the Business Associate
shall Instead respond'lo the individuars request as required by such law and notify
Covered Entity of such response as soon as praclicable.

I. ■ Within ten (10) business days of termination of the Agreement, for eny reason, the
Business Associate shall return or destroy, as specified by Covered Eniity. 'all PHI
received from, or created or received by the Business-Associate in conneciion with the
Agrccmeni. ond shall not retain any copies or back-up tapes of such PHI. If'relurn or
•destruction Is not feasible, or the disposition ol the PHI has been dlherwise agreed to in
the Agreement, Business Associate shall conlinue. to extend the protections of the
Agreemenl. to such PHI end (imH further uses and disclosures ol such PHI lo those
purposes that make the return or destruction Infeasible. for so long as Business

EiMbTtl , ConliBCtW IrtWiU _
Hiaivtintuiixe PonibUiy Afi
eirtineivA»odiAioAj«e#m»fti S/lS/2020
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Exhiblil

Associate malniains such PHI. If povered Entity, In its sole discreiion. requires thai the
Business Associate destroy any or all PHI, the Business Associate shall certify to
Covered Entity that the Phi has been destroyed. '

..(4) , OblloMions of Covered Entity

.3. Covered Entity shaO notify Business Associate of any changes or lirhitaiton(s) in'lts
Noiice. of Privacy Practices provided to individuals in accordance with 46 CFR Section
16'4.S'20. to the eideni thai such change or limitation may affect Business Associate's
use or disclosure of PHI.

b. Covered Entity sholl promptly notify Business Assodeie of any changos in. or revocelion
of-permissioh provided to Covered Emily by individuals whose PHI may be used or
disclosed by Business Associate under this Agreemenl. pursuant to 45 CFR Section

• 164.506 or 45CFR Sectlon,l64'508. ■

c. Covered entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any restrictions on the use or
disclosure of PHI (hat Covered Entity has agreed io in accordarSce with 45 CFR 164.522,

.  to the extent that such restriction may affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of

..PHI" ' ■ ■ ' • ■ ' . .

(6) - Termination for Cause

■  in addition lo.Paragraph 10 of the standard terms and condilions (P-37) of this .
Agreement the Covered Entity may immediately terminate the Agreement upbn Covered

. Entity's knowtedge of a breach by Budness Associate of the Business Associate
'Agreement set forth herein as Exhibit"}. The Covered Entity may either immediatety
terrhinate the Agreement or provide.an opportunity for Business Associate to cure the
alleged breach within a timeframe specified by Covered Entity. If Covered Entiiy

;• determines that neither termination nor cure is feasible. Covered Entity shall report the '
violation to the iSecretary. '

(6) ■ Mtscellaneous' . 'i ' • .•

a. • Definitions and Reoutatorv References; All ierms used, but not olheAvise defined herein,
shall havelhe same meaning as those terrins in the Privacy .and Security Rule, amended
from time to lime. A reference in (he Agreement, as amended to include this Exhibii I, to

■  a Secilon In the Privacy and Security Rule means the Section as in effect or as
»  amended.

b. Amendment; Covered Entity and Business Associat.e agree to lake suct> action as Is
necessary to amend the Agreement, from lime to tirrie as Is necessary for .Covered
Entil/lo comply with the changes In the requirernents of HIPAA. the Privacy and
Security Rule, and applicable federal and Slate law.'

c.. ■ Data Owrtershio. The Business Associate acknowledges that it has no ownership rights
with respect to the PHI.provided by or created on behalf of Covered Entity.

d. Interpretation. The parties agree that any ambiguiiy in (he Agreement shall he resolved
to permit Covered Entity to comply with HIPAA. the Privacy and Security Rule.

arwu EevDiii Corivao* iftiiim 1
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T. • ' Enhlbli I

Seotegfliion. If-eny term or condilion of this ExtiibU I or the epplication.thcrwf to any
pef8on(s) or drcumstance is held invalid, such Invelidily chal) noVeffed other terms or
conditions vrfiich can be given effect vriihout the invalid term or condition'; to this end the
terms and condiiibns of this Exhibit I ere declared severeble. ,

Sufvlvftl. Provitlona in ihii Exhibit I regarding iho.ute and dlsctoauro of PHI. rtlurn or
doatfuftion of PHI. extensions of the protections of the Agreement in ceclion (3) I. the.
defcnae end Ihdemniricafion provisions of secHon <3) e end Paragraph 13 of the
alnndard terms end conditions (P-37). sho» survive ihc.termination of the Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereio heve duly executed this Exhlbrt I.

Oeponrnent bt Health ond Human Services Mary Hitchcock Memprlat Hospital
The State • Nome of the Contractor

Sighetdfk'of Authorized Represenloiive Signature oi Authorized Representative-

Leigh Burgess

Name oi Authorized RepreseRepresentative " . Nitme of Authorized Representolive.

Vice President, Office of Rcsoorch Operations

Title of Authorized Represenlalrvo Title of Ai^lhorized Representative
i/lS/2020

Date ■ Dale

V20ir ExhiWI
KetMi PwiiWIry Act
BulVvit Al(Kliu
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING THE FEOERiM FUNDING ACCOUNTABILfTr AND TRANSPARENCY
ACT (FFATAI COMPUANCE

The Federal Funding Aceounlebtlily end Transparency Ad (FFATA) requires prime swarde^s o! indivicfue}
Federal grants equal to or greater than $25,000 end awarded on or efier Oclober 1.2010, (o report on
daia related toexocuUve oompensation end associated fust-tier sub-grants or $25,000 or more.'If the
initial award is below $25,000 but subsequeni grant nvidirications result in e total award equal to or over
$25,000. the award is eubjoct to the FFATA ropofling requiren)enl8. as of the date of the award.
In accordance wtth 2 CFR Pert 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive.CompensoUon ihlormalion), the
Oepartmeni of Hoallh and Human Services (OHHS) must report Ihe /ollowing information for any
subaward or contract award aubjcci to Iho FFATA reporting rdquiremenii:
1: Nemo of entity
2. Amouni of award

3. Funding agency.
4. NAICS code for contracts/CFDA program number for grants
5. Program source
6. Award title descriptive of the purpose of the funding eciioh
7. Locetlon of (he entity
6. Principle place of paiformonce
9. Unique idantircer of ihoeniiiy(OUNSP)
to. Total compensation'and,names of the top five exocuUvos if:

10.1. More than B0% of annual gross revenues'ero from the Federal gbvemmeni, end those
' revenues are greater Ihan $25M annually and

■-10.2. Compensetiori Information Is not already available through reporting to the SEC.

Prtme grant recipients rnusl submit Ff^ATA roqulrcd data by the end of the month, plus 30 days. In which •
the award or eward ame'ndmcAi Is made.
The Coni/Qcior identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions egrees'to comply with the provisions of
The FederaJ Funding Ac^uniat>llily and Transparency Act, Public Low 109-262 and Publtc Low 1 iP-252.
arid 2 CFR Pert 170 (Reporting Subaward end Execulive Compensalion lnformblion), and further agrees
to have the Cpniracior's rcpfosentalive, asldenliried In Sections l.ll and i.i2 of iho General Provisions
execute the f^lowing Certirication:
The below named Contractor agree; to provide needed infomnation as outlined above to the NH
Department of Health and Human Services and lo comply wllh all applicable provisions of the Federal
Financiat Accouniebiiiiy and Transparericy Act.

•' Cbnlractor Namo: .

S/iS/2020

Date y hornaTtfeigrt ourgess
Tlile: VicePresident,OfficbofResearchOperaiions

E^tbS J - ConiDciUert ftegsrOAg the FoMxl Fundtng Cotl'tdor Inftlob
AccovnltbSlirA'iO Trerupmncy Ad (FFATA) C«mpS»rte« S/15/2020
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FORMA

As (he Coni'ractor idpntified in Section 1.3 ol the Genera) Provisions, I ccrtlty (hat iho responses to ihe
below listed questions aro true ortd accu'oie. • '

1. The PUNS number lof vQur entiiv Is: 06-991-0297 • ,

2. In your business or organiaotion's preceding completed ritcal year, did your business or organlEoiion
receive (1) 60 perceni or more ol your onnuai gross revenue in U.S. federal conlreels. subcontracts,
loans, groms. sub-grants, and/or coop.eraiive agreements; and (2) S25.000,000 or more in annual
gross revenues from U.S. (edcral cortirecis, subconiracis, loans, grants, subgrenis. ond/or
cooperative agreements?

:N0 •  -YES

Ifihe answer to W above Is NO. slop fiere, ••

• If Ihe answer to *(2 above Is YES. please answer i7>e following:

3. Does the public have access to information oboul the compensation of the executives in your
business or organlzolion inrough periodic reports filad under section 13(a) or 1&(cl)ol the Securities .'
Exchang'e Act of 19M (15 U.S.C.78m(8), 7ae<d)) or section 6104 of Ihe Internal Revenue Code of
1006?

NO YES

If (he answer to 03 above is YES. slop here 'v

If the priswer to 03 above is NO. please answer the (ollovnng:

4, The noffves and compensation of ipe five most highly compcnsaled oHiccfs In your business or
otganicolion ere as follows: ,

Narne:;

Name:

Name:

Nome:

Name;'

Amount:

Amount:

Amoonl:

Arhouni:

Amount:

CUO*<VllP7l>

EcMbI J - C«nir4«llonR4Q»>tf1nelhe Fedor«l Funding .
ACCOuftltb'Oity Arid Titrtipir^ncy Ad (f FATA) CcmptitAU

.ContmclM tn'Aiah.

S/IS/2020
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A. Oefinitionj '

The following (crnis may be redeclcd and hove tlit described oienniiig in ihis docunicni:

I. . "Breach" means the loss of conirol, coinpronnse, unauthorized disclosure,
unaulhorized ncquisirion, unouihorizcd oeccss, or nny similar lenn referring co.
situations where persons other than authorized users and for on other ihan ouiltorizcd
purpose have access or potential actess ro personally ideniinable informaiion.
whelhcr physical or electronic. With regard to Proiccted Health Inrormolion.
"Breach" shall have the same meaning ns the term "Breach" In section I64.<402 of
Title 45, Code of Federal Regulations.

- 2. "Computer. Securily Incident" shall have ihc some meaning "Computer Sccurlly ■
Incident" in section, two (2) of NIST Publication 800-61, Computer Security Incident
Handling Guide, Naiibnnl InstlTuic of Standards and Technology, U.S. Deportment
oP.Contntercc.

3. "Confidential Infonnarion.-' "Conndcnlial Data," or "Data" (as defined in E.xhibir K).
means oil confidential inl'orinaiion disclosed by one party to the other such os all
medicnl, health, finQnciol.. public ossisionce benefits and personal infomiaiipn
including without limiialion. Substance Abuse Trcomtcht Records, Cast Records.

• Proiccicd Health Informalioh and Personally Identifiable Informaiion.

Confidential Infomtotion also includes any and all informaiion owned or managed by
.  the Stale of NH - created, received from or on bcholfoP the Department of Health and

• Humnn Sen'ices (OHMS) or accessed in the course of performing contrncied services
• of wtiich collcciion, disclosure, protection, and disposition is governed by state or
federal law or regulation. This information includes, but is not limited to Protected
Health htformniion (PHI). Personal Information (PI), Personal financial Information
(PFJ), federal Ta.v Information (fTI), Social Sccuiiiy Numbers (SSN), Pny'mcni Curd
Industry (PC.I), and or other sensitive and confidcntin! InfonVtarion. "

4. "End User" means any person or entity (e.g., cpnirocior's employee, business
associate, subcontractor, other downstream user, etc.)"that receives DH.HS data or
derivative data in ftccordnncc with the Icrms of this Cot^trtict.

5. "HIPAA" means ihc Henlth Insurance Portability and Accountnb'iliiy Act of 1996 and
the rcgularions promulgnlcri thereunder.

♦  *

6. "Incident" means an flcfthal poicniially violares a secufity policy, which includes
successful attempis) to gaip unouihorizcd access to a system or its data, unwonted
disruption or denial ofservice, the unauthorized use of a system for the processing or

OciobC'. 201B E#wMK coftifoawwuii>_Gi^
OHHSlnlomilion ■

Sewi1tyR«aJtemcrJj. S/15/'2020
Ptgolelft .• .
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4-:

siorogcofd&tD; and cliangej ib sysieni hardware, firmware, or software
charncicristics without the owner's knowledge, instruction, or consent. Incidents
incliKic the toss of data ihrougli-then or device misplocemenl.loss or mis'placemeiti of

,  . hardcopy documents, and misrbuiing of physical or electronic documents or moil.

7. • "Open Wireless Network" means nnynciwork or scgn^cm of a network that is
not designated by ihe Siote.of New Hampshire's Oepartmcm of Information

. . Tcchnolog)'or delegate as Q protected network (designed, tested, and approved,
by means of the State, to transmit) wiH be considered an open network and not
adcqtiaicly secure for the irnnsinission of unencrypted PI, ITI, PHI or
conndenilal DHHS data.

8. ""Personal Information" (or "Pf") means information which con be used to distinguish
■ or trace bn iridividuaPs identity, such as their n&me. social seciirity number, personni •
information as defined in New Hampshire RSA 359-0:19, biomc-tric records, .etc.,

"alone, or.whcn combined wiiholher personal or identifying Informolion which is-
linked or linkable to a specific individual, such as dale and piaccof birth, mother's
maiden name, etc.

... 9. "Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy ofindividually Identifiable
Health Informniion.ni 45 C.f.R- Pans 160 and 164, promulgoled under HIPAA by the

" United Stales Deparimcnl of Health and Human Services. • > ,

10. "Protecied Hcalih Informaiiori" (or "PHI") has (he sontc meaning as provided in the
•  dcrrnilionbr"Protccted Health Information" in iltc HIPAA Privocy Rule at 45C.F.R.

•; 5I60.I03..

i 1. "Security Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic
Protected Health Inforniaiion at 45 C.P.R. Part 164, Subport C, and amendments
thereto.. -

12. "Unsecured Protccrcd Healih'InCorimMion" means Protected Health Information that is

X  liot secured by a technology standard that renders Prptccicd Health InromiBtion
iimisabtc. unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and is developed
or endorsed by-a standards developing organization thai is accredited by the American

'• National Standards Instimic. . •

I. nESrONSlDlUTIESOF.DHHS ANDTMCCONTRaCTOR

,A. Business Use and Disclosure ofConfidenlial Inrcrniaiion.

.  I. The Conirociorniusi not usc; disclose,moinlaio orlronsmit ConfidcnliBrinformDlion '

Oaobei. iOiB EjtWtitlK ■ Cent/iicitK tnBlati
'• , OHHSln>o<rn>uoA

SecurtiyRKjut»emew> ^ 5/15/2070
Pajo 2 oI b Owe "
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•, c.xcept BS required or permitted under ihls Cbntroci or required by low. funhcr,
Contractor, including but not limited io all its directors. ofTiccrs, employees and .
•agents, must not use. disclose. Jitaimam or iransmii PHI in ony manner that would •
constilutc ft violation dr the Privacy and Security Rule.

2. The Conlrnctor n>ust not disclose any Cohndcnliul Information in response to a
.  request for disclosure on the basis thoi it is required by 'lft\v, n> response ip n subpoena,

etc., wilhoul first notifying OHMS SO that DHHS has en opportunity to consent or ,
object to the disclosure.

3. The Contractor agrees ihol DHHS Date or derivative there front disclosed to on End
.User must'only be used pursuant to the terms of tliis Conlfftcl.

ir. METHODS OF SECURE TRANSMISSION OiP DATA

•1. Applicoiioh Encryption. If ConirnC.tor is. ii'oiismiuiiig DHHS Data containing
Confidential bate between applicotions.'thc Contra(;.lpr oUcsis the applicationy have
been evaluated by-on c.vpcit Vnovv'cdgcablc- in cyber security and that said
application's crKO'phon copabiiities ensure secure ironsinission via the internet.

-  2. Contpulcr Disks nnd Portable'Storage Devices. Comracior may not use computer disks or,
portable storage devices, such as a liiumb drive, as o-mcthod of transmiiiing DHHS Data.

3. Enco'p'®^' Entail. Contractor may only employ cmnil to transmit Conndcirtlol Data if
email is encrypted nnd being sent to and being rcccivccfby email addresses of persons
authorized to receive such inforntaiion.

i

4. Encr)'pic(l.Web Site. If Contractor is cmpioying the Web to transmit Confidential
Data, the scctire socket layers (SSL) must be used and the \vcb site must be secure.
SSL encrypts data transmitted via a Web site.

5. File Hosting.Services, also known as File Sharing Sites. Comracior nVoy not use file
hosting services, such as Dropbox or Google Cloud Stordgc, to transmit Confidential
Dam. . \

-V •

6. Ground .Mail Service. Contractor may only transmit Confidential Data via ccnificd
ground mail within the continental U.S. and when sent to a named individual.

7. Laptops nnd PDA. If Contractor is cmpioying portable devices to transmit
Confideniiat Dam said devices must be encrypted and password-protected.

8. Open Wireless Networks. Conirncior may itoi transmit Confidential Dai.a via an open
wireless network. End User niusi employ a virtual private network (VPN) when

. remotely transniilling via on open wireless network. •

9. Rcmo.l'c User Communicolion. If Contractor is cmpioying remote communication to

OttODe'.2aia . fxniNiK • Cofltr»tlOflnia»H_Gi^
• OHHSIrtlormiUon

S<owlirR«iutiem<rtj ' 5/IS/2070
P»g63©U Oeio^
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access or transmit Conndeniiol Oaia. a secure method of rmnsmission or remote
access, which compliea with the terms ond conditions of Exhibit X, must be used.

.10. SSH File Trfliisler Protocol (SFTP). also khoivn ns Secure File Tmnsfcr Proiocol." If
Contractor is employing fin SFTP 10 ironsmil Conndcntlal Data. End User will

■ structure ilic Folder and ficccss privileges to prevcni inappropriate disclosure of
infornioripn. SFTP folders and sub-foldcrs used for tronsmiiiing Conridcniiel Ofltn'will
be coded for 24.hour auto-dcletion cycle (i.e. Confidcniial.Oatft will be deleted every 24
hours). . "

II. Wireless Devices. If Contractor is rrflnsmitiing.Conndcnticl Data via wireless devices, oil
data must be enerypicd to prevent inappropriate disclosure of infofrnfitlon.

■  in. RETENTION and DJSPOSITION OP IDENTIFIABLE RECORDS

The Contractor will only retain DHHS Ooia and any derivative of the data for the duration of-
this Coniroci. After such time, tht-Cpniractor will have thirty ()0) days (0 destroy thc dolo
pnd flnydcfivniive.in wJiarcver form it may e.xisi. unless, otherwise required bylowor/ifit is
infcosibtc to return or destroy DHHS Oalft, protections arc cxi'cndcd to such information, in

,  occordancc with the tcniiinailon provisions In this Section. To this cnd,;thc parties must:

A. Retenlion

1. The Contractor agrees it will not Store, transfer or process data collected in
• : cortnccilon with the services rendered under this Coniroci outside of the United

Stoics. This physicol loctulon rcquircmctli shall niso apply in the Jmplcmeniaiion of
\  cloud compuling, cloud service or cloud storage capabilities, ond includes backup

doto and Disaster Recovery lociiions.

2. The Contractor agrees to ensure proper security monitoring copabililics nrc in place
•' to detect poleniinl security events that can impact State of NH systems ond/or

Deportment confidential inlormoiion for contractor provided systems accessed or
utilised for purposes of carrying out this conlrnct.

3. The Contraciof agrecs.to provide security awareness and education for its End Users
•  in supporrof protecting DHHS Conndcntial informnlion.

4. The Coniractof agrecs-to rct.nin all electronic and hard copies of Confidcniinl Doiti ■
in a secure location and idcmiOcd in section IV. A.2

;5. The Conifticior agrees Confidcmial Oat.n stored in a Cloud mtisi be in.a
fcdRAMP/MITECl'I coniplionl toUition and comply wiiholl applicable sifituics and
regulations regarding the privacy ond security. A!) servers and devices must have
currcnily-supponcd nntl hardened operating systems, oun ent, updated, nnd
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moinioined arili-mahvarc (e.g. ohii-viral, aniMiacker, onli«spaii), anii'SpiAvsrc)
oiilities. Tiie cnvironmem, os 8 whole, m»i$t hove aggrejsive intrujion-dcteciion nnd
firewall pfoieciion.

6. The (^ontracior pgfccs 10 ond CMjiircs iiscomplcic coopcrolion wiih Ihc Srolc's
OiicT Informoiion Offirtr in rhc deicctlon of ony sccoriiy vulncrobilily of ilx
hosting iorrasiaiciure.

B. Disposition f

irihc'Coniroclor mnintains any Confidcnlial Informauon on iissystems (or ii's sub-'
■ contractor systems) and »i has not done so previously, the Contractor wilt implement

•  • policies and procedures to ensure that any storage media on which such dnta nuybc
recorded will be rendered unreadable and that the dotn will bc'iin-rccovernblc when
ihe storage media Is'disposcd of. Upon request. Hie Conirncior will provide the '

•  Department with copies of these policies and with written dOcunScnloiion •
demonstrating compliance with the policies. .The written documentation will include .
oil details necessary to dcmonsimte data contained in the storage.ntedia has been
rendered onreodable and un-recoverable. Where-applicftble, regulatory and
professional standards for retention requirements may be jointly evaluated by the • ■

i .'■ Stmc nnd Conirncior prior to destruction. •*

1. Unless other\vise specified, within iliirty (30) days of the icnninaiibnpf this ^
'. Conrroct. Contractor agrees to destroy all hard copies of Confidential Doi« using a/ ....

secure method such OS Shredding.- • • ^ . i
2. Unless otherwise specified, >viihin thirty (30) days of the termination of this

. Conlraet. Contractor agrees to completely destroy all electronic Confidcntjal Data
by means of data crosttrc, also known ns secure dam wiping.

IV. PROCEDURES FOR SECURirv
fx

A. Conirnctof agrees to safeguard titc DHHS Data received under this Conlracl, nnd any
derivative dam or files, o.s follows:

■  I-. The.Conlrnclor will maintain proper security controls lb protect Department
c.oiindcntial iiiformniion collected, processed, managed, and/or stored in the delivery
of contracted services:,

2. The Contfftclor will maintain policies and procc-dures.io protect Department
confidential information throughout the inrormailon lifecycie, where applicoblc, (fmm
crealion/transfonnaiion, use, storage and secure dcsiitic(ioh) regardless of the media

»!!
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used (0 store ihe dam (i.e.. iflpe, disk, pnper, eic.)-

3. The Conirector will msinioin Appropriate auiheniicaiion and occcss controls lo
contractor sysicms that collect, iransntU, or siore Deponmcni conndeniiai Infonnoiion
^vhcrc npplicoblc.

4. If the Coniracior will be sub-coniraciing anymore runciions of the cn^agcnient
supporting-ihc services for Stale .of New Hampshire, the Coniracior svill ensure'End-
User will moihmin an internal process or processes ih.ti defines specific secttrliy

■ cxpeciaiions, end mo'niioring compliance to security requirements that al n inihiminn

■  ' I. , '\niolch those for the Controctor, including breach notificaiion rcquirentents.

5. ■ The Coniracior will work Aviih the Department to sign and comply wiih ull applicable
^  State of New Hnn^pshire nnd DepsnoKnt sysient access and authorization policies and

procedures, systems access forms; and computer use ngrccmenls as pan of obtaining
and mainiai'ning access to any Department sysicm(s). Agreements will be completed
and signed by the Comractor and any applicable syb-comraciors prior'io^ystcm occcss
bi'liig authorized.

6: If lite Departmcnl determines the Contrncior is a Business Associnie pursuant lo 45
Cf^ft 160.103.4hc Conuacior will cxccuic a HlPA A Business Associate Agreement

- (BAA) with (he Departnienl and is responsible for mointoining compliance with the
Dgrecincnc.

7. The Coniracior will noi store any Stoic of New Hompshire.of Ocpanmeni doia
offshore or outside the boundaries of the United Stales unless prior express written

■ consent is obinihed from the Informaiion Security Office leadership member within
, the Department. ' -v '

V  -• 8. Daia Security Brcoch LiDbiliiy..ln ihc event of any computer security incidciu.
'  incidcni, or breach Contractor sKall make efforts to investigate the causes of the
breath, promptly take measures to prevent fuiurr breach and minimize ariy damage or .
loss resulting from the brcoch. The State shall recover from the Controclor all costs of
response and recovery from the breach, incfuding but not limited to: crcdilmonitoring
services, mailing cQsts and costs associaied with website and iclepf>onc call center
services necessary due 10 (he breach..

9. ContrfltiOf rnusi, comply with nil npplicnble siniuics nitd rcgulnlions regarding ihc •
privacy and security of Conndcuiial Information,, and must in fill other respects
ntftiniain the privacy and security of PI nnd PHI at 0 level and scppcthnl is not less
than Ihc level nnd scope of, HlPA A Privacy and Sccuriiy Rules (45 C.F.R. Ports 160
ond 164) and 42 C.f.R. Port 2 thai govern proicciions for individually identifiable

Oetobt'. 2018 CjtfTWK Cwtioctw Inlilah
OHhS tnioflnanoA

ScCMfIlyR»qiAenKnJj S/lS/2020
• One



OocuSign Envelope ID; C1E3457B-8A67-432C-A985-CFDFC0FC0DB7

DocuSign Envelope 10: E81614D6-S766-4332-52CE-36A5A1A99A3E

DocuSlpn Envek>pe 10; 77F7E36-l-pFSe-4ClC-A943-F0E956E8S636

OocuSi9nEnvelopelb:SA907Fl9-FeEMSF4*B475-14M9C0O2A88 '

OeewSign Envelope (0: OU>01 A»«70F'43C»-eAB8-O<ktE7f 7K)1 le

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

DHHS Security Requirements

'  Exhibil K

hexlih infonnotion nnd as opplicfibic undcrSimc. I&w.

10. Contractor agrees to establish and malniain appropriate adininisirativc. technical, and .
physical saregunrds to protect the conAdcntiality of the Conndeitiiol Data end to
prevent iinouthoriacd use or occcss to it. The soFcguBrds must provide o level ond
scope of security iht^l is.not less than the level and scope of security requirements
established by the Stoic of New Hampshire, Depanmeni of Informoiion Technology.

■  Refer to Vendor Resources/Procurement at hiip$://\v\snv.nh.gov/doit/vendof/indc.x.hint
for ihc'Departmem of Jnrorntailon Technology policies, guideliites, standards, and
procureoicnt infofmaiion relating to vcndprs.

11. Contractor agrees to mointain a documented breach notiricaiion and incident response
process.iThc Cohtractor miisi itotify the OHMS Security Office n»d the Progrnhi
Conl.'tcl vio the email addresses provided in Section VI of rttis Exhibit, immediotely
.upon the Contractor dctcnnining that o breaeh or scciirily incident has occurred and
(hot pHHS conndential Infonnoiion/daio may have been-exposed or compromised.
T his Includes a confidcntioi Information breach, computer security incident, or •
suspected breach witich alTccls or includes any Stare ofNcw Hainpshirc syslcnts (hot
connect to the Stale of New Hampshire network.

12. Contractor must restrict occess to the Confidential Data obtained under this '
Contract to only those auihorl'-ccd End Users who need such DHHS Data lo perforn)
their ofTicialdutics in connection with purposes idcniiried in ihis Conlroci.

13. The Coniroctof is responsible for End User oversight ond compliance wiih the

ccrms and conditions of Ihc contract and Exhibil K-

DHHS rcscfvfj the right to"conduct onsite inspections to mohiior compliance with this
Contract, including the privacy and security rcquiremcnis pipvidcd in herein. MIPAA,
and other applicable laivs and rcdcral regulations until such time the Conridcniial Daii
is disposed of in accordance with this Contract.

V. LOSSREPORTINC

•The Contractor must immediately notify the. Stale's Privacy OfFiccr, Infonnatioh
Security Ofnceand Program Managcrof any Security Incidents and-Orcochcs as .
speciftcd in Section IV, paragraph 1 1 above. ~-

The Contmctor must funher hondit and report Incidents and Breaches involving PHI in
accordxnce with DHHS's documented Incident Handling nod Breach Notiricaiion
procedures and in accordoncc with- the HIPAA, Privacy and Security Rules. In addition •
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10. ond notwtihsundiiig, Coniracior'sconiplience widt oil opplicoble obligations end
procedures, Conlrsc.ior's procedures must also address how (he Coiiimctor will:

1. Ideiiiir)'Incidents;

2. Dclcnnine if personally idcniinable mromiDiion is involved in Incidents;

3. Report suspected or confirnKd^Incidents as required in (his ENhibil or P«37;

4. Identify ond convene a core response group to deicrmine the risk level of Incidents
' ond determine risk-based responses to litcidenis; nnd

5s' Determine whether Breach notincaiioo is required, ond, if so, identify appropriate
Breach noiincaiion inCihods, timing, soiirce. and contents from among dtfTcreni
options, ond bear costs ossocinted with the Breach npriec as well as any mitigation
meosures.

Incidents and/or Breaches that implicetc PI must be addressed end reporied, as
dpplicabie, in ̂ ccordante with NM RSa 359-C:20.

VI. PERSONS TOCONTACT

•  A. DHHS contact for paiD Man.tgcmcht or Data Exchange issues:

OHHSlnfoni)alionSccuriiyOffrce@dhh$.nh.gov . '

B. OHHS contacts for Privocy issues:

DHHSPrivacyOlflccrQdhhs.nh.gov ^

C. OHHS contact" for Informalion Security issues:

OI*IH$lnronnntionSccurilyOfficc@dhh$.nh.gov

D. OHHS contact for Breath noiincntions:

DHHSlnrormfttionSecuriiyOITicc@dhlis.nh.gov

.  DHHSPrivftcv0fricer@dhhs.nli.GOv

E. OHHS Program Area Conttict: . .

ChrisriftC.Bcnn@dhhs.hh.g6v
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